
 

 
 

 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
Date Friday 5 February 2021 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held remotely 
via Microsoft Teams 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement. 
 
 
1. Apologies   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2020  (Pages 3 - 14) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. Integrated Care Systems Update - Report of the Interim 
Corporate Director of Resources, Durham County Council  
(Pages 15 - 74) 

7. Local Outbreak Management Plan Update - Report of and 
presentation by the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 75 - 140) 

8. Overview and Scrutiny Review of Suicide Rates and Mental 
Health and Wellbeing in County Durham - Update report on 
progress against recommendations - Report of the Director of 
Public Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 141 - 162) 



9. NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group - 
Development of a Primary Care Strategy for County Durham- 
Report and presentation by Joseph Chandy, Director of 
Commissioning and Delivery(Primary Care), NHS County 
Durham Clinical Commissioning Group  (Pages 163 - 244) 

10. Quarter 2 2020/21 Performance Management Report - Report of 
the Interim Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 245 - 260) 

11. Adult and Health Services - Quarter Two Forecast of Revenue 
and Capital Outturn 2020/21   - Report of the Interim Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 261 - 280) 

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 

  County Hall 
  Durham 
  28 January 2021 

 
 
To: The Members of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillor J Robinson (Chair) 
Councillor J Chaplow (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors A Batey, R Bell, L Brown, P Crathorne, R Crute, T Henderson, 
E Huntington, P Jopling, C Kay, K Liddell, S Quinn, A Reed, A Savory, 
M Simmons, H Smith, J Stephenson, O Temple, T Tucker and C Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members: G Ciesielska and Mrs R Hassoon 
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers: Healthwatch County Durham 
 
 

Contact:  Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704 

 
 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

At a meeting of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held remotely via Microsoft Teams on Monday 9 November 
2020 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present 
 

Councillor J Robinson (Chair) 
 
Members of the Committee 
Councillors J Chaplow, A Batey, R Bell, L Brown, P Crathorne, R Crute, 
T Henderson, E Huntington, K Liddell, S Quinn, A Savory, M Simmons, 
H Smith, J Stephenson, O Temple, T Tucker and C Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members 
Mrs R Hassoon 
 
Other Members  
Councillor L Hovvels  
 
1 Apologies  
 
Apologies were received from Councillors P Jopling and A Reed.  
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
No substitute members were in attendance. 
 

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 2 October 2020  
 
With amendments to two typographical errors in the first sentence of the eighth 
paragraph of minute number 8, to replace the word ‘swaying’ with ‘saying’, and to 
insert the word ‘to’ before ‘present themselves’, the minutes of the meeting held on 
2 October 2020 were confirmed as a correct record and would be signed by the 
Chair. 
 
The following matters arising were reported. 
 
Minute No. 6 – The Chair welcomed Rachel Rooney, Commissioning and 
Development Manager, NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, to 
provide the Committee with an update on the Shotley Bridge Hospital programme.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Commissioning and Development Manager informed the Committee that, 
during late October, information was received from the Department of Health and 
Social Care which indicated that Shotley Bridge Hospital would be one of forty 
hospitals to receive capital funding and liaison was taking place with NHS England 
to ensure the appropriate processes are utilised to take this forward.   
 
As a result, an engagement exercise is to take place in the forthcoming months, 
with a view to consultation taking place in summer 2021, and, final completion of 
the project by 2024.  
 
The Chair thanked the Commissioning and Development Manager for attending 
the meeting to provide the update and he took the opportunity to thank health 
colleagues and all those involved in the project, including reference group 
members and local members, for their valuable contribution and cross-party 
support. 
 

Minute No. 7 – Councillor Bell referred to his comment regarding the difficulty in 
finding granular level data on the Durham Insight website. He reported that, 
subsequent to the meeting, with assistance from the Principal Overview and 
Scrutiny Officer, he had located the data, however, he expressed concern that the 
process is not straightforward.  Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, informed 
the Committee that, following feedback, the data dashboard is now more prominent 
on the Durham Insight website, and, Member Development training sessions have 
been arranged to provide further information on how to use the dashboard.  
Members will be advised of the dates of the training sessions as soon as possible.  
In addition, bi-weekly newsletters are circulated members, to provide up-to-date 
information.   
 

Minute No. 7 - Councillor Temple echoed the Chair’s comments on the continuing 
progress being made on the Shotley Bridge Hospital programme and how pleasing 
it is to see political groups working together to achieve a common goal.  He 
referred to the question he asked regarding visiting to care homes during the 
pandemic and to new government guidance in relation to visits to care homes and 
hospitals.  The Corporate Director for Adult and Health Services responded that 
the guidance had been published within previous days and a briefing note on the 
guidance was being developed for circulation to members as soon as possible.  
 
Referring to hospital visits, Sue Jacques, Chief Executive of County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust informed the Committee that the second wave of 
COVID-19 is seeing an increase in the number of people admitted to hospital, and, 
visiting had been restricted to only those approaching the end of life.  However, 
specific circumstances were being considered, on an individual basis and the 
situation is under continuous review. 
 
Speaking on behalf of Durham and Darlington TEWV NHS Foundation Trust, 
Jennifer Illingworth, Director of Operations, informed the Committee that during the 

Page 4



first wave of COVID-19, visiting was ceased, however, this was found to have a 
detrimental impact on the health and wellbeing of service users.   
 
She explained the current situation is that visiting is allowed, where it is safe to do 
so, on a risk assessed basis, with a comprehensive risk assessment being carried 
out on service users and visitors.  Visits are encouraged to take place outdoors 
where possible, a booking system has been implemented, and, large volumes of 
visitors are not permitted.    
 
Minute No. 9 – The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer confirmed the 
Overview and Scrutiny Review report into GP Services in County Durham will be 
considered at the Cabinet meeting to be held on Wednesday 18 November 2020. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest, if any  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5 Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 
No items from co-opted members or interested parties were reported.  
 

6 Adult Social Care Overview  
 
The Committee received a report and presentation from Jane Robinson, Corporate 
Director of Adult and Health Services and Lee Alexander, Head of Adult Services, 
on activity of the Adult Social Care Service in County Durham and the frameworks 
within which it operates (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).   
 
Presenting the report, the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services referred 
to the request made by members at the July meeting, for further information with 
regard to adult social care and she introduced the Head of Adult Services to deliver 
the presentation.   
 
During the presentation, the Head of Adult Services highlighted information, 
presented in greater detail in the report, including the governance and legislative 
frameworks, the strong integrated partnership arrangements that exist, the 
structure of the service, and, the wide range of services and support provided.  He 
also outlined some case studies to illustrate day-to-day work of the service. 
 
The Head of Adult Services referred to the rise in demand for services over recent 
years with an increase in those presenting with complex needs.  The time had also 
been one of transformation and service development, with the constant challenge 
of keeping pace with new technology and innovation.  He explained one of the key 
challenges for the future includes mental health, with a national increase in suicide 
rates, loneliness and social isolation, with these particular issues being more 
prevalent amongst adults with social care needs. More recently, during the 

Page 5



pandemic, there has been a further demand on mental health services with an 
increase in the number of new patients presenting with mental health needs.   
 
The Chair thanked the officers for the comprehensive report and presentation.   
The officers responded to questions and comments from the Committee as follows.  
 
Councillor Tucker referred to those adults with complex needs and asked how 
quickly community health care assessments are being carried out, whether there is 
a back-log of assessments, and, how funding is provided, prior to assessments 
being carried out.  The Head of Adult Services explained, that as a result of the 
pandemic, hospital patients were being screened for community health care needs 
on discharge from hospital and would receive services which were fully funded 
through the NHS via the Clinical Commissioning Group. There is a back-log of 
cases which are being worked through, and, whilst this is taking place, those 
people will continue to receive funding through the NHS.  From a social care 
perspective, the work has continued effectively throughout the pandemic with some 
work being undertaken remotely, however risk processes are in place, and, where 
face to face assessments are appropriate, this has continued, using personal 
protective equipment.   Sarah Burns, Head of Integrated Commissioning, County 
Durham Integrated Community Care Partnership, added that integrated working 
enables a people-first approach to funding.  As many community health care staff 
had been redeployed to work in frontline clinical roles during the first wave of the 
pandemic, additional staff had been recruited to reduce the backlog, and, COVID-
19 had led to various new ways of working being employed which had benefited 
patients and colleagues.   
 
Councillor Bell referred to the 955 adult social care staff mentioned in paragraph 19 
of the report and asked for a breakdown of the spread of the staff.  The Head of 
Adult Services explained the two main areas of work. The first being frontline staff, 
for example social workers and occupational therapists, with locality teams 
including older persons, learning disabilities, mental health and hospital discharge, 
with each team having approximately 25 to 30 members of staff.  Secondly, in-
house provider staff provide direct care and support in areas such as extra care, 
day services and respite.  Alongside this, administrative support staff carry out 
functions such as performance monitoring.  
 
Councillor Bell welcomed the report and complimented officers for the 
comprehensive overview, he added, however, that he was of the opinion that the 
report had neglected to cover the point raised at the July meeting which was to 
investigate the social care system in the context of COVID-19, and, in particular, 
how discharges into care homes and the community will differ during the second 
wave of the pandemic.   
 
The Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services referred to the pace of change 
with regard to government guidance which reflects national learning, and, to which 
the service has continued to react and respond.   

Page 6



 
Councillor Brown referred to the case study on the adult with learning disabilities, 
and, speaking from her own experience in this field, she said she had frequently 
observed similar scenarios.  She commented on much of the work being reactive 
and asked what proactive work is undertaken.  The Head of Adult Services 
explained that much of the work done on a daily basis is proactive, with the service 
response being informed through developing relationships with service users and 
their families, balancing risks, to maximise the independence of service users, 
whilst protecting and respecting the impact on families.  He added that he would be 
more than happy to discuss the matter further with Councillor Brown.  
 
Councillor Temple commended the officers for the very wide-ranging and useful 
report which was brought to life by the case studies.  He echoed Councillor Bell’s 
comments adding he too was disappointed that the report had failed to address his 
request made at the meeting of the Committee in July, for a COVID-19 related 
report which was specific and dedicated to the approach as to how social care had 
fared during the first six months of the year.  He pointed out that in Scotland, a 
report had been produced on behalf of the Scottish Parliament in relation to 
hospital discharges and deaths from COVID-19 which included conclusions and 
recommendations based on statistics. He explained, the report discovered that 
hospital discharge is associated with an increased risk of an outbreak, when 
considered on its own, but, the estimated risk of outbreak was reduced and not 
statistically significant after accounting for care home size.  Furthermore, the report 
highlighted the importance of care home size in the number of deaths that had 
occurred.  He pointed out that the report looks at facts and statistics in order to 
learn lessons and he suggested that a similar approach should be used by the 
Committee.  
 
The Chair and the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services responded that 
they were not familiar with the report to which Councillor Temple referred and they 
respectfully requested Councillor Temple forward, to them, a copy of the report, to 
which Councillor Temple agreed.  The Chair commented that he could not recall a 
specific request from the Committee for an inquiry and stated his view that the 
issue of deaths from COVID-19 in care homes and hospitals is a national issue 
and, as such, should be looked at on a national basis, and, when complete, that 
would be the appropriate time for the Committee to investigate the issues from a 
local perspective.  He added the priority at this point in time should be to support 
professionals to undertake their duties in order to deal with the second wave of the 
pandemic.   
 
Councillor Crute, Chair of the Overview of Scrutiny Management Board added that 
he was not familiar with the Scottish report, however, he agreed with the Chair’s 
comments with regard to a call for a national report and he added he was aware 
that other that local authorities had also called for a national review to be 
undertaken, at the appropriate time, and, he would support this course of action. 
 

Page 7



Councillor Bell asked for an update on the current situation in terms of discharges 
from hospitals to care homes.  Providing a response, Sarah Burns, Head of 
Integrated Commissioning, referred to the government guidance received in 
September which outlined designated settings, which are units within care homes 
that must meet stringent physical requirements.  Patients who are fit to be 
discharged from hospital to a care home, must be discharged into these dedicated 
settings. Work has been done with care home providers to identify homes suitable 
to meet the physical and staffing requirements to become designated settings. The 
CQC must carry out an inspection to ensure the requirements are met and there is 
also a robust local assurance process, and, partnership working with the Council, 
the CCG, and providers, to ensure a safe service is delivered.  
 
Michael Laing, Director of Integrated Community Services, County Durham 
Integrated Community Care Partnership, informed the Committee that new 
government guidance in respect of hospital discharges was received in July which 
set 6 weeks’ care for those being discharged from hospital which were not charged 
for.  The guidance included that no discharges should be delayed whilst waiting for 
an assessment and staff had been trained to carry out trusted assessments.  A 
working group was formed with partners from health and social care and the CCG 
to make process improvements which are built upon the existing clinical discharge 
processes.  The new guidance stretched targets for discharging patients from 
acute hospital settings within hours of being assessed as suitable for discharge, 
with an emphasis on discharge to safe, appropriate settings, including community 
hospitals. Longer term, the guidance requires the identification of single 
coordinators for the discharge process, to improve the transfer of patients between 
organisations to a safe setting as quickly as possible.  
 
Councillor Temple thanked colleagues for the information which addressed his 
request for information as to what is being done now, he added that it is his view 
that, whilst he agrees there should be a national review, there remains a need for 
action locally, and, to look at regional anomalies.  The Corporate Director of Adult 
and Health Services acknowledged Councillor Temple had corresponded with her 
on this matter and she undertook to provide the information requested, to 
Councillor Temple, and, also to provide a copy of the information to the Chair.  
 
The Chair thanked members of the Committee for the good-natured discussion.  
He thanked the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and the Head of 
Adult Services and extended the best wishes of the Committee to all staff.  The 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services commented that she hoped the 
report provided the Committee with a greater overview of the work of the service 
and assured the Committee that the service continues to learn from local and 
national experiences, to do the best it can to safeguard local communities.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 

Page 8



 

7 Winter Planning  
 
The Committee received a report and presentation of Sue Jacques, Chief 
Executive of County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and Chair of 
the Local Accident and Emergency Delivery Board which provided an update on 
the System Winter Plan for 2020/21 (for copy of report and presentation see file of 
minutes). 
 
The Chief Executive explained this year’s winter plan differs from that of previous 
years as it includes additional plans to protect the system from the impact of 
COVID-19.  The Committee noted that Durham and Darlington Local Resilience 
Forum is an integral part of winter/COVID-19 tracking and forecasting with plans 
being updated in accordance with advice based on research. The Chief Executive 
delivered a presentation which highlighted the key objectives and provided a 
summary of the plans to manage and mitigate anticipated system pressure.  With 
plans taking into consideration that winter pressures are likely to be greater this 
year, the Chief Executive outlined the main implications of the higher level of risk 
caused by COVID-19 and explained that whilst the most optimal plan has been 
developed, at present, it is unknown how COVID-19 will impact demand. 
Processes are in place across partner organisations to review the position 
throughout the winter and to address any exceptional circumstances as and when 
they may arise.   
 
Councillor Tucker referred to the flu vaccination programme and asked for 
information on how well this had been received across the county, and, in 
particular, whether the restrictions on movement during the pandemic had 
negatively impacted the uptake.  The Chief Executive responded that early 
indicators show uptake is higher this year than during the same period last year, 
and, in terms of staff, the area has the second highest uptake across the north-east 
and north Cumbria.  She added that GPs had acted early to purchase the vaccine 
and had purchased greater quantities.  The Chief Executive commented that she 
would be happy to circulate the most up-to-date information on this matter to the 
Committee, following the meeting. 
 
The Director of Public Health added that steps have been taken to develop 
innovative ways of working to maximise the reach to members of the public to 
access the vaccine safely during the pandemic, and, it is hoped that the measures 
in place to stop the spread of COVID-19 including increased hand-washing and the 
use of face coverings will also contribute to the prevention of the spread of flu.  She 
added that GPs and pharmacies have sufficient supplies of the vaccine to provide 
for all social care staff, including domiciliary carers. 
 
Councillor Temple congratulated those involved in the vaccination programme in 
his ward, commenting on how well organised and efficient the clinics had been.   
 

Page 9



Rosemary Hassoon and the Chair commented on how impressed they had been 
with the excellent service provided at Darlington Accident and Emergency 
department during recent visits.  The Chief Executive explained that Durham and 
Darlington hospitals had been quickly mobilised to increase their footprints during 
the first wave of COVID-19 and this had proved to have a positive impact. 
 
On behalf of the Committee, the Chair thanked all staff for their hard work and sent 
best wishes to staff and patients of the Trust.  
 
Resolved: 
 

a) to receive the plan for assurance that a System Winter Plan has been put in 
place to protect services over the winter period and that there is robust daily 
oversight; 

b) to note the increased levels of risk in relation to the winter period, given the 
combination of winter pressures and COVID-19; 

c) to note that work is still ongoing to agree mutual aid responses across the 
North East and Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS), and LADB partners 
continue to rapidly respond to new guidance being released. 

 

8 Health Impact Assessment for Health Inequalities during the 
 COVID-19 Pandemic  
 
Prior to presenting the report, Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health provided a 
brief update on the wider COVID-19 work which had taken place  since the 
October meeting of the Committee.  Members noted that during October, County 
Durham was subject to local restrictions and weekly dialogue with government 
officers had taken place, whilst the rates of infection were increasing.  There had 
been a large student outbreak with the return of students to the city, however, 
close work with the University and students had resulted in the situation now being 
under control.   
 
Weekly meetings were being held with the Chief and Deputy Chief Medical Officers 
and the rates of infection in the neighbouring LA7 areas were starting to plateau. 
On 5 November, national restrictions were imposed in England, which, although 
very challenging, are hoped to reduce the rate of infection.  Work is ongoing with 
colleagues in the LA7 to agree key areas of focus, reflected in the local outbreak 
plan.  These include the aim to localise test and trace, to move towards plans for a 
COVID-19 vaccination programme, and, a major programme of community 
engagement to maintain the momentum at a community level and combat any 
‘pandemic-fatigue’.  Current rates were reported as 322 per 100,000 with a seven-
day average of 1,666 cases in County Durham as reported on the data dashboard.  
Over the past month, there had been a small number of cases within schools which 
had been well managed, as well as some in workplaces, however, it is hoped the 
national restrictions will reduce incidents in workplaces.  There had been a slight 
increase in the number of cases in the 35-64 age group and the 65 plus age group 

Page 10



continues to be the group seeing the most admissions to hospital.  Every 
opportunity is being taken to ensure the county is in a good position when the 
national restrictions end on 2 December.  Members noted a detailed update will be 
provided at the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and, the dates of 
the Member Development sessions on the data dashboard will be confirmed in 
members’ diaries as soon as possible.    
 
Councillor Brown expressed concern that there was some confusion regarding 
whether clinically extremely vulnerable members of the public were required to 
shield from midnight on 4 November.  The Director of Public Health responded that 
letters are being sent out to all clinically extremely vulnerable people to provide 
information with regard to the new national restrictions which stop short of the 
requirement to shield.    
 

Introducing the Health Impact Assessment, the Director of Public Health spoke of 
the importance of this work which investigates the impact of health inequalities 
during COVID-19.  The Committee then welcomed Jane Sunter, Public Health 
Strategic Manager who delivered a report and presentation on the findings and 
recommendations of the Health Impact Assessment (HIA) (for copy of report and 
presentation see file of minutes).   
 
The Strategic Manager explained that evidence suggests it is likely that the 
COVID-19 lockdown restrictions have increased inequalities in the most deprived 
communities.  In response, the County Durham and Darlington Health, Welfare and 
Recoveries Group initiated a rapid Health Impact Assessment to examine the 
impact of COVID-19 on lockdown on inequalities with the findings being used to 
inform the recovery response to COVID-19.  
 
In delivering the presentation, the Strategic Manager provided information on the 
local impact of COVID-19 and the key, and other, priorities identified from the rapid 
Health Impact Assessment.  She explained that part of the process looked at 
highlighting datasets for each Area Action Partnership to enable them to focus on 
their key priority areas to inform a community response.  Recommendations 
include that the findings are shared with regional partners to work to reduce health 
inequalities across the north east, and the next steps include monitoring of the 
partnership implementation of the four key priority areas identified.  
 
The Chair thanked the Strategic Manager for the detailed report and presentation 
and, with reference to the dissemination of data packs to Area Action Partnerships, 
he asked if this had taken place.  The Strategic Manager responded that the data 
packs had been sent to Area Action Partnerships     and training sessions had 
been carried out with co-ordinators.  In addition, the data packs are available on 
Durham Insight.  In response to a request from the Chair and Councillor Bell, the 
Strategic Manager agreed to send the data packs to members.  
 

Page 11



Councillor Bell commented on the health benefits of exercise and to reports on how 
well organised leisure centres had been during the re-opening, prior to the new 
national restrictions.   He asked what measures are being put in place to ensure 
they may re-open as soon as possible, when the current restrictions are lifted.  
Acknowledging the health benefits of exercise, the Director of Public Health 
responded the plan is to open leisure centres as soon as possible when national 
restrictions are lifted on 2nd December.  She added that the leisure and community 
sectors have been exemplars during the pandemic with colleagues in Culture, 
Sport and Tourism providing a range of well-received outreach work during the first 
wave of the pandemic.   
 
Resolved: 
 

a) to endorse the actions identified in the HIA to mitigate negative impacts and 
enhance positive impacts of the COVID-19 recovery response using a 
system wide approach;  

b) to promote the key priorities identified in the HIA with all partners to enable 
their integration into all strategies and polices as a contribution to reducing 
inequalities;  

c) to prioritise and promote the recommendations made in the HIA;  
d) to monitor data in priority areas to measure impact of future actions 

undertaken at a local level;  
e) to work with partners to build on learning and support preparations for any 

second wave or local outbreak situations.   
 

9 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust Updates  
 
The Committee received a report presented by Jennifer Illingworth, Director of 
Operations, Durham and Darlington TEWV NHS Foundation Trust which provided 
an overview of the Trust’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic.   
 
The report also included an update on the CQC action plan developed in response 
to the Trust CQC Inspection undertaken from September to November 2019 
(published in March 2020) (for copy see file of minutes).   
 
Referring to the response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Director of Operations 
confirmed the Trust has seen an increase of patients admitted into mental health 
beds who had not previously been community service users.  Investigation work is 
being undertaken as a result of this, with case studies being developed in order to 
gain a better understanding.  A mental health support telephone line has been 
opened up for those with lower level mental health needs to alleviate the pressure 
on the Crisis service.  Future demand planning work is being carried out in order to 
predict mental health needs in the forthcoming years which includes the needs of 
those who have been affected, whether directly or indirectly, by COVID-19.  A 
particular focus for support throughout the pandemic has been care homes 
including those for people with mental health and learning disabilities, to provide 

Page 12



targeted support to those individuals who have required it, and, to provide 
additional psychological support to staff during this challenging time.  
 
Councillor Temple referred to the term, ‘moral injury’, which is described in the 
report as ‘frontline and essential workers may have come across difficult situations 
in the pandemic and be troubled by their own, or others’ actions that they feel go 
against good practice’, and he asked if an example could be provided to illustrate 
this. The Head of Adult Services explained that adult services staff are trained to 
support those suffering from trauma and assist people in crisis.  As a 
consequence, they themselves develop coping mechanisms, however, COVID-19 
had led to a different dynamic, with staff being more likely to be professionally 
compromised.  For example, prior to COVID-19, it would have been in the best 
interests for a client who lacked capacity to have a face-to-face consultation, 
together with their family in attendance, for support.  During the pandemic, it has 
been necessary to conduct this work remotely, leading to clients and their families 
having a different experience.  This may cause a sense of burden on the 
professional who could feel frustrated that they are not able to perform their duties 
in the way they would like.  Councillor Temple thanked officers for the useful, 
personal perspective.   
 
Councillor Crathorne spoke of the invaluable support provided through the 
voluntary sector during the pandemic. The Director of Operations agreed and 
added that moving towards increased joint working with the community and 
voluntary sector had been a very positive aspect of the pandemic.   
 
The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer explained the background for the 
Committee’s request for information on the CQC inspection results was, at the time 
the request was made, there had been media coverage relating to issues such as 
the Crisis Service and the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service, which had 
prompted CQC inspections.   
 
The Director of Operations explained that the overall rating had reduced from 
‘good’ to ‘requires improvement’ and the two domains requiring improvement were 
identified as safety and responsive. The safety domain includes environments and 
buildings, and, at the time of the inspection, older estate buildings were located in 
North Yorkshire and York, however, a new hospital had now opened in York which 
had alleviated some of the CQC’s concerns.  An Action Plan was being developed 
in response to the CQC Inspection.  
 
The Director of Operations agreed to bring a further report to a future meeting of 
the Committee, with a specific focus on actions for the Durham area. 
 
The Chair thanked the Operations Manager for the update.  
 
 
 

Page 13



Resolved: 
 

a) that the CQC Inspection results and Improvement Plans be noted; 

b) that the TEWV COVID 19 Pandemic Update be noted. 

 

Page 14



 

             

        
 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

 5 February 2021 

 Integrated Care Systems Update  

 

Report of Paul Darby, Interim Corporate Director of Resources  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide members with an update in respect of the recently 
published NHS England and NHS Improvement paper “Integrating 
care – Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care 
systems across England” and associated calls for views on the options 
contained within the paper. 

2 The report sets out the key issues within the consultation report and  
also sets out a response to the report prepared on behalf of the 
Committee and signed off by the Chair of the Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWHOSC). 

3 The report also invites the Committee to agree to the inclusion of a 
further report back to members as part of its 2021/22 work 
programme.  

Executive summary 

4 The AWHOSC has previously received reports on the establishment of 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans to deliver a new approach in 
helping ensure that health and care systems are built around the 
needs of local populations.  The North East was covered by two 
separate STPs. The Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North 
Durham STP and the Durham, Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby STP. 

5 The two draft STPs were published in November 2016. 

6 On 19 June 2019, the North East and North Cumbria was confirmed 
by NHS England as one of a number of Integrated Care Systems (ICS) 
across the Country. The ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners 
and providers, and our partners, and not a new organisation with 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



statutory powers.  The majority of its work is focused in places and 
neighbourhoods but, alongside this, the ICS provides a mechanism to 
build consensus on issues that need to be tackled at scale. 

7 The new ICS and associated Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) 
have replaced the previously agreed Sustainability and Care 
Partnerships with a new operating model based around 1 ICS and 4 
ICPs.  

8 In November 2020, NHS England and NHS Improvement published a 
paper entitled “Integrating care - next steps to building strong and 
effective integrated care systems across England.” The paper set out 
proposals for legislative reform and opened up a discussion with the 
NHS and its partners about how ICSs could be embedded in 
legislation or guidance.  

9 Building on the NHS's long term plan, the report sets out a renewed 
ambition for how greater collaboration between partners in health and 
care systems can be supported in order to help accelerate progress in 
meeting the most critical health and care challenges.  

10 It details how systems and their constituent organisations would 
accelerate collaborative ways of working in the future. From April 2021 
this would require all parts of the health and care system to work 
together as integrated care systems involving :- 

 Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local 
government and others with a more central role for primary care in 
providing joined-up care; 

 Provider organisations being asked to step forward in formal 
collaborative arrangements that allow them to operate at scale; and 

 Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus on 
population health outcomes; 

 The use of digital and data to drive system working, connect health 
and care providers, improve outcomes and put the citizen at the heart 
of their own care. 

11 The document also described options for giving ICSs a firmer footing 
in legislation which was likely to take effect from April 2022. These 
proposals sit alongside other recommendations aimed at reducing 
legislative barriers to integration across health bodies and with social 
care, to help deliver better care and outcomes for patients through 
collaboration and to join up national leadership more formally. 

12 A copy of the report is included within this report at appendix 2.  

Page 16



13 NHS England and NHS Improvement invited views on the proposals 
by Friday 8 January 2021. 

14 In view of the extremely short timeframe within which to formulate a 
response to the document on behalf of the committee, the Head of 
Strategy, Resources in conjunction with the Chair of the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed a 
response for submission to NHS England and NHS improvement by 
the aforementioned deadline. 

15 Key issues identified as part of the response to the consultation paper 
include:- 

 The establishment of the North East and North Cumbria ICS has been 
subject to considerable scrutiny at a regional, subregional and local 
level; 

 the need for an integrated health and social care system built upon a 
partnership of equals involving the NHS, local government and other 
key partners is supported; 

 The formal establishment of the ICS and associated governance 
arrangements must include provision for health scrutiny which does 
not appear to be referenced within the consultation paper. Assurances 
were sought that robust health scrutiny arrangements would feature 
within any ICS governance arrangements established in statute;  

 the devolution of power and resource from the centre to regional 
based ICSs would be welcomed provided existing place based 
collaborative partnerships for health and wellbeing continue alongside 
existing health and wellbeing boards and statutory health OSCs; 

 The importance of NHS provider collaboratives is acknowledged and 
necessary to address NHS workforce pressures in the recruitment and 
retention of key medical staff across specialised services; 

 The reference to joint working with local authorities and the voluntary 
sector in respective place-based partnerships is welcomed and where 
partnership working between the N HS and local government is 
embedded and mature this should be supported with devolved 
resources and funding ; 

 County Durham has an excellent track record for health and social 
care integration and the ICS is urged to support existing arrangements 
within County Durham at the ICP level to include primary care 
networking; 

Page 17



 The reference to the establishment of clinical commissioning groups 
on the same footprint as ICSs is a departure  for plans for the North 
East and North Cumbria. There are concerns about a coterminous 
ICS/CCG and these need to be discussed and assurances sought that 
any future CCG model retains the required resources within County 
Durham;           

16 A copy of the response together with that from the North East and 
North Cumbria ICS lead office are attached at appendices 3 and 4.  

17 It was intended that representatives from the North East and North 
Cumbria ICS office would update members at today’s meeting but they 
were unable to attend. They have agreed to attend a future meeting of 
the committee to provide an update on the outcome of the consultation 
and what this may mean for the North East and North Cumbria ICS.    

Recommendation(s) 

18 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to: 

(a) Receive and note the contents of this report;  

(b) Endorse the response to the paper submitted on behalf of the 
Committee by the Interim Director of Corporate Resources and 
Chair of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

(c) Agree to include a further report on Integrated Care Systems to 
the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s Work Programme 2021/22 

  

Page 18



 

Background 

19 The AWHOSC has previously received reports on the establishment of 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans to deliver a new approach in 
helping ensure that health and care systems are built around the 
needs of local populations.  The North East was covered by two 
separate STPs. The Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North 
Durham STP and the Durham, Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby STP 

20 The two draft STPs were published in November 2016. 

21 On 19 June 2019, the North East and North Cumbria was confirmed 
by NHS England as one of a number of Integrated Care Systems (ICS) 
across the Country. The ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners 
and providers, and our partners, and not a new organisation with 
statutory powers.  The majority of its work is focused in places and 
neighbourhoods but, alongside this, the ICS provides a mechanism to 
build consensus on issues that need to be tackled at scale. 

22 The new ICS and associated Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) 
have replaced the previously agreed Sustainability and Care 
Partnerships with a new operating model based around 1 ICS and 4 
ICPs as detailed below:- 

Page 19



 

23 In November 2020, NHS England and NHS Improvement Published a 
paper entitled “Integrating care - next steps to building strong and 
effective integrated care systems across England.” The paper set out 
proposals for legislative reform and opened up a discussion with the 
NHS and its partners about how ICSs could be embedded in 
legislation or guidance.  

24 Building on the NHS's long term plan, the report sets out a renewed 
ambition for how greater collaboration between partners in health and 
care systems can be supported in order to help accelerate progress in 
meeting the most critical health and care challenges.  

25 It detailed how systems and their constituent organisations would 
accelerate collaborative ways of working in the future. from April 2021 
this would require all parts of the health and care system to work 
together as integrated care systems involving :- 

 Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local 
government and others with a more central role for primary care in 
providing joined-up care; 

 Provider organisations being asked to step forward in formal 
collaborative arrangements that allow them to operate at scale; and 

Page 20



 Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus on 
population health outcomes; 

 The use of digital and data to drive system working, connect health 
and care providers, improve outcomes and put the citizen at the heart 
of their own care 

26 The document also described options for giving ICSs a firmer footing 
in legislation which was likely to take effect from April 2022. These 
proposals sit alongside other recommendations aimed at reducing 
legislative barriers to integration across health bodies and with social 
care, to help deliver better care and outcomes for patients through 
collaboration and to join up national leadership more formally. 

27 A copy of the report is included within this report at appendix 2.  

28 NHS England and NHS Improvement invited views on the proposals 
by Friday 8 January 2021. 

29 In view of the extremely short timeframe within which to formulate a 
response to the document on behalf of the committee, the Head of 
Strategy, Resources in conjunction with the Chair of the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed a 
response for submission to NHS England and NHS improvement by 
the aforementioned deadline. 

30 Key issues identified as part of the response to the consultation paper 
include:- 

 The establishment of the North East and North Cumbria ICS has being 
subject to considerable scrutiny at a regional, subregional and local 
level; 

 the need for an integrated health and social care system built upon a 
partnership of equals involving the NHS, local government and other 
key partners is supported; 

 The formal establishment of the ICS and associated governance 
arrangements must include provision for health scrutiny which does 
not appear to be referenced within the consultation paper. Assurances 
were sought that robust health scrutiny arrangements would feature 
within any ICS governance arrangements established in statute;  

 the devolution of power and resource from the centre to regional 
based ICSs would be welcomed provided existing place based 
collaborative partnerships for health and wellbeing continue alongside 
existing health and wellbeing boards and statutory health OSCs; 

Page 21



 The importance of NHS provider collaboratives is acknowledged and 
necessary to address NHS workforce pressures in the recruitment and 
retention of key medical staff across specialised services; 

 The reference to joint working with local authorities and the voluntary 
sector in respective place-based partnerships is welcomed and where 
partnership working between the NHS and local government is 
embedded and mature this should be supported with devolved 
resources and funding; 

 County Durham has an excellent track record for health and social 
care integration and the ICS is urged to support existing arrangements 
within County Durham at the ICP level to include primary care 
networking; 

 The reference to the establishment of clinical commissioning groups 
on the same footprint as ICSs is a departure  for plans for the North 
East and North Cumbria. There are concerns about a coterminous 
ICS/CCG and these need to be discussed and assurances sought that 
any future CCG model retains the required resources within County 
Durham.          

31 A copy of the response together with that from the North East and 
North Cumbria ICS lead office is attached at appendices 3 and 4.  

Background papers 

 None. 

 

Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel:  03000 268140 

   

 

  

Page 22



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

None 

Consultation 

This report sets out the NHS England and NHS Improvement proposals for 
the future of Integrated Care Systems in England and also a response to the 
consultation on behalf of the Committee. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Climate Change 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Integrating care  
Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care systems  
across England 

Page 25



 

1  |  Contents 
 

Contents  

Introduction .................................................................................... 2 

Purpose  ........................................................................................ 4 

Putting this into practice  ................................................................ 9 

Legislative proposals  .................................................................. 27 

Implications and next steps  ......................................................... 33 

 
 

Page 26



 

2  |  Introduction 
 

Introduction 

This document builds on previous publications that set out proposals for legislative 
reform and is primarily focused on the operational direction of travel. It opens up a 
discussion with the NHS and its partners about how ICSs could be embedded in 
legislation or guidance. Decisions on legislation will of course then be for 
Government and Parliament to make.  
 
This builds on the route map set out in the NHS Long Term Plan, for health and 
care joined up locally around people’s needs. It signals a renewed ambition for how 
we can support greater collaboration between partners in health and care 
systems to help accelerate progress in meeting our most critical health and care 
challenges.  
 
It details how systems and their constituent organisations will accelerate 
collaborative ways of working in future, considering the key components of an 
effective integrated care system (ICS) and reflecting what a range of local leaders 
have told us about their experiences during the past two years, including the 
immediate and long-term challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

These are significant new steps towards the ambition set out in the NHS Long Term 
Plan, building on the experience of the earliest ICSs and other areas. Our challenge 
now is to spread their experience to every part of England. From April 2021 this will 
require all parts of our health and care system to work together as Integrated Care 
Systems, involving: 

• Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local 
government and others with a more central role for primary care in 
providing joined-up care;  

• Provider organisations being asked to step forward in formal 
collaborative arrangements that allow them to operate at scale; and  

• Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus 
on population health outcomes; 

• The use of digital and data to drive system working, connect health 
and care providers, improve outcomes and put the citizen at the heart 
of their own care.  

 

This document also describes options for giving ICSs a firmer footing in legislation 
likely to take affect from April 2022 (subject to Parliamentary decision). These 
proposals sit alongside other recommendations aimed at removing legislative 
barriers to integration across health bodies and with social care, to help deliver 
better care and outcomes for patients through collaboration, and to join up national 
leadership more formally. NHS England and NHS Improvement are inviting views 

Page 27



 

3  |  Introduction 
 

on these proposed options from all interested individuals and organisations by 
Friday 8 January. 

It builds on, and should be read alongside, the commitments and ambitions set out 
in the NHS Long Term Plan (2019), Breaking Down Barriers to Better Health and 
Care (2019) and Designing ICSs in England (2019), and our recommendations to 
Government and Parliament for legislative change (2019). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/breaking-down-barriers-to-better-health-and-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/breaking-down-barriers-to-better-health-and-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BM1917-NHS-recommendations-Government-Parliament-for-an-NHS-Bill.pdf


 

4  |  Purpose 
 

1. Purpose 
 

1.1. The NHS belongs to us all1 and any changes to it must bring clear 
improvements for our health and care. Since 2018, integrated care systems 
(ICSs) have begun doing just this, enabling NHS organisations, local 
councils, frontline professionals and others to join forces to plan and provide 
around residents’ needs as locally as possible.  
 

1.2. By doing this, they have driven a ‘bottom-up’ response to the big health and 
care challenges that we and other countries across the world face and have 
made a real difference to people’s lives. They have improved health, 
developed better and more seamless services and ensured public resources 
are used where they can have the greatest impact. 
 

1.3. These achievements have happened despite persistent complexity and 
fragmentation. This document describes how we will simplify support to local 
leaders in systems, making it easier for them to achieve their ambitions. Our 
proposals are designed to serve four fundamental purposes: 

• improving population health and healthcare;  

• tackling unequal outcomes and access; 

• enhancing productivity and value for money; and 

• helping the NHS to support broader social and economic 
development. 

 

1.4. The NHS Long Term Plan set out a widely supported route map to tackle our 

greatest health challenges, from improving cancer care to transforming 

mental health, from giving young people a healthy start in life to closing the 

gaps in health inequalities in communities, and enabling people to look after 

their own health and wellbeing.  

 
1.5. The COVID-19 pandemic has given the NHS and its partners their biggest 

challenge of the past 70 years, shining a light on the most successful 

approaches to protecting health and treating disease. Vulnerable people 

need support that is joined up across councils, NHS, care and voluntary 

organisations; all based on a common understanding of the risks different 

people face. Similarly, no hospital could rise to the challenge alone, and new 

pathways have rapidly developed across multiple providers that enable and 

protect capacity for urgent non-COVID care.  

 

1.6. This has all been backed up by mutual aid agreements, including with local 

councils, and shared learning to better understand effective response. It has 

 
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england


 

5  |  Purpose 
 

required openness in data sharing, commitment to collaboration in the 

interests of patients and communities, and agile collective decision-making. 

 

1.7. The significant challenges that face health and care as we recover from the 

pandemic make it even more important to have strong and thriving systems 

for the medium term. Important changes were driven by emergency 

response but must be hard-wired into our future working so that the gains of 

2020 can endure. DHSC’s ‘Busting Bureaucracy: Empowering frontline staff 

by reducing excess bureaucracy in the health and care system in England’ 

report, published on the 24th November 2020, describes in detail some of 

these important areas of change. The report found that there are many 

sources of excess bureaucracy and that these are often exacerbated by 

duplicative or disproportionate assurance systems and poorly integrated 

systems at a national, regional and local level. The report also acknowledges 

that the more levels of hierarchy in a system, the more likely it is that 

bureaucracy will exist and grow. ICS’ therefore have the potential to reduce 

bureaucracy through increased collaboration, leaner oversight through 

streamlined assurance structures and smarter data-sharing agreements.  

 
1.8. To deliver the core aims and purposes set out above, we will need to devolve 

more functions and resources from national and regional levels to local 

systems, to develop effective models for joined-up working at “place”, ensure 

we are taking advantage of the transformative potential of digital and data, 

and to embed a central role for providers collaborating across bigger 

footprints for better and more efficient outcomes. The aim is a progressively 

deepening relationship between the NHS and local authorities, including on 

health improvement and wellbeing.  

 

1.9. This reflects three important observations, building on the NHS Long Term 
Plan’s vision of health and care joined up locally around people’s needs: 

• decisions taken closer to the communities they affect are likely to 
lead to better outcomes; 

• collaboration between partners in a place across health, care 
services, public health, and voluntary sector can overcome competing 
objectives and separate funding flows to help address health 
inequalities, improve outcomes, and deliver joined-up, efficient 
services for people; and 

• collaboration between providers (ambulance, hospital and mental 
health) across larger geographic footprints is likely to be more 
effective than competition in sustaining high quality care, tackling 
unequal access to services, and enhancing productivity. 

 
1.10. This takes forward what leaders from a range of systems have told us about 

their experiences during the past two years. 

Page 30



 

6  |  Purpose 
 

Devolution of functions and resources 

 
1.11. Joining up delivery is not enough on its own. In many areas, 

we can shift national or regional resources and decision-

making so that these are closer to the people they serve. For example, it will 

make sense to plan, commission and organise certain specialised services at 

ICS level, and to devolve a greater share of primary care funding and 

improvement resource to this more local level. 

 

1.12. ICSs also need to be able to ensure collectively that they are addressing the 

right priorities for their residents and using their collective resources wisely. 

They will need to work together across partners to determine:  

• distribution of financial resources to places and sectors that is 
targeted at areas of greatest need and tackling inequalities;  

• improvement and transformation resource that can be used 
flexibly to address system priorities;  

• operational delivery arrangements that are based on collective 
accountability between partners;  

• workforce planning, commissioning and development to ensure 
that our people and teams are supported and able to lead fulfilling and 
balanced lives;  

• emergency planning and response to join up action at times of 
greatest need; and 

• the use of digital and data to drive system working and improved 
outcomes. 
 
 

“Place”: an important building block for health and care 
integration 
 
 
1.13. For most people their day-to-day care and support needs will be 

expressed and met locally in the place where they live. An important building 

block for the future health and care system is therefore at ‘place.’ 

 

1.14. For most areas, this will mean long-established local authority boundaries (at 

which joint strategic needs assessments and health and wellbeing strategies 

are made). But the right size may vary for different areas, for example 

reflecting where meaningful local communities exist and what makes sense 

to all partners. Within each place, services are joined up through primary 

care networks (PCNs) integrating care in neighbourhoods. 

 

1.15. Our ambition is to create an offer to the local population of each place, to 
ensure that in that place everyone is able to: 

Page 31



 

7  |  Purpose 
 

• access clear advice on staying well; 

• access a range of preventative services; 

• access simple, joined-up care and treatment when they need it; 

• access digital services (with non-digital alternatives) that put the 
citizen at the heart of their own care; 

• access proactive support to keep as well as possible, where they are 
vulnerable or at high risk; and to 

• expect the NHS, through its employment, training, procurement and 
volunteering activities, and as a major estate owner to play a full part 
in social and economic development and environmental 
sustainability. 

 
1.16. This offer will be met through providers of primary care, community health 

and mental health services, social care and support, community diagnostics 

and urgent and emergency care working together with meaningful delegated 

budgets to join up services. It will also allow important links to be made to 

other public or voluntary services that have a big impact on residents’ day-to-

day health, such as by improving local skills and employment or by ensuring 

high-quality housing. 

 

1.17. Delivery will be through NHS providers, local government, primary care and 
the voluntary sector working together in each place in ICSs, built around 
primary care networks (PCNs) in neighbourhoods. 

 

Developing provider collaboration at scale 
 
1.18. At some times, many people will have more complex or acute 

needs, requiring specialist expertise which can only be planned and 

organised effectively over a larger area than ‘place’. This may be because 

concentrating skills and resources in bigger sites improves quality or reduces 

waiting times; because it is harder to predict what smaller populations will 

need; or because  scale working can make better use of public resources.  

 

1.19. Because of this, some services such as hospital, specialist mental health and 

ambulance needs to be organised through provider collaboration that 

operates at a whole-ICS footprint – or more widely where required. 

 
1.20. We want to create an offer that all people served by an ICS are able to: 

• access a full range of high-quality acute hospital, mental health and 
ambulance services; and 

• experience fair access to these services, based on need and not 
factors such as geography, race or socio-economic background. 
 

Page 32



 

8  |  Purpose 
 

1.21. We also need to harness the involvement, ownership and innovation of 

clinicians, working together to design more integrated patient pathways 

horizontally across providers and vertically within local place-based 

partnerships. 

  

Page 33



 

9  |  Putting this into practice 
 

2. Putting this into practice 
 
 
2.1. There are many good examples of recent system working that have 

improved outcomes and productivity, and helped to address inequalities. But 

COVID has made the case for a step up in scope and ambition. NHS and 

local government are increasingly pressing for a more driven and 

comprehensive roll out of system working.  

 

2.2. So, in this section we set out a series of practical changes which will need to 

be in place by April 2022 at the latest, to make a consistent transition to 

system working focused on further devolution to systems, greater partnership 

working at place and closer collaboration between providers on a larger 

footprint. The main themes are: 

 

1. Provider collaboratives 

2. Place-based partnerships  

3. Clinical and professional leadership  

4. Governance and accountability  

5. Financial framework  

6. Data and digital  

7. Regulation and oversight 

8. How commissioning will change 

 
2.3. We will support preparatory work during 2021/22 with further guidance for 

systems and in the NHS Operational Planning Guidance for 2021/22. 
 

Provider collaboratives 
 
2.4. Provider organisations will play an active and strong leadership role in 

systems. Through their mandated representation in ICS leadership and 

decision-making, they will help to set system priorities and allocate 

resources. 

 

2.5. Providers will join up services across systems. Many of the challenges 

that systems face cannot be solved by any one organisation, or by any one 

provider. Joining up the provision of services will happen in two main ways: 

 

• within places (for example, between primary, community, local acute, 
and social care, or within and between primary care networks) 
through place-based partnerships as described above (‘vertical 
integration’); and  

Page 34



 

10  |  Putting this into practice 
 

• between places at scale where similar types of provider organisation 
share common goals such as reducing unwarranted variation, 
transforming services, providing mutual aid through a formal provider 
collaborative arrangement (‘horizontal integration’ – for example, 
through an alliance or a mental health provider collaborative). 

 

2.6. All NHS provider trusts will be expected to be part of a provider 

collaborative. These will vary in scale and scope, but all providers must be 

able to take on responsibility for acting in the interests of the population 

served by their respective system(s) by entering into one or more formal 

collaboratives to work with their partners on specific functions. 

 

2.7. This greater co-ordination between providers at scale can support: 

• higher quality and more sustainable services;  

• reduction of unwarranted variation in clinical practice and outcomes; 

• reduction of health inequalities, with fair and equal access across 
sites;  

• better workforce planning; and 

• more effective use of resources, including clinical support and 
corporate services.  
 

2.8. For provider organisations operating across a large footprint or for those 

working with smaller systems, they are likely to create provider 

collaboratives that span multiple systems to provide an effective scale to 

carry out their role.  

 

2.9. For ambulance trusts specifically we would expect collaboration and 

integration at the right scale to take place. This should operate at scale to 

plan resources and join up with specialist providers, and at a more local level 

in places where focused on the delivery and redesign with other partners of 

urgent and emergency care pathways. 

 

2.10. We want to spread and build on good work of this type already under way. 

The partnerships that support this collaboration (such as provider alliances) 

often take place on a different footprint to ICS boundaries. This should 

continue where clinically appropriate, with NHS England and NHS 

Improvement helping to ensure consistent and coherent approaches across 

systems, especially for smaller partnerships. 

 

2.11. Local flexibility will be important but providers in every system, through 

partnership or any new collaborative arrangements, must be able to: 

• deliver relevant programmes on behalf of all partners in the system; 

• agree proposals developed by clinical and operational networks, and 
implement resulting changes (such as implementing standard 

Page 35



 

11  |  Putting this into practice 
 

operating procedures to support agreed practice; designating services 
to ensure their sustainability; or wider service reconfiguration); 

• challenge and hold each other to account through agreed systems, 
processes and ways of working, e.g. an open-book approach to 
finances/planning; 

• enact mutual aid arrangements to enhance resilience, for example by 
collectively managing waiting lists across the system. 

 

2.12. In some systems, larger providers may also choose to use their scale to host 

functions on behalf of other system partners. 

 

2.13. NHS England and NHS Improvement will set out further guidance in early 

2021, describing a number of potential models for provider collaboratives, 

based on those that have been established in some parts of the country, 

including looser federations and more consolidated forms.  

 

2.14. We know that providers are already making progress towards effective, 

collaborative working arrangements despite the constraints of relevant 

legislation and frameworks. Indeed, many crucial features of strong system 

working – such as trust between partners, good leadership and effective 

ways of working – cannot be legislated for.  

 

But we recognise that these could be supported by changes to legislation, 

including the introduction of a ‘triple aim’ duty for all NHS providers to help 

align priorities, and the establishment of ICSs as statutory bodies with the 

capacity to support population-based decision-making and to direct 

resources to improve service provision. Our recommendations for this are 

set out in part 3. 

 

2.15. Systems will continue to play an increasingly important role in developing 

multidisciplinary leadership and talent, coordinating approaches to recruiting, 

retaining and looking after staff, developing an agile workforce and making 

best use of individual staff skills, experience and contribution. 

 

2.16. From April 2022, this will include: 

 

• developing and supporting a ‘one workforce’ strategy in line with the 
NHS People Plan and the People Promise, to improve the experience 
of working in the NHS for everyone;  

• contributing to a vibrant local labour market, with support from partner 
organisations and other major local employers, including the care 
home sector and education and skills providers.  

• enabling employees to have rewarding career pathways that span the 
entire system, by creating employment models, workforce sharing 
arrangements and passporting or accreditation systems that enable 

Page 36



 

12  |  Putting this into practice 
 

their workforce to be deployed at different sites and organisations 
across (and beyond) the system, and sharing practical tools to 
support agile and flexible working; 

• valuing diversity and developing a workforce and leadership which is 
representative of the population it serves; and 

• supporting organisational and leadership development at all levels, 
including talent management. This should encompass investment in, 
and the development of improvement expertise. 

 

Place-based partnerships 
 

2.17. In many places, there are already strong and effective place-based 
partnerships between sectors. Every area is different, but common 
characteristics of the most successful are the full involvement of all partners 
who contribute to the place’s health and care; an important role for local 
councils (often through joint appointments or shared budgets); a leading role 
for clinical primary care leaders through primary care networks; and a clear, 
strategic relationship with health and wellbeing boards. 

 
2.18. The place leader on behalf of the NHS, as set out above, will work with 

partners such as the local authority and voluntary sector in an inclusive, 

transparent and collaborative way. They will have four main roles: 

• to support and develop primary care networks (PCNs) which join up 
primary and community services across local neighbourhoods;  

• to simplify, modernise and join up health and care (including 
through technology and by joining up primary and secondary care 
where appropriate); 

• to understand and identify – using population health management 
techniques and other intelligence – people and families at risk of 
being left behind and to organise proactive support for them; and  

• to coordinate the local contribution to health, social and economic 
development to prevent future risks to ill-health within different 
population groups. 

 
2.19. Systems should ensure that each place has appropriate resources, 

autonomy and decision-making capabilities to discharge these roles 

effectively, within a clear but flexible accountability framework that enables 

collaboration around funding and financial accountability, commissioning and 

risk management. This could include places taking on delegated budgets.  

 

2.20. Partnerships within local places are important. Primary care networks in 

neighbourhoods and thriving community networks are also provider 

collaboratives, and for integration to be successful we will need primary care 

Page 37



 

13  |  Putting this into practice 
 

working with community, mental health, the voluntary sector and social care 

as close to where people live as possible. 

 

2.21. The exact division of responsibilities between system and place should be 

based on the principle of subsidiarity – with the system taking responsibility 

only for things where there is a clear need to work on a larger footprint, as 

agreed with local places. 

The NHS’s offer to local government 
 

2.22. We will work much more closely with local government and the voluntary 

sector at place, to ensure local priorities for improved health and care 

outcomes are met by the NHS becoming a more effective partner in the 

planning, design and delivery of care. This will ensure residents feel well 

supported, with their needs clearly understood; and with services designed 

and delivered in the most effective and efficient way for each place.  

 

2.23. As ICSs are established and evolve, this will create opportunities to further 

strengthen partnership working between local government, the NHS, public 

health and social care. Where partnership working is truly embedded and 

matured, the ability to accelerate place-based arrangements for local 

decision-making and use of available resources, such as delegated functions 

and funding, maximises the collective impact that can be achieved for the 

benefit of residents and communities. 

 

Clinical and professional leadership  
 
2.24. Clinical and other frontline staff have led the way in working across 

professional and institutional boundaries, and they need to be supported to 

continue to play a significant leadership role through systems. ICSs should 

embed system-wide clinical and professional leadership through their 

partnership board and other governance arrangements, including primary 

care network representation.  

 

2.25. Primary care clinical leadership takes place through critical leadership 

roles including: 

• Clinical directors, general practitioners and other clinicians and 
professionals in primary care networks (PCNs), who build 
partnerships in neighbourhoods spanning general practice, 
community and mental health care, social care, pharmacy, dentistry, 
optometry and the voluntary sector. 

• Clinical leaders representing primary care in place-based 
partnerships that bring together the primary care provider leadership 
role in federations and group models 

 

Page 38



 

14  |  Putting this into practice 
 

• A primary care perspective at system level.  
 
2.26. Specialist clinical leadership across secondary and tertiary services must 

also be embedded in systems. Existing clinical networks at system, 

regional and national level have important roles advising on the most 

appropriate models and standards of care, in particular making decisions 

about clinical pathways and clinically-led service change. System-wide 

clinical leadership at an ICS and provider collaborative footprint through 

clinical networks should: 

• be able to carry out clinical service strategy reviews on behalf of the 
ICS;  

• develop proposals and recommendations that can be discussed and 
agreed at wider decision-making forums; and 

• include colleagues from different professional backgrounds and from 
different settings across primary care, acute, community and mental 
health care. 
 

2.27. Wider clinical and professional leadership should also ensure a strong 
voice for the wide range of skills and experience across systems. From 
nursing to social care, from allied health professionals to high street dentists, 
optometrists and pharmacists, and the full range of specialisms and care 
settings, people should receive services designed and organised to reflect 
the expertise of those who provide their care. 

 

Governance and public accountability  
 
2.28. Systems have told us from recent experience that good partnership working 

must be underpinned by mutually-agreed governance arrangements, clear 
collective decision-making processes and transparent information-sharing. 
 

2.29. In the NHS Long Term Plan and NHS planning and contracting guidance for 
2020/21, we described a set of consistent operating arrangements that all 
systems should put in place by 2021/22. These included: 

• system-wide governance arrangements (including a system 
partnership board with NHS, local councils and other partners 
represented) to enable a collective model of responsibility and 
decision-making;  

• quality governance arrangements, notably a quality lead and quality 
group in systems, focused on assurance, planning and improvement; 

• a leadership model for the system, including an ICS leader with 
sufficient capacity and a chair appointed in line with NHSEI guidance; 
and 

• agreed ways of working with respect to financial governance and 
collaboration.  

 

Page 39

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-operational-planning-and-contracting-guidance-2020-21/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-operational-planning-and-contracting-guidance-2020-21/


 

15  |  Putting this into practice 
 

2.30. ICSs now need to put in place firmer governance and decision-making 
arrangements for 2021/22, to reflect their growing roles and responsibilities. 
With the below consistent framework, these should be flexible to match local 
needs.  
 

2.31. As part of this, each system should define: 

• ‘place’ leadership arrangements. These should consistently involve: 

i. every locally determined ‘place’ in the system operating a 
partnership with joined-up decision-making arrangements for 
defined functions; 

ii. the partnership involving, at a minimum, primary care provider 
leadership, local authorities, including Director of Public Health 
and providers of community and mental health services and 
Healthwatch; 

iii. agreed joint decision-making arrangements with local 
government; and 

iv. representation on the ICS board. 

They may flexibly define:  

i. the configuration, size and boundaries of places which should 
reflect meaningful communities and scale for the 
responsibilities of the place partnership;  

ii. additional membership of each place partnership that is likely 
to include acute providers, ambulance trusts, the voluntary 
sector and other partners; 

iii. the precise governance and decision-making arrangements 
that exist within each place; and  

iv. their voting arrangements on the ICS board. 
 

• provider collaborative leadership arrangements for providers of 
more specialist services in acute and mental health care. These 
should consistently involve:  

i. every such provider in a system operating as part of one or 
more agreed provider collaboratives with joined up decision-
making arrangements for defined functions;  

ii. provider collaboratives represented on the appropriate ICS 
board(s). 

They may flexibly define:  

i. the scale and scope of provider collaboratives. For smaller 
systems, provider collaboratives are likely to span multiple 
systems and to be represented on the board of each. These 
arrangements should reflect a meaningful scale for their 
responsibilities;  

Page 40



 

16  |  Putting this into practice 
 

ii. the precise membership of each collaborative (acute providers, 
specialist providers, ambulance trusts at an appropriate 
footprint, mental health providers); 

iii. the precise governance and decision-making arrangements 
that exist within each collaborative; and  

iv. their voting arrangements on the ICS board. 
 

• individual organisation accountability within the system governance 
framework. This will consistently involve:  

i. the responsibility and accountability of the individual provider 
organisations for their current range of formal and statutory 
responsibilities (which are unchanged); and 

ii. the accountability relationship between the provider 
organisation and all place-based partnerships and provider 
collaboratives of which it is a member.  

It may flexibly define:  

iii. Any lead provider responsibility that the organisation holds on 
behalf of a place partnership or a provider collaborative.  

 

2.32. Integrated care systems draw their strength from the effectiveness of their 
constituent parts. Their governance should seek to minimise levels of 
decision-making and should set out defined responsibilities of organisations, 
partnerships at place, provider collaboratives and the core ICS role. Each 
ICS should seek to ensure that all the relevant bodies feel ownership and 
involvement in the ICS. 
 

2.33. The local test for these governance arrangements is whether they enable 
joined-up work around a shared purpose. Provider collaboratives and place-
based partnerships should enable peer support and constructive challenge 
between partners delivering services and accelerate partners’ collective 
ability to improve services in line with agreed priorities. 
 

2.34. The greater development of working at place will in many areas provide an 
opportunity to align decision-making with local government, including 
integrated commissioning arrangements for health and social care, and local 
responsiveness through health and wellbeing boards. There is no one way to 
do this, but all systems should consider how the devolution of functions and 
capabilities to systems and places can be supported by robust governance 
arrangements. 
 

2.35. ICS governance is currently based on voluntary arrangements and is 
therefore dependent on goodwill and mutual co-operation. There are also 
legal constraints on the ability of organisations in an ICS to make decisions 
jointly. We have previously made a number of recommendations for 
legislative change to Government and Parliament to increase flexibility in 
decision making by enabling decision making joint committees of both 

Page 41



 

17  |  Putting this into practice 
 

commissioners and providers and also committees of Providers. Section 3 of 
this document captures these options and also describes our thinking on 
clarifying arrangements for an ICS. 
 

2.36. Many systems have shown great ways to involve and take account of the 
views and priorities of local residents and those who use services, as a 
‘golden thread’ running through everything they do. During 21/22, every ICS 
should work to develop systematic arrangements to involve lay and resident 
voices and the voluntary sector in its governance structures, building on the 
collective expertise of partners and making use of pre-existing assets and 
forums such as Healthwatch and citizen’s panels. 
 

2.37. In particular, governance in ICSs should involve all system partners in the 
development of service change proposals, and in consulting and engaging 
with local people and relevant parts of local government (such as with 
overview and scrutiny committees and wider elected members) on these. It 
should appropriately involve elected councillors, and other local politicians 
such as metro mayors where relevant, and reflect transparency in wider 
decision-making. 

 
2.38. Each system should also be able to show how it uses public involvement and 

insight to inform decision-making, using tools such as citizens’ panels, local 
health champions, and co-production with people with lived experience. 
Systems should make particular efforts to understand and talk to people who 
have historically been excluded. 

 

Financial framework  
  

2.39. In order that the collective leadership of each ICS has the best possible 

opportunity to invest in and deliver joined-up, more preventative care, 

tailored to local people’s needs, we will increasingly organise the finances 

of the NHS at ICS level and put allocative decisions in the hands of local 

leaders. We are clear that we want ICSs to be key bodies for financial 

accountability and financial governance arrangements will need to reflect 

that. NHSEI will update guidance to reflect these changes. 

 

2.40. That means that we will create a ‘single pot,’ which brings together current 

CCG commissioning budgets, primary care budgets, the majority of 

specialised commissioning spend, the budgets for certain other directly 

commissioned services, central support or sustainability funding and 

nationally-held transformation funding that is allocated to systems. 

 

2.41. ICS leaders, working with provider collaboratives, must have the freedom – 

and indeed the duty – to distribute those resources in line with national rules 

such as the mental health, and the primary and community services 

investment guarantees and locally-agreed strategies for health and care, for 

example targeting investment in line with locally-agreed health inequalities 

Page 42



 

18  |  Putting this into practice 
 

priorities, or responding flexibly as new, more preventative services are 

developed and patient journeys change.   

 

2.42. ICS leaders will also have a duty to ensure that they deploy the resources 

available to them in order to protect the future sustainability of local services, 

and to ensure that their health and care system consumes their fair share of 

resources allocated to it.  

 

2.43. It also means that ICS leaders will be expected to use new freedoms to 

delegate significant budgets to ‘place’ level, which might include resources 

for general practice, other primary care, community services, and continuing 

healthcare. Similarly, through active involvement at place level, providers will 

have a greater say in how transformation funding is deployed. Decisions 

about the use of all of these budgets will usually be made at the lowest 

possible level, closest to those communities they serve and in partnership 

with their local authority. New powers will make it easier to form joint budgets 

with the local authority, including for public health functions. 

 

2.44. Providers will through their role in ICS leadership have the opportunity to 

shape the strategic health and care priorities for the populations they serve, 

and new opportunities – whether through lead provider models at place level 

or through fully-fledged integrated care provider contractual models – to 

determine how services are funded and delivered, and how different bodies 

involved in providing joined-up care work together. 

 

2.45. We will deliver on the commitment set out in the Long Term Plan to mostly 

move away from episodic or activity-based payment, rolling out the blended 

payment model for secondary care services. This will ensure that provider 

collaboratives have greater certainty about the resources available to them to 

run certain groups of services and meet the needs of particular patient 

groups. Any variable payments will be funded within the ICS financial 

envelope, targeted to support the delivery of locally-identified priorities and 

increasingly linked to quality and outcomes metrics. Each ICS will be 

expected to agree and codify how financial risk will be managed across 

places and between provider collaboratives. 

 

2.46. These changes will reduce the administrative, transactional costs of the 

current approach to commissioning and paying for care, and release 

resources for the front line - including preventative measures - that can be 

invested in services that are planned, designed and delivered in a more 

strategic way at ICS level. This is just one way in which we will ensure that 

each ICS has to capacity and capability to take advantage of the 

opportunities that these new approaches offer. 
 

2.47. Finally, we will further embed reforms to the capital regime introduced in 

2019/20 and 2020/21, bringing together at ICS level responsibility for 

allocating capital envelopes with responsibility for allocating the revenue 

Page 43



 

19  |  Putting this into practice 
 

budgets which fund day-to-day services. This will ensure that capital 

investment strategies: 

• are not only coordinated between different NHS providers, but also 
aligned with local authorities’ management of their estates and wider 
assets; 

• reflect local judgments about the balance between competing 
priorities for capital expenditure; and 

• give priority to those investments which support the future 
sustainability of local services for future generations. 

 

2.48. We will set out in the 2021/22 planning guidance how we will support ICSs to 

begin operating more collective financial governance in 2021/22 and to 

prepare for the powers and duties set out above. 

 

Data and Digital  
 

2.49. Data and digital technology have played a vital role helping the NHS and 

care respond to the pandemic. They will be at the heart of creating effective 

local systems, helping local partners in health and social care work together.  

They can help improve productivity and patient outcomes, reduce 

bureaucracy, drive service transformation and stimulate improvement and 

research.  

 

2.50. But digital maturity and data quality is variable across the health and care.  

Data has too often been held in siloes, meaning that clinicians and care 

professionals do not have easy access to all of the information that could be 

useful in caring for their patients and service users.   

 

2.51. To fulfil the potential of digital and data to improve patient outcomes and 

drive collaborative working, systems will need to: 

 

(1) build smart digital and data foundations 

(2) connect health and care services 

(3) use digital and data to transform care  

(4) put the citizen at the centre of their care 

 

Build smart digital and data foundations  

● Have clear board accountability for data and digital, including a member 

of the ICS Partnership Board being a named SRO.  

● Have a system-wide digital transformation plan. This should outline the 

three year journey to digitally-driven, citizen-centred care, and the benefits 

that digital and data will realise for the system and its citizens.   

Page 44



 

20  |  Putting this into practice 
 

● Build the digital and data literacy of the whole workforce as well as 

specific digital skills such as user research and service design. 

 

● Invest in the infrastructure needed to deliver on the transformation plan. 

This will include shared contracts and platforms to increase resiliency, 

digitise operational services and create efficiencies, from shared data 

centres to common EPRs. 

 

Connect health and care services 

• Develop or join a shared care record joining data safely across all health 

and social care settings, both to improve direct care for individual patients 

and service users, and to underpin population health and effective system 

management.  

● Build the tools to allow collaborative working and frictionless movement of 

staff across organisational boundaries, including shared booking and 

referral management, task sharing, radiology reporting and pathology 

networks.  

● Follow nationally defined standards for digital and data to enable 

integration and interoperability, including in the data architecture and 

design. 

 

Use digital and data to transform care  

• Use digital technology to reimagine care pathways, joining up care across 

boundaries and improving outcomes. 

 

• Develop shared cross-system intelligence and analytical functions that 

use information to improve decision-making at every level, including:  

 

• actionable insight for frontline teams;  

• near-real time actionable intelligence and robust data (financial, 
performance, quality, outcomes); 

• system-wide workforce, finance, quality and performance planning; 

• the capacity and skills needed for population health management.  

• Ensure transparency of information about interventions and the outcomes 

they produce, to drive more responsive coordination of services, better 

decision-making and improved research.  

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 

21  |  Putting this into practice 
 

Put the citizen at the centre of their care 

 

● Develop a road map for citizen-centred digital channels and services, 

including access to personalised advice on staying well, access to their own 

data, and triage to appropriate health and care services.  

 

● Roll out remote monitoring to allow citizens to stay safe at home for 

longer, using digital tools to help them manage long-term conditions. 
 

● We want to build on the experience of data sharing during COVID so that 

data is shared, wherever it can and should be. This will inform the upcoming 

Department of Health and Social Care Data Strategy. While this will be 

mainly about embedding a culture of sharing data with appropriate 

safeguards, we would support legislative change that clarifies that sharing 

data for the benefit of the whole health and care system is a key duty and 

responsibility of all health and adult social care organisations. This will 

require a more flexible legislative framework than currently exists to support 

further evolution and empower local systems to lead and drive that agenda. 

 

Regulation and oversight  
 
2.52. We have consistently heard that regulation needs to adapt, with more 

support from national regulators for systems as well as the individual 

organisations within them, and a shift in emphasis to reflect the importance 

of partnership working to improve population health.  

 

2.53. Regulation best supports our ambitions where it enables systems and the 

organisations within them to make change happen. This means a focus on 

how effective local arrangements are at implementing better pathways, 

maximising use of collective capacity and resources, and acting in 

partnership to achieve joint financial and performance standards. 

 

2.54. We have already taken steps to bring together NHS England and NHS 

Improvement to provide a single, clear voice to the system and our legislative 

proposals haven’t changed – this merger should be formalised in future 

legislation. 

 

2.55. As a formally merged body, NHS England will of course remain answerable 

to Parliament and to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care for 

NHS performance, finance and healthcare transformation.  There will need to 

be appropriate mechanisms in law to ensure that the newly merged body is 

responsive and accountable. We envisage Parliament using the legislation to 

specify the Secretary of State’s legal powers of direction in respect of NHS 

England in a transparent way that nevertheless protects clinical and 

operational independence.  

 

Page 46



 

22  |  Putting this into practice 
 

2.56. There are a further practical steps that we can take to support systems: 

• working with the CQC to seek to embed a requirement for strong 
participation in ICS and provider collaborative arrangements in the 
“Well Led” assessment;  

• issuing guidance under the NHS provider licence that good 
governance for NHS providers includes a duty to collaborate; and 

• ensuring foundation trust directors’ and governors’ duties to the public 
support system working. 

 
2.57. We expect to see greater adoption of system- and place- level 

measurements, which might include reporting some performance data such 
as patient treatment lists at system level. Next year, we will introduce new 
measures and metrics to support this, including an ‘integration index’ for use 
by all systems. 
 

2.58. The future System Oversight Framework will set consistent expectations of 

systems and their constituent organisations and match accountability for 

results with improvement support, as appropriate. 

 

2.59. This approach will recognise the enhanced role of systems. It will identify 

where ICSs and organisations may benefit from, or require, support to help 

them meet standards in a sustainable way and will provide an objective basis 

for decisions about when and how NHSEI will intervene in cases where there 

are serious problems or risks. 

 
The proposed future Intensive Recovery Support Programme will give 

support to the most challenged systems (in terms of quality and/or finance) to 

tackle their key challenges. This will enable intervention in response to CQC 

findings or where other regulatory action is required. This approach enables 

improvement action and targeted support either at organisation/provider level 

(with system support) or across a whole system where required and may 

extend across health and social care, accessing shared learning and good 

practice between systems to drive improvement. 
 

2.60. Greater collaboration will help us to be more effective at designing and 

distributing services across a local system, in line with agreed health and 

care priorities and within the resources available. However there remains an 

important role for patient choice, including choice between qualified 

providers, providers outside the geographic bounds of the system and choice 

of the way in which services need to be joined up around the individual 

person as a resident or patient including through personal health budgets.  

 

2.61. Our previous recommendations to government for legislation include 

rebalancing the focus on competition between NHS organisations by 

reducing the Competition and Market Authority’s role in the NHS and 

Page 47



 

23  |  Putting this into practice 
 

abolishing Monitor’s role and functions in relation to enforcing competition. 

We also recommended regulations made under section 75 of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 should be revoked and that the powers in primary 

legislation under which they are made should be repealed, and that NHS 

services be removed from the scope of the Public Contracts Regulations 

2015. We have committed to engage openly on how the future procurement 

regime will operate subject to legislation being brought before Parliament. 

 

How commissioning will change 
 
2.62. Local leaders have repeatedly told us that the commissioning functions 

currently carried out by CCGs need to become more strategic, with a clearer 

focus on population-level health outcomes and a marked reduction in 

transactional and contractual exchanges within a system. This significant 

change of emphasis for commissioning functions means that the 

organisational form of CCGs will need to evolve. 

 

2.63. The activities, capacity and resources for commissioning will change in three 

significant ways in the future, building on the experience of the most mature 

systems: 

• Ensuring a single, system-wide approach to undertake strategic 

commissioning. This will discharge core ICS functions, which 

include: 

 

o assessing population health needs and planning and modelling 
demographic, service use and workforce changes over time; 

o planning and prioritising how to address those needs, 
improving all residents’ health and tackling inequalities; and 

o ensuring that these priorities are funded to provide good value 
and health outcomes. 

 

• Service transformation and pathway redesign need to be done 
differently. Provider organisations and others, through partnerships at 
place and in provider collaboratives, become a principal engine of 
transformation and should agree the future service model and 
structure of provision jointly through ICS governance (involving 
transparency and public accountability). Clinical leadership will remain 
a crucial part of this at all footprints. 

• The greater focus on population health and outcomes in contracts and 

the collective system ownership of the financial envelope is a chance 

to apply capacity and skills in transactional commissioning and 

contracting with a new focus. Analytical skills within systems should 

be applied to better understanding how best to use resources to 

Page 48



 

24  |  Putting this into practice 
 

improving outcomes, rather than managing contract performance 

between organisations. 

 

2.64. Many commissioning functions are now coterminous with ICS boundaries, 

and this will need to be consistent across the country before April 2022. 

Under the legislative provisions recommended in section 3 current CCG 

functions would subsequently be absorbed to become core ICS business.  

 

2.65. However, with the spread of place-based partnerships backed by devolved 
funding, simplified accountability, and an approach to governance 
appropriate to local circumstances along with further devolution of 
specialised commissioning activity, there will be flexibility for local areas to 
make full use of the local relationships and expertise currently residing in 
CCGs.  
 

2.66. Systems should also agree whether individual functions are best delivered at 
system or at place, balancing subsidiarity with the benefits of scale 
working. Commissioners may, for example, work at place to complete 
service and outcomes reviews, allocate resources and undertake needs 
assessments alongside local authorities. But larger ICSs may prefer to carry 
out a wider range of functions in their larger places, and smaller ones to do 
more across the whole system.  
 

2.67. Commissioning support units (CSUs) operate within the NHS family across 
England, providing services that have been independently evaluated for 
quality and value for money. We expect that CSUs will continue to develop 
as trusted delivery partners to ICSs, providing economies of scale which may 
include joining up with provider back office functions where appropriate and 
helping to shape services through a customer board arrangement. 

 

Specialised commissioning  
 
 
2.68. Specialised services are particularly important for the public and patients, 

with the NHS often working at the limits of science to bring the highest levels 
of human knowledge and skill to save lives and improve health. 
 

2.69. The national commissioning arrangements that have been in place for these 
services since 2013 have played a vital role in supporting consistent, 
equitable, and fast access for patients to an ever-expanding catalogue of 
cutting edge technologies - genomic testing, CAR-T therapy, mechanical 
thrombectomy, Proton Beam Therapy and CFTR modulator therapies for 
patients with cystic fibrosis to name just a few.  
 

2.70. But these national commissioning arrangements can sometime mean 
fragmented care pathways, misaligned incentives and missed opportunities 
for upstream investment and preventative intervention. For example, the 
split in commissioning responsibilities for mental health services has 

Page 49



 

25  |  Putting this into practice 
 

potentially slowed the ambition to reduce the number of children admitted for 
inpatient treatment and, where they are admitted, making sure they are as 
close to home as possible. Bringing together the commissioning of mental 
health services has aligned incentives and enabled resources to be moved 
into upstream services, reducing over-reliance on geographically distant 
inpatient care. 
 

2.71. Integrated care systems provide an opportunity to further align the design, 
development and provision of specialised services with linked care 
pathways, where it supports patient care, while maintaining consistent 
national standards and access policies across the board.  
 

2.72. The following principles will underpin the detailed development of the 
proposed arrangements: 
 

- Principle One: All specialised services, as prescribed in regulations, 

will continue to be subject to consistent national service 

specifications and evidence-based policies determining treatment 

eligibility. NHS England will continue to have responsibility for 

developing and setting these standards nationally and whoever is 

designated as the strategic commissioner will be expected to follow them. 

Over time, service specifications will need to become more outcomes 

focused to ensure that innovative and flexible solutions to unique system 

circumstances and/or opportunities can be easily adopted. But policies 

determining eligibility criteria for specific treatments across all specialised 

services will remain precise and consistently applied across the country.    

- Principle Two: Strategic commissioning, decision making and 

accountability for specialised services will be led and integrated at 

the appropriate population level: ICS, multi-ICS or national. For 

certain specialised services, it will make sense to plan, organise and 

commission these at ICS level. For others, ICSs will need to come 

together across a larger geographic footprint to jointly plan and take joint 

commissioning decisions. And many services, such as those in the highly 

specialised services portfolio, will continue to be planned and 

commissioned on a national footprint.  Importantly, whichever level 

strategic commissioning occurs the national standards will apply.  

- Principle Three: Clinical networks and provider collaborations will 

drive quality improvement, service change and transformation 

across specialised services and non-specialised services. Clinical 

networks have long been a feature of the NHS. But, during the COVID 

pandemic they have become critical in supporting innovation and system 

wide collaboration. Looking ahead they will be supported to drive 

clinically-led change and service improvement with even greater 

Page 50



 

26  |  Putting this into practice 
 

accountability for tackling inequalities and for improving population 

health. 

- Principle Four: Funding of specialised services will shift from 

provider-based allocations to population-based budgets, supporting 

the connection of services back to ‘place’. We are considering from 

April 2021 allocating budgets on a population basis at regional level and 

are considering the best basis for allocating funding and will provide 

further information in due course. In this first year, adjustments will then 

be made to neutralise any changes in financial flows and ensure stability. 

We intend to publish a needs-based allocation formula, before using it to 

inform allocations against an agreed pace of change in future years. A 

needs-based allocations formula will further strengthen the focus on 

tackling inequalities and unwarranted variation. 

 
 

  

Page 51



 

27  |  Legislative proposals 
 

3. Legislative proposals 
 
 
3.1. The detailed policy work described above will be necessary to deliver our 

vision but will not by itself be sufficient. While legislation is only part of the 

answer, the existing legislation (the National Health Service Act 2006 and the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012 does not present a sufficiently firm 

foundation for system working. 

 

3.2. In September 2019, NHSEI made a number of recommendations for an NHS 

Bill2. These aimed to remove current legislative barriers to integration across 

health and social care bodies, foster collaboration, and more formally join up 

national leadership in support of the ambitions outlined above. 

 
3.3. Recommendations included:  

• rebalancing the focus on competition between NHS organisations by 

reducing the Competition and Markets Authority’s role in the NHS and 

abolishing Monitor’s role and functions in relation to enforcing 

competition;  

• simplifying procurement rules by scrapping section 75 of the 2012 

Act and remove the commissioning of NHS healthcare services from 

the jurisdiction of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015;  

• providing increased flexibilities on tariff;  

• reintroducing the ability to establish new NHS trusts to support the 

creation of integrated care providers; 

• ensuring a more coordinated approach to planning capital 

investment, through the possibility of introducing FT capital spend 

limits;  

• the ability to establish decision-making joint committees of 

commissioners and NHS providers and between NHS providers; 

• enabling collaborative commissioning between NHS bodies – it is 

currently easier in legislative terms for NHS bodies and local 

authorities to work together than NHS bodies; 

• a new “triple aim” duty for all NHS organisations of ‘better health for 

the whole population, better quality care for all patients and financially 

sustainable services for the taxpayer; and 

 
2 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/8
75711/The_government_s_2020-2021_mandate_to_NHS_England_and_NHS_Improvement.pdf  

Page 52

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875711/The_government_s_2020-2021_mandate_to_NHS_England_and_NHS_Improvement.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875711/The_government_s_2020-2021_mandate_to_NHS_England_and_NHS_Improvement.pdf


 

28  |  Legislative proposals 
 

• merging NHS England and NHS Improvement – formalising the 

work already done to bring the organisations together. 

 
3.4. These recommendations were strongly supported and backed across the 

health and social care sector3. We believe these proposals still stand. 
 

3.5. One of the key considerations in our recommendations was how, and to what 
extent, ICSs should be put on a statutory footing. Responses to our 
engagement were ultimately mixed – balancing the relatively early stage of 
development of some ICSs against a desire to enable further progress and to 
put ICSs on a firmer footing.  
 

3.6. At the time, we proposed a new statutory underpinning to establish ICS 
boards through voluntary joint committees, an entity through which members 
could delegate their organisational functions to its members to take a 
collective decision. This approach ensured support to those systems working 
collectively already and a future approach to those systems at an earlier 
stage of development. 

 
3.7. Many respondents to our engagement and specifically Parliament’s Health 

and Social Care Select Committee raised a number of questions as to 
whether a voluntary approach would be effective in driving system working. 
There was particular focus on those areas at an earlier stage of their 
development and whether a voluntary model offered sufficient clarity of 
accountability for health outcomes and financial balance both to parliament 
and more directly to the public. 

 
3.8. The response of the NHS and its partners to COVID-19 and a further year of 

ICS development has increased the appetite for statutory “clarity” for ICSs 
and the organisations within them. With an NHS Bill included in the last 
Queen’s Speech, we believe the opportunity is now to achieve clarity and 
establish a “future-proofed” legislative basis for ICSs that accelerates their 
ability to deliver our vision for integrated care.   
 

3.9. We believe there are two possible options for enshrining ICSs in legislation, 

without triggering a distracting top-down re-organisation: 

 
Option 1: a statutory committee model with an Accountable Officer that 

binds together current statutory organisations. 

 

Option 2: a statutory corporate NHS body model that additionally brings 

CCG statutory functions into the ICS. 

 

 
3 https://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/190926_Support_letter_NHS_legislation_-
proposals.pdf  

Page 53

https://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/190926_Support_letter_NHS_legislation_-proposals.pdf
https://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/190926_Support_letter_NHS_legislation_-proposals.pdf


 

29  |  Legislative proposals 
 

3.10. Both models share a number of features – broad membership and joint 

decision-making (including, as a minimum, representatives from 

commissioners; acute, community and primary care providers; and local 

authorities); responsibility for owning and driving forward the system plan; 

operating within and in accordance with the triple aim duty; and a lead role in 

relating to the centre.   

 

Option 1 – a statutory ICS Board/ Joint Committee with an 
Accountable Officer  
 
3.11. This option is closer to our original proposal. It would establish a mandatory, 

rather than voluntary, statutory ICS Board through the mechanism of a joint 

committee and enable NHS commissioners, providers and local authorities to 

take decisions collectively. 

 
3.12. Unlike previously proposed versions of this model it would have a system 

Accountable Officer, chosen from the CEOs/AOs of the Board’s mandatory 

members. This Accountable Officer would not replace individual organisation 

AOs/CEOs but would be recognised in legislation and would have duties in 

relation to delivery of the Board’s functions. There would be a duty for the 

Board to agree and deliver a system plan and all members would have an 

explicit duty to comply with it. 

 
3.13. In accordance with our stated ambition, there would be one aligned CCG 

only per ICS footprint under this model, and new powers would allow that 

CCGs are able to delegate many of its population health functions to 

providers. 

 
3.14. This option retains individual organisational duties and autonomy and relies 

upon collective responsibility. Intervention against individual NHS 

organisations (not working in the best interests of the system) would continue 

to be enhanced through the new triple aim duty and a new duty to comply 

with the ICS plan.  

 
3.15. The new Accountable Officer role would have duties to seek to agree the 

system plan and seek to ensure it is delivered and to some extent offer 

clarity of leadership. However, current accountability structures for CCG and 

providers would remain. 

 
3.16. There remain potential downsides to this model. In effect, many of the 

questions raised through our engagement in 2019 about accountability and 

clarity of leadership would remain. While the addition of an Accountable 

Officer strengthens this model, there remains less obvious responsibility for 

patient outcomes or financial matters. Having an ICS Accountable Officer 

alongside a CCG Accountable Officer may in some cases confuse rather 

than clarify accountability. The CCG governing body and GP membership is 

Page 54



 

30  |  Legislative proposals 
 

also retained, and it is questionable whether these are sufficiently diverse 

arrangements to fulfil the different role required of CCGs in ICSs. 

 
3.17. Furthermore, many may not consider this model to be the “end state” for 

ICSs and opportunities for primary legislative change are relatively rare. 

There are therefore strong arguments to go further when considering how 

the health and care system might evolve over the next ten years and more. 

 

Option 2 – a statutory ICS body  
 
3.18. In this option, ICSs would be established as NHS bodies partly by “re-

purposing” CCGs and would – among other duties – take on the 

commissioning functions of CCGs. Additional functions would be conferred 

and existing functions modified to produce a new framework of duties and 

powers.  

 
3.19. The CCG governing body and GP membership model would be replaced by 

a board consisting of representatives from the system partners. As a 

minimum it would include representatives of NHS providers, primary care 

and local government alongside a Chair, a Chief Executive and a Chief 

Financial Officer. The ICS body should be able to appoint such other 

members as it deems appropriate allowing for maximum flexibility for 

systems to shape their membership to suit the needs of their populations. 

The power of individual organisational veto would be removed. The ICS 

Chief Executive would be a full-time Accounting Officer role, which would 

help strengthen lines of accountability and be a key leadership role in 

ensuring the system delivers. 

 
3.20. The ICS’s primary duty would be to secure the effective provision of health 

services to meet the needs of the system population, working in collaboration 

with partner organisations. It would have the flexibility to make arrangements 

with providers through contracts or by delegating responsibility for arranging 

specified services to one or more providers.  
 

3.21. This model would deliver a clearer structure for an ICS and avoids the risk of 

complicated workarounds to deliver our vision for ICSs. Although there would 

be a representative for primary care on the Board, there would no longer be 

a conflict of interests with the current GP-led CCG model (created by the 

2012 Act) and it could be possible to allocate combined population-level 

primary care, community health services and specialised services population 

budgets to ICS. 

 
3.22. Many commissioning functions for which NHSE is currently responsible 

could, for the most part, be transferred or delegated to the ICS body, but with 

the ability to form joint committees as proposed through our original 

recommendations, with NHSE, if and where appropriate. 

Page 55



 

31  |  Legislative proposals 
 

3.23. Through greater provider involvement, it could also reduce some of the 

transactional burdens of the current contracting processes. There would be 

powers for the ICS to delegate responsibility for arranging some services to 

providers, to create much greater scope for provider collaboration to use 

whole-population budgets to drive care pathway transformation.   
 

 

Our approach 
 

3.24. Either model would be sufficiently permissive in legislation to allow different 

systems to shape how they operate and how best and most appropriately 

deliver patient care and outcomes support at place.  

 
3.25. Under either model we would want local government to be an integral, key 

player in the ICS. Both models offer a basis for planning and shaping 

services across healthcare, social care, prevention and the wider 

determinants of health. Both would allow for the delegation of functions and 

money to place-based statutory committees involving NHS bodies and local 

government. Both would enable NHS and local government to exploit 

existing flexibilities to pool functions and funds. 

 
3.26. While both models would drive increased system collaboration and achieve 

our vision and our aims for ICSs in the immediate term, we believe Option 2 

is a model that offers greater long term clarity in terms of system leadership 

and accountability. It also provides a clearer statutory vehicle for deepening 

integration across health and local government over time. It also provides 

enhanced flexibility for systems to decide who and how best to deliver 

services by both taking on additional commissioning functions from NHS 

England but also deciding with system colleagues (providers and local 

councils) where and how best service provision should take place. 

 

3.27. Should these proposals be developed further and proposed by Government 

as future legislation, we would expect a full assessment of the impact of 

these proposals on equalities and public and parliamentary engagement and 

scrutiny as is appropriate. 
 

 

Questions 

 
Q. Do you agree that giving ICSs a statutory footing from 2022, alongside other 
legislative proposals, provides the right foundation for the NHS over the next 
decade? 
 
Q. Do you agree that option 2 offers a model that provides greater incentive for 
collaboration alongside clarity of accountability across systems, to Parliament and 
most importantly, to patients? 
 

Page 56



 

32  |  Legislative proposals 
 

Q. Do you agree that, other than mandatory participation of NHS bodies and Local 
Authorities, membership should be sufficiently permissive to allow systems to 
shape their own governance arrangements to best suit their populations needs? 
 
Q. Do you agree, subject to appropriate safeguards and where appropriate, that 
services currently commissioned by NHSE should be either transferred or 
delegated to ICS bodies? 
  

Page 57



 

33  |  Implications and next steps 
 

4. Implications and next 
steps  

 
4.1. The ambitious changes set out here are founded on the conviction that 

collaboration will be a more effective mechanism for transformation against 

long term population health priorities and also for driving sustainable 

operational performance against the immediate challenges on quality, 

access, finance and delivery of outcomes that make difference to people’s 

experience of services today.  

 

4.2. International evidence points to this being the case as across the world 

health systems change to pursue integration as the means of meeting health 

needs and improving health outcomes. We have seen this reinforced through 

our experiences in tackling COVID-19.  

 

4.3. The rapid changes in digital technology adoption, mutual cooperation and 

capacity management, provision of joined up support to the most vulnerable 

that have been essential in the immediate response to the pandemic have 

only been possible through partners working together to implement rapid 

change as they focus on a shared purpose.  

 

4.4. As we embed the ways of working set out above, partners in every system 

will be able to take more effective, immediate operational action on:  

 

• managing acute healthcare performance challenges and marshalling 

collective resource around clear priorities, through provider 

collaboratives;  

• tackling unwarranted variation in service quality, access and 

performance through transparent data with peer review and support 

arrangements organised by provider collaboratives; 

• using data to understand capacity utilisation across provider 

collaboratives, equalising access (tackling inequality across the 

system footprint) and equalising pressures on individual 

organisations. 

 

The NHS England and NHS Improvement’s operating model 
  
4.5. NHSEI will support systems to adopt improvement and learning 

methodologies and approaches which will enable them to improve services 

for patients, tackle unwarranted variation and develop cultures of continuous 

improvement. 

Page 58



 

34  |  Implications and next steps 
 

4.6. This will be underpinned by a comprehensive support offer which includes: 
 

• access to our national transformation programmes for outpatients and 
diagnostics; 

• support to tackle unwarranted variation and increase productivity (in 
partnership with the Getting it Right First Time programme); 

• the data they need to drive improvement, accessed through the 
‘model health system’; 

• the resources and guidance that they need to build improvement 
capability; and 

• assistance from our emergency and electivity intensive support teams 
(dependent on need). 

 

4.7. Much of this support offer will be made available to systems through regional 

improvement hubs, which will ensure that improvement resource supports 

local capacity- and capability-building. Systems will then able to flexibly and 

rapidly deploy the support into place partnerships and provider 

collaboratives. 

 

4.8. NHSEI developed a joint operating model during 2019, with input from senior 
NHS leaders including those in systems and regions, as well as frontline staff 
and other stakeholders. This resulted in a description of the different ways 
NHSEI will operate in future, underpinned by a set of principles including 
subsidiarity, and a set of ‘levers of value’ that NHSEI can use at national and 
regional level to support systems. 

 
4.9. NHSEI will continue to develop this operating model to support the vision set 

out above, and any legislative changes. This will include further evolving how 
we interact with systems nationally and regionally; and ensuring that its 
functions are arranged in a way that support and embed system working to 
deliver our priorities. 
 

4.10. The new operating environment will mean:  

 

• increased freedoms and responsibilities for ICSs, including greater 
responsibility for system development and performance, as well as 
greater autonomy regarding assurance.  

• the primary interaction between NHSEI and systems will be between 
regions and the collective ICS leadership, with limited cause for 
national functions to directly intervene with individual providers within 
systems. 

• as systems take on whole population budgets they will increasingly 
determine how resource is to be used to ‘move the dial’ on outcomes, 
inequalities, productivity and wider social and economic development 

Page 59



 

35  |  Implications and next steps 
 

against their specific health challenges and population health 
priorities.  

• NHSEI regional teams will become ‘thinner’ as we move direct 
commissioning responsibility out to systems (individually and 
collectively). They will increasingly continue to enable systems to take 
on greater autonomy, working with them to identify their individual 
development priorities and support needs. 

 

Transition 
 
4.11. The experience of the earliest ICSs shows that great leadership is critical to 

success and can come from any part of the health and care system. But, to 

be effective, it must be felt right across, and draw on the talents of leaders 

from every part of, a system. 

 

4.12. These systems have developed a new style of behaviour, which makes the 

most of the leadership teams of all constituent organisations and empowers 

frontline leaders. System leaders have impact through a collaborative and 

distributive leadership style that operates across boundaries, leading for 

communities. 

 

4.13. This shared approach to leadership is based on qualities such as openness 

and transparency, honesty and integrity, a genuine belief in common goals 

and an ability to build consensus. 

 
4.14. ICSs need to be of sufficient size to carry out their ‘at scale’ activities 

effectively, while having sufficiently strong links into local communities at a 
much more local level in places and neighbourhoods.  
 

4.15. Pragmatically we are supporting ICSs through to April 2022 at their current 
size and scale, but we recognise that smaller systems will need to join up 
functions, particularly for provider collaboration. We will support the ability for 
ICSs to more formally combine as they take on new roles where this is 
supported locally.  
 

4.16. We will work with systems to ensure that they have arrangements in place to 
take on enhanced roles from April 2022. We will set out a roadmap for this 
transition that gives assurance over system readiness for new functions as 
these become statutory.  

 

4.17. We know that under either legislative proposal we need to ensure that we 
support our staff during organisational change by minimising uncertainty and 
limiting employment changes. We are therefore seeking to provide stability of 
employment while enabling a rapid development of role functions and 
purpose for all our teams, particularly in CCGs directly impacted by 
legislative Option 2.  

Page 60



 

36  |  Implications and next steps 
 

4.18. We want to take a different approach to this transition; one that is 

characterised by care for our people and no distraction from the ‘day job’: the 

critical challenges of recovery and tackling population health.  

 

4.19. Stable employment: As CCG functions move into new bodies we will make 

a ‘continued employment promise’ for staff carrying out commissioning 

functions. We will preserve terms and conditions to the new organisations 

(even if not required by law) to help provide stability and to remove 

uncertainty.   

 

4.20. New roles and functions: For many commissioning functions the work will 

move to a new organisation and will then evolve over time to focus on 

system priorities and ways of working. The priority will be the continuation of 

the good work being carried out by the current group of staff and we will 

promote best practice in engaging, consulting and supporting the workforce 

during a carefully planned transition, minimising disruption to staff. 

 

4.21. Other functions will be more directly impacted, principally the most senior 

leaders in CCGs (chief officers and other governing body / board members). 

ICSs need to have the right talent in roles leading in systems.  
  

4.22. Our commitment is:  

 

• not to make significant changes to roles below the most senior 

leadership roles; 

• to minimise impact of organisational change on current staff 

during both phases (in paragraphs 4.19 and 4.20 above) by 

focusing on continuation of existing good work through the 

transition and not amending terms and conditions; and   

• offer opportunities for continued employment up to March 2022 

for all those who wish to play a part in the future. 

 

Next steps 
 

4.23. We expect that every system will be ready to operate as an ICS from April 

2021, in line with the timetable set out in the NHS Long Term Plan. To 

prepare for this, we expect that each system will, by this time, agree with its 

region the functions or activities it must prioritise (such as in service 

transformation or population health management) to effectively discharge its 

core roles in 2021/22 as set out in this paper. 

 

4.24. All ICSs should also agree a sustainable model for resourcing these 

collective functions or activities in the long term across their constituent 

organisations. 

Page 61



 

37  |  Implications and next steps 
 

4.25. To support all of the above, all systems should agree development plans with 

their NHSEI regional director that clearly set out: 

• By April 2021: how they continue to meet the current consistent 

operating arrangements for ICSs and further planning 

requirements for the next phase of the COVID-19 response 

• By September 2021: implementation plans for their future roles 
as outlined above, that will need to adapt to take into account 
legislative developments. 

 
4.26. Throughout the rest of 2020, the Department of Health and Social Care and 

NHSEI will continue to lead conversations with different types of health and 

care organisations, local councils, people who use and work in services, and 

those who represent them, to understand their priorities for further policy and 

legislative change. 

 

4.27. The legislative proposals set out in this document takes us beyond our 
original legislative recommendations to the government. We are therefore 
keen to seek views on these proposed options from all interested 
individuals and organisations. These views will help inform our future 
system design work and that of government should they take forward our 
recommendations in a future Bill. 
 

4.28. Please submit your response to this address:  
www.engage.england.nhs.uk/survey/building-a-strong-integrated-care-
system 
 

4.29. Alternatively you can also contact england.legislation@nhs.net or write with 
any feedback to NHS England, PO Box 16738, Redditch, B97 9PT by Friday 
8 January. 
 

4.30. For more information about how health and care is changing, please visit: 

www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare and sign up to our regular e-bulletin at: 

www.england.nhs.uk/email-bulletins/integrated-care-bulletin 

 

Page 62

http://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/survey/building-a-strong-integrated-care-system
http://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/survey/building-a-strong-integrated-care-system
mailto:england.legislation@nhs.net
http://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare
http://www.england.nhs.uk/email-bulletins/integrated-care-bulletin


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NHS England and NHS Improvement  

Skipton House  
80 London Road  
London  
SE1 6LH 
 
 
 
© NHS England and NHS Improvement xx xxx 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Resources 
Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham  DH1 5UF 
Main Telephone 03000 26 0000 
 
Text Messaging Service 07860 093 073 

 

 

   www.durham.gov.uk 
  

Contact: Councillor John Robinson 
Direct Tel: 03000 268140 

email: John.robinson@durham.gov.uk 
Your ref:  
Our ref:  

  
 
 
 

 
NHS England, 
PO Box 16738, 
Redditch, 
B97 9PT 
 
 
 
 

 7 January 2021 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam,  
 
ICS Consultation - Response and representations by Durham County Council’s 
Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC  
 
Durham County Council’s Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC (AWHOSC) has been made 
aware of the current consultation being undertaken by NHS England/Improvement in 
respect of the future of integrated care systems (ICS) across England. As chair of the OSC 
I am disappointed that formal notification of the consultation was not given to health 
scrutiny committees and am also concerned at the extremely short timescales within which 
responses to the consultation are required. 
 
An ICS for the North East and North Cumbria has been established to replace previously 
agreed Sustainability and Transformation Plans. Both arrangements have been subject to 
consideration by the County Council’s Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC although detailed 
scrutiny has been through a Sub-Regional Joint OSC set up with other local authority 
partners. 
 
The AWHOSC has actively monitored the development of the STPs and has always 
supported the need for an integrated health and social care system built upon a 
partnership of equals involving the NHS, local government and other key partners. To this 
end the proposal to place the ICS on a legal footing is supported based upon the principle 
of an integrated health and social care system based upon collaboration not competition 
and the principle of subsidiarity in decision-making. The ICS system and partnership 
working should reflect the effective collaborative action of local government and the NHS 
during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Page 65



Page 2 of 3 
 
 
Whilst supporting the objectives behind formalising ICS arrangements, there remain 
questions around how the proposed changes will be introduced particularly in respect of 
proposals for associated governance arrangements that would feature within the 
arrangements including how local government would be involved. A key feature in 
ensuring accountability within the NHS and health and social care integration is the 
statutory health scrutiny function which appears not to be referenced within the 
consultation paper. The AWH OSC would seek assurances that robust health scrutiny 
arrangements feature as part of any overarching ICS governance arrangements that are 
established in statute. 
 
The consultation promotes the idea of the NHS moving from a centralised command and 
control organisation to one in which power and resource would be devolved to integrated 
care systems. If this was truly to represent devolution of power and resource this would be 
welcomed at an ICS level provided that existing place-based collaborative partnerships for 
health and wellbeing that are overseen by health and wellbeing boards and statutory 
health OCSs are to be retained and indeed strengthened.  
 
The reference within the consultation to provider collaboratives involving all NHS provider 
trusts is something which has been considered as part of STP proposals and is particularly 
important in view of the workforce pressures facing the NHS in terms of the recruitment 
and retention of key medical staff across a number of specialised services.  
 
The importance of place-based partnerships cannot be understated and the reference to 
joint working with local authorities and the voluntary sector in this respect is again 
welcomed.  These place-based partnerships should be developed along existing 
arrangements where partnership working between the NHS and local government is truly 
embedded and matured and this should be supported with devolved resources and 
funding at that place-based level. These arrangements should include existing integrated 
care partnerships and primary care networking arrangements. 
 
County Durham has an excellent track record for health and social care integration with 
several joint appointments having been made and shared budgets in place to deliver truly 
integrated health and social care services based upon primary care networks and teams 
around patients. The AWHOSC would urge the ICS to support the existing arrangements 
within County Durham in any future place-based model.  
 
The proposed shift within the consultation paper to establish clinical commissioning groups 
along the same footprint as ICS is a departure from the current plans for the North East 
and Cumbria. The Committee has concerns about a coterminous ICS/single CCG and 
would like the opportunity to discuss any local alternative model. The AWH OSC had deep 
reservations about previously mooted plans for the merger of County Durham CCGs with 
those within the Tees Valley and would seek assurances that any future CCG model would 
retain resources within County Durham to be available for County Durham 
residents/patients. 
 
The plans to promote closer working between providers and commissioners should be 
supported along with greater parity between providers both within the NHS (i.e. acute, 
mental health, primary care, etc) and also between the NHS and other partners particularly 
social care.  

Page 66



Page 3 of 3 
 
 
As previously stated, the AWHOSC would ask NHSE to build on existing place-based 
accountability arrangements, including councils, health and wellbeing boards and health 
overview and scrutiny.  It is important that any additional governance arrangements add to, 
rather than duplicate or bypass existing arrangements. We also urge the NHS to work with 
local government partners to ensure that accountabilities within systems are as simple as 
possible and facilitate joint working towards a shared objective. 
 
The AWH OSC would ask NHS England/Improvement to recognise that patients/health 
service users do not recognise organisational boundaries and that patient flows often 
mean that people will move from one ICS and ICP to another to received services. 
Accordingly, any governance arrangements will need to reflect this, particularly in terms of 
health scrutiny. 
 
In view of the timescales within which the AWHOSC has had to respond to the 
consultation, I have agreed that an item be placed on the agenda for the committee's next 
meeting scheduled for 5th February 2021 and that ICS representatives attend this meeting 
to update members on the proposals within the consultation and what this means for the 
future of the ICS/ICP/CCG arrangements across the region and specifically County 
Durham.  
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Councillor John Robinson, 
Chair of Durham County Council’s Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Colleague 
 
Integrating Care: Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care 
systems across England 
 
Response from the North East and North Cumbria ICS to the national engagement 
exercise 
 
As system leaders in the North East and North Cumbria ICS we welcome the publication 
of ‘Integrating care – next steps to building strong and effective ICSs across England’, 
and see this is an excellent opportunity to build on our strong track record of system 
working to further improve the health of our population and the delivery of high quality, 
integrated services.   
 
Although we recognise the key benefits that our scale and critical mass can bring to our 
shared health challenges, we are pleased to see the continued emphasis on local 
clinical leadership within the guidance, as well as the importance of maintaining strong 
place-based planning and delivery arrangements, especially with our partners in local 
government and the voluntary and community sectors.  Such subsidiarity, and 
engagement with our key partners, will be crucial to ensure the effective operation of 
integrated health and care systems, and that the voices of our communities are 
represented.  
 
We agree that current legislation, and our existing more informal arrangements, do not 
provide a ‘sufficiently firm foundation for system working’, and that addressing this will 
be an important step towards the further integration of health and care and meaningful 
action to improve health.  
 
However, we would agree with the Secretary of State previous remarks that a big 
nationally-driven reorganisation would be unhelpful at this time, and that learning from 
previous experience we would welcome a more permissive and locally-led approach to 
ICS development. This flexibility will allow systems to shape their structures and 
membership to best suit the needs of their populations; this is especially important for us 
as the largest ICS area in England, with distinct sub-geographies that we need to 
support and work with via our emerging ‘Integrated Care Partnership’ (ICP) structures as 
the bridge from system to place.  We therefore urge that the minimum is put on the face 
of the bill, recognising that it may be added to as any legislation progresses. 

Waterfront 4 
Goldcrest Way 

Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle upon Tyne 

NE15 8NY 
 

Alan.foster7@nhs.net 
 

8 January 2021  
 

Page 69

mailto:Alan.foster7@nhs.net


 
In summary, we strongly support the proposed characteristics for each ICS, especially: 
• Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local government, VCSE and 

wider partners with a central role for primary care in providing joined-up care 
• Provider organisations to work through formal collaborative arrangements that allow 

them to operate at scale 
• Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus on population 

health outcomes 
• The use of digital and data to drive system working, connect health and care 

providers, improve outcomes and put the citizen at the heart of their own care.  
 
We also strongly support the four fundamental purposes of an ICS, namely: 
• improving population health and healthcare – based on the principle that ‘decisions 

taken closer to the communities they affect and with their involvement are likely to 
lead to better outcomes’ 

• tackling unequal outcomes and access; because we agree that ‘collaboration 
between partners in a place across health, care services, public health, and voluntary 
sector can overcome competing objectives and separate funding flows to help 
address health inequalities, improve outcomes, and deliver joined-up, efficient 
services for people’ 

• enhancing productivity and value for money; because ‘collaboration between 
providers across larger geographic footprints is likely to be more effective than 
competition in sustaining high quality care, tackling unequal access to services, and 
enhancing productivity.’  

• Encouraging and actively assisting helping the NHS to support broader social and 
economic development, which will be more important than as we look to rebuild the 
economy. 

 
All these proposals strongly match the ambitions for health and social care which each 
of our places has been pursuing locally over many years – and which we have 
committed to together as an ICS since 2018.  This document therefore provides a strong 
foundation for the next stage of our journey across the North East and North Cumbria. 
 
On the four questions set out in the guidance, our views are as follows: 
 
Q1. Do you agree that giving ICSs a statutory footing from 2022, alongside other 
legislative proposals, provides the right foundation for the NHS over the next 
decade? 
 
We agree that giving ICSs a statutory footing from 2022 will provide the right foundation 
for the NHS to work with its Partners in Local Government, VCSE and wider partners 
over the next decade.  This will help to create the conditions for both effective place-
based and system-level working through the duty to collaborate and the proposed 
adjustments to the legislative framework.  
 
ICSs rely on the strengths of their constituent organisations working together in 
partnership, and although we have made progress over recent years to strengthen 
system-working, not least in  managing the pressures of COVID19, we believe that the 
time is now right to establish ICSs as statutory NHS bodies. Bringing CCGs’ functions 
together into an ICS structure will deliver the clearest approach to system leadership 
and accountability and will minimise the complexity of our governance.   

Page 70



 
However, the establishment of the ICS on a statutory footing must, through its 
Partnership Board, be on the basis of respecting our place-based leadership 
arrangements, including Health and Wellbeing Boards, whilst providing an effective 
locally determined mechanism to bring them together in pursuit of shared system wide 
objectives.  Establishing locally accountable place-based arrangements to oversee the 
full range of resources for the populations they serve should be a priority for every ICS, 
creating the conditions for the deep integration of the local NHS, Local Government, 
wider public services, the VCSE and local communities to improve health outcomes and 
the delivery of health and care services. 
 
 
Q2. Do you agree that option 2 offers a model that provides greater incentive for 
collaboration alongside clarity of accountability across systems, to Parliament 
and most importantly, to patients? 
 
We agree that Option 2 will provide a greater incentive for collaboration alongside clarity 
of accountability across systems, to both patients and parliament.  Option 2 would allow 
for a more streamlined arrangement to progress the commissioning and delivery of 
system level services where it is judged that those services are best planned and 
delivered at the system level for our whole population of 3.1m.  This will also allow us to 
reduce or remove the commissioner/provider separation at a system level and reduce 
the time, effort and costs embedded into these avoidable transactional processes.  
 
The primary statutory duty to ‘secure the effective provision of health services to meet 
the needs 
of the system population, working in collaboration with partner organisations’ is very 
helpful in 
clarifying our obligations, but must not overlook our purpose to improve health, reduce 
inequalities and tackle unequal access and outcomes. 
 
We think that the ICS Partnership Board model should be constructed on the basis of 
place-based representation alongside members representing key sectors and functions 
that operate on a system-wide footprint. We believe that this model will be strengthened 
by being rooted in place and will help us to avoid the creation of a two-tier, or 
hierarchical system.    
 
3. Do you agree that, other than mandatory participation of NHS bodies and Local 
Authorities, membership should be sufficiently permissive to allow systems to 
shape their own governance arrangements to best suit their populations needs? 
 
We agree that alongside the mandatory participation of NHS bodies and Local 
Authorities, membership should be permissive enough to allow ICS to shape their own 
governance arrangements. We have clear ambitions for the membership and 
governance to be broad and open to wider public services and partners from the VCSE 
sector and welcome the opportunity that a permissive framework allows.  
 
We also agree that the potential for provider collaboratives at both place and system-
level is significant and will help us to strengthen the sustainability of our services and 
mutual aid between organisations at times of pressure.  They will also help us to 

Page 71



maximise the social value that NHS providers can bring to local places as ‘anchor 
institutions’ over the coming decade, and will 
be central to the nation’s recovery from the social and economic effects of the pandemic. 
Nevertheless, this is potentially a radical development of the FT model and will require 
much greater clarity on accountabilities and responsibilities, and for our regulators to 
adapt how they assess both organisational performance and contributions to system-
working. Similarly, we would welcome clear guidelines for ICSs and regulators on how 
they can ensure that change is enacted where there is local agreement to review the 
configuration of services and the organisational form of providers within their systems. 
 
We also think it is important that any further guidance on ICS development stresses the 
importance of engaging a wider range of partners in their governance, especially the 
VCSE. Whilst it is not appropriate in primary legislation to set out how VCSE or others 
should be engaged (as VCSE support structures vary so widely), the principle of 
engaging them in the planning, delivery and governance of health and care services, 
should be clearly spelled out in the guidance. 
 
4. Do you agree, subject to appropriate safeguards and where appropriate, that 
services currently commissioned by NHSE should be either transferred or 
delegated to ICS bodies? 
 
We agree that ICSs should take on NHSE’s commissioning functions for primary care, 
public health and specialised services. Having these powers alongside CCGs’ strategic 
commissioning responsibilities will help us tackle fragmented service pathways, by 
ensuring coordinated local decision-making, and that funding is used in the most 
effective way possible to improve outcomes for the population.  Nevertheless, the 
delegation and transfer of these responsibilities is only the means to help us improve 
health outcomes and should follow the principle of bringing decisions as close to 
communities as possible.  
 
The proposed legislation also affords the opportunity to consider the devolution of 
functions from NHS England and NHS Improvement to ensure clarity regarding their 
distinct roles and to provide maximum flexibility and synergy within the ICS. We would 
be keen to participate in a review to shape and inform how these functions work within 
an ICS.  Given the prominence of population health, workforce transformation and 
capital planning within ICS plans we would further urge you to consider the delegation to 
ICSs of those functions currently held by NHS arm’s length bodies – such as Public 
Health England, Health Education England and NHS Property Services – to ensure that 
ICSs have the local coherence, effective powers and delivery capacity to achieve their 
objectives.  This would match the work already undertaken to establish our Integrated 
Covid Hub (hosted by Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), a joint 
initiative between all our local authorities, NHS organisations and public health teams in 
the North East as our central coordination and response centre.  Reflecting on our 
experience of responding to the pandemic, and the capacity this has required to liaise 
with local partners, we also strongly believe that Emergency Planning, Preparedness 
and Response (EPRR) should become a core function of ICSs. 
 
We have noted and welcome the emphasis upon clinical leadership for ICSs and would 
wish to see early delegation to ICSs of the Cancer Alliance, organisational delivery and 
mandated clinical network from NHSE.  We have seen from Covid pressures how these 
networks can help coordinate and services whilst also providing independent clinical 

Page 72



assurance of quality and performance, functions that in the future should sit within the 
ICS. There is limited mention of quality control and assurance in the document . We 
would be keen to participate in future discussions to ensure that the quality agenda is 
owned and managed by the ICS and informed by the wider clinical community to ensure 
maximum engagement and impact.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Our experience of meeting the challenge of COVID-19 has reinforced our view that 
system-working and mutual cooperation, of the type described in this guidance – and 
respectful of existing place-based working arrangements with our partners – will provide 
a more effective mechanism for delivering a step-change in population health outcomes, 
as well as the sustainable delivery of improved service quality, financial balance and 
patient outcomes.    
 
The North East and Yorkshire (NEY) region was the first region in England to have 
100% ICS coverage, and as a result we believe the ICSs are in a very strong position to 
take on the statutory role and responsibilities outlined in the proposals. Building on the 
firm foundations, as ICSs in NEY we work closely with the regional team as part of a 
“four plus one” approach, with collective leadership from ICS leaders and the Regional 
Director. Many regional staff are already embedded within, or aligned to, the ICS. Our 
NHSEI Locality Director works directly to the ICS Executive Lead, playing a key role and 
working as a bridge between the region and the ICS.  
 
Working in this “four plus one” way has proved highly effective in managing the 
response to Covid, in service planning, performance management and development of a 
commonly agreed framework for deploying staff. This puts the ICS and the region in a 
strong position to manage any transition process.  Recognising that we will work 
together with the other ICSs in the region, through lead ICS arrangements and building 
on our “four plus one” approach, we feel that this would put all the ICSs in region in the 
strongest position to succeed. 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
Alan Foster MBE 
ICS Lead for the North East and North Cumbria 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Adults, Wellbeing and Health  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

5 February 2021 

COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Control Plan 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to receive an update on our COVID-19 
response and to receive the updated COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control 
Plan (appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 The Government requires all Local Authorities to produce a COVID-19 
Local Outbreak Control Plan. The overarching focus is to protect the 
health of local residents from COVID-19 and reduce any onward 
transmission from COVID-19. 

3 In County Durham there are established health protection assurance 
arrangements with key partners working closely on infectious diseases, 
environmental hazards and emergency preparedness and response. 
This work reports annually to the Health and Wellbeing Board and has 
stood us in good stead to establish rapid partnership arrangements, 
including with the Public Health England (PHE) North East Health 
Protection Team, for developing the COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control 
Plan and preparing for complex cases of COVID-19 and outbreaks. 

4 The work is managed by the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 
(HPAB) building on the extensive cross Council and partnership 
planning and response to COVID-19. Recent updates relate to outbreak 
prevention and control; the LA7 regional coordination or work, our use 
off Covid-19 data, the development of the COVID-19 Vaccination 
Programme and the growth of Lateral Flow Testing (LFT) programmes.  

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



Recommendation 

5 The Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to receive the updated COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Control Plan.   

Page 76



Background 

6 The Local Outbreak Control Plan for County Durham identified that 
cases would be expected to rise once restrictions were lifted and that an 
effective test, trace and isolate and outbreak management function 
would be required to contain the virus. 

7 Each local authority is expected to have its own local outbreak 
management arrangements, the COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control 
Plan, to support the national test, track and trace programme. The role 
of the local authority is to provide an oversight of COVID-19 outbreaks 
including those in complex settings such as schools, care homes and 
workplaces, as well as provide direct support to cases and contacts 
who have been asked to self-isolate through the community hubs.   
This is built on established and longstanding relationships with PHE 
North East Health Protection Team. 

Role of the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 

8 The key purpose of the Local Health Protection Assurance Board 
(HPAB) is to lead, co-ordinate and manage work to prevent the spread 
of COVID-19. 

9 The focus of local health protection work has been to undertake a risk 
assessment of settings where COVID-19 cases have arisen, providing 
public health advice and guidance, and gaining assurance that 
appropriate control measures are in place within the setting. 

10 The HPAB continues to meet on a weekly basis. The current work of the 
HPAB includes:  

 Regional oversight of LA7 work. 

 Data and intelligence analysis, including health data from County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CCDFT) and the 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 

 Developments and innovation: eg. Vaccination Programme and 
the Spike Detection Tool. 

 Settings, including educations, care homes, community, 
workplaces, University, etc. 

 PCR Testing and LFD Testing – rapid targeted community testing 
/ school testing / Uni testing / LA7 testing proposal. 

 Funding. 

Page 77



 Outbreaks.  

 Local Tracing Partnership.  

The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan 

11 The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan continues to provide a 
framework for leading, co-ordinating and managing work to prevent the 
spread of COVID-19.  

12 The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan key objectives remain: 

 Protect the health of our local communities through: 
o Provision of clear prevention messages for COVID-19; 
o Rapid detection of COVID-19 outbreaks; 
o Controlling onward transmission; 

 Provide support to those who need to self-isolate, building on our 
population health management approach to the pandemic. 

 Develop and apply intelligence, including the knowledge and 
insight providing by our local communities. 
 

13 Seven themes identified, are addressed throughout the plan. These 
are:  

 Care homes and schools 

 High risk places, locations and communities including universities 

 Local testing capacity 

 Contact tracing in complex settings  

 Data integration  

 Vulnerable people  

 Local boards 

14 The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan continues to be updated 
but the most recent copies require reformatting for publication to the 
DCC website to conform to new accessibility requirements.   

15 In addition as we enter a new phase of the pandemic with vaccines now 
being deployed the COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan with be fully 
revised in the coming months to reflect these developments.     

Covid funding  

16 The funding provided to support our Covid response and the Local 
Outbreak Control Plan is overseen by the Health Protection Assurance 
Board.  

Page 78



17 Increasing capacity across Public Health, Community Protection, 
Communications, Community Hub and Covid-19 Champions has been 
implemented. Some funding was retained for contingency and support 
to Public Health England if required. 

18 A detailed funding update will be presented at the next Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

LA7 Regional Coordination   

19 Seven North East Local Authorities (LA7) came together in October 
2020 to act as one voice as we moved into winter months.  

20 The North East already has the greatest health inequalities which have 
been exacerbated by COVID-19, both the virus itself and wider social 
and economic consequences of the virus.  

21 In line with our Local Outbreak Control Plans the LA7 have developed a 
four stage approach: 

 Informing – engaging with our local communities and being 
innovative in that approach and working collectively. 

 Understanding – using the deep understanding of our local 
communities to shape testing, test and trace, and support 
services that reflect local need. 

 Compliance – increasing the capacity and extending the existing 
compliance workforce. 

 Enforcement – having the ability to change North East 
restrictions from guidance to law to have a greater impact on 
transmission rates. 

22 The work of the LA7 also includes support for the North East 
Collaboration led by Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals providing 
integration and support for local systems, to interface seamlessly with 
NHS laboratory capacity. 

 

Covid-19 Data  

23 Local detailed information is available on our COVID-19 dashboard. The 
dashboard provides a summary of cases by rates, ages and Middle 
Super Output Area (MSOA) along with current hospital bed occupancy 
and a summary of Covid-19 deaths. 

Page 79



24 A third national lockdown legally came into force Wednesday 06 
January 2021, in response to a steep rise in cases throughout the 
country and growing admissions to hospital. 
www.gov.uk/guidance/national-lockdown-stay-at-home   

25 The next national review is planned for 15 February 2021.  

26 Previously, County Durham was placed in a new Covid Alert Level - Tier 
4 when it was introduced on the 19 December 2020.  
www.gov.uk/guidance/tier-4-stay-at-home   

Vaccination Programme 

27 Central Government accepted recommendations from the Medicines 
and Healthcare Regulatory Authority (MHRA) and approved the rollout 
for the Pfizer vaccination prioritising the over 80s population and NHS 
staff with the first patient receiving the vaccination on Tuesday 09 
December 2020.  

28 It should be noted that there are logistical difficulties with the 
transportation and storage as the vaccine requires extreme frozen 
temperatures, only lasting 5 days out of storage. For this reason people 
aged over 80, those in hospital, frontline health staff and care home 
workers have been the first to get the Pfizer vaccine at designated 
hospitals hubs and community sites across the UK. 

29 The Covid vaccination programme across County Durham started from 
University Hospital Durham on the 14 December 2020 with an initial 
three strategic sites in County Durham identified as vaccination centres, 
these are in Seaham, Newton Aycliffe and Stanley.  

30 The Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccine was approved by MHRA on the 30 
December 2020. Rollout to an ever-increasing number of vaccination 
sites began 04 January 2021.  

31 By Wednesday 06 January 2021 a total of 28,000 vaccinations had 
been administered across our CDDFT and primary care sites. These 
sites are working on a seven-day basis. 

32 On the 08 January the Moderna vaccine became third Covid-19 vaccine 
approved by MHRA, with supplies expected to arrive early spring.  

33 Those in line for the vaccine will be contacted by the NHS/GPs directly 
and will follow the identified NHS nine high-priority groups, covering 
around 30 million people representing those at most risk of dying from 
Covid-19: 

 Residents in care homes for older adults and their carers 

Page 80



 80-year-olds and over and frontline health and social care 
workers 

 75-year-olds and over 

 70-year-olds and over and clinically extremely vulnerable 
individuals 

 65-year-olds and over 

 16- to 64-year-olds with serious underlying health conditions 

 60-year-olds and over 

 55-year-olds and over 

 50-year-olds and over 

34 Planning is underway to identify those DCC staff priority groups for 
Covid vaccination. The priority groups will include, staff who deliver up 
close and personal care, with the most vulnerable members in our 
community. 

Lateral flow testing (LFT)  

35 Our aim in County Durham is to develop a rapid and targeted 
asymptomatic community testing solution to complement our local 
Covid testing sites. This would be used to support our actions to control 
the transmission of the virus in local areas, determine prevalence of the 
virus in local communities if appropriate, and to provide some of our 
very rural areas with a suitable testing option.  

36 In addition, we will focus on front line staff testing, for those who can’t 
work from home. Some national lateral flow testing programmes are 
being planned or underway that will affect us in County Durham. This 
includes the Department of Education’s schools testing programme and 
University testing programme and the Department for Health and Social 
Care’s testing for Care Homes.  

37 Durham County Council are working closely with LA7 colleagues and 
have submitted a proposal to the Government. Locally we are trying to 
align the various Lateral Flow Tests programmes available and to 
identify the best solution for County Durham. 

38 Just before the Christmas break schools were not anticipating the 
announcement of a schools testing programme.  The timing of the 
announcement was difficult after a long and hard year where our 
schools have worked tirelessly to keep up and running and keep our 

Page 81



children and young people safe whilst providing the best learning 
environment possible.  

39 The planning, logistics and deployment of the schools testing 
programme is still being worked through.  We know our current Covid 
case management within schools keeps as many children in school as 
possible.   

40 Over the first two months of 2021, we will look to introduce and use the 
schools testing programme as an enhancement to ‘Covid Secure’ 
arrangements and to deploy this across schools in the County in a 
targeted and measured way to support our actions to control the 
transmission of the virus.  

41 We will work with schools as closely as we can so that disruption is kept 
to a minimum. 

Outbreak control and community transmission  

42 As cases increased rapidly at the beginning of September 2020 and we 
experience high rates of community transmission NHS Test and Trace 
began to escalate cases to Public Health England (PHE) North East 
Health Protection Team (HPT). This increase in volume meant the HPT 
system and response slowed due to the volume of calls. 

43 Joint management arrangements with PHE were revised and Local 
Authorities were asked to follow up single cases on schools and 
workplaces and to allow HPT to focus on complex cases and settings 
and to support local authorities in managing outbreaks. 

44 Since 31st August 2020 the public health team have supported more 
than 2,535 reports and enquiries from settings.  

45 Other developments include the implementation of our Enhanced 
Support Framework providing a rapid process for detecting, 
investigating and responding to local spikes in COVID-19 cases across 
County Durham utilising our community spike outbreak control group.    

County Durham Together Community Hub – Local Tracing 
Partnership 

46 Local Authorities were offered the opportunity by Department of Health 
and Social Care (DHSC) to develop local contact tracing partnerships, 
whereby positive cases, who have not been reached by the NHS Test 
and Trace central team after 24 hours, are passed to Local Authority 
teams for follow up. 

Page 82



47 In County Durham, the work of the Local Tracing Partnership will be 
part of the testing element within the Local Outbreak Control Plan and 
governance will be via the Health Protection Assurance Board with links 
to the LRF Community and Compliance Cells and the Outbreak Control 
Team.  

48 Operationally the programme will sit within the remit of County Durham 
Together Community Hub in partnership with Public Health. This 
enables the development of a blended model of case and contact 
management that supports a graded response based upon vulnerability 
and inequalities underpinned by: 

 Infection Prevention and Control measures. 

 Population Health Management. 

 County Durham wellbeing principles. 

49 County Durham Local Tracing Partnership went live 04 January 2021. 

Main Implications 

50 Ability for all settings to respond rapidly to any outbreak situation. 

Background papers 

 Included in Plan 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Amanda Healy Tel:  03000 264323 

Page 83



   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
Health Protection: Legal and Policy Context1  

The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which present a 
risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and management sits:  

 With Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
 With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
 With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control of 

Disease) Act 1984  
 With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups2 to collaborate with Directors of 

Public Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing and 
treating) to assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012  

 With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents 
as part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

 In the context of COVID-19 there is also the Coronavirus Act 2020.  

Finance  
Funding being provided by government. 
 
Staffing 
Staff time to implement the plan.  
 
Risk 
Unknown due to the nature of COVID-19. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Community Hub has been developed to support vulnerable individuals. 
 
Accommodation 
No impact. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
No impact. 
 
Human Rights  
No impact. 

 
1 ADPH, FPH, PHE, LGA et al (2020) Public Health Leadership, Multi-Agency Capability: Guiding Principles 
for Effective Management of COVID-19 at a Local Level. https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf 

Page 84



 
Consultation   
Full consultation not possible due to impact of COVID-19. 
 
Procurement   
No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to 
services that impact on the health of the population. 
 
Disability Issues    
No impact. 
 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

V2 – 01/11/20   1 
 

 
 

County Durham  

COVID-19  

Local Outbreak 
Control Plan  

 

November 2020 

 

Page 87



 
 

V2 – 01/11/20   2 
 

Version control 

 

Name of document: County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
Control Plan 

Owner: COVID-19 Health Protection Assurance Board 

Author: Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham 
County Council 

 

 

Version Control Document comments: Review date: 

V1 – 29/06/20 Draft copy published on DCC 
website 29/06/20 

14/07/20 

V1.1 – 14/07/20 Endorsed by H&WB Board on 
14/07/20 

14/08/20 

V1.1 – 13/08/20 Document reviewed. No content 
updated. Agreed to be updated for 
the H&WB Board 11/09/20 

11/09/20 

V2 – 11/09/20 Data removed from introduction as 
out of date.  Version to be shared 
with H&WB Board on 11/09/20 

01/11/20 

V2 – 01/11/20 Requires refresh for accessibility 
and development and deployment of 
Covid-19 vaccine. Amendments to 
be completed by end of Feb 2021 

01/03/21 

 
 

 

Page 88



 
 

V2 – 01/11/20   3 
 

Contents page 

 Page 
number 

Section one 

 Foreword 5 

 Introduction 6 

 Purpose 7 

 Funding 7 

Section 2 

 The Plan 8 

 Background 9 

 Data 11 

 Principles 14 

 Communications 16 

 Community engagement  16 

Section 3 

 Governance 17 

 Local Health Protection Assurance Board 17 

 Health and Wellbeing Board 19 

 Corporate Oversight 19 

 Local Resilience Forum 20 

 Regional Oversight Group 20 

 Outbreak communication principles 20 

 Outbreak communication plan 21 

 Local testing capacity 22 

 Escalation and local lockdown restrictions 22 

Page 89



 
 

V2 – 01/11/20   4 
 

 Outbreak control teams (OCTs) 24 

 Out of hours arrangements 25 

Section 4 

 Supporting vulnerable people: The Community Hub 
 Settings 

o Care homes  
o Schools  
o Higher education establishments 
o Healthcare settings 
o High risk places, locations and communities 
o Workplaces 
o Prisons 

26 
28 
28 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
36 

Section 5  

 Next steps 37 

 Conclusion 37 

 Feedback 37 

Appendices  

 Appendix 1 - Guidance NHS test and trace: how it 
works 

38 

 Appendix 2 - Health Protection: Legal and Policy 
Context   

40 

 Appendix 3 - Durham County Council COVID-19 
Local Health Protection Assurance Board Terms of 
Reference 

43 

 Appendix 4 - Testing within the context of outbreak 
control in relation to Local Authority requirements 

46 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

V2 – 01/11/20   5 
 

 
Foreword from Cllr Lucy Hovvels MBE and Dr Stewart 
Findlay 

 
We would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the sadness 
experienced across our communities for the loss of life there has been and 
express our thanks to all NHS and social care colleagues, care workers and 
key workers who have worked extremely hard throughout the pandemic to 
ensure that service delivery is continued. 
 
We are extremely proud of the way our partners and communities have 
responded to the challenges of COVID-19. The measures we have needed to 
take to keep us safe have changed the way that we all live, work, learn and 
travel.  
 
As we enter the next phase of the pandemic it is crucial for everyone in 
County Durham to continue to follow government and public health advice and 
social distancing rules. This may mean that people will be asked to self-isolate 
for periods in order to help stop the spread of the virus.  
 
The ‘County Durham Together’ community hub will support those who require 
additional assistance during this challenging time. 
 
Our County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan is a working 
document which will reflect the fast-moving changing circumstances of this 
pandemic to protect the health of our communities.  The Health and Wellbeing 
Board, as the local Outbreak Engagement Board, will aim to keep local people 
up to date on the actions taken to reduce health inequalities and the spread of 
the virus.  
 
The challenges posed and exacerbated by COVID-19 are not going to be 
resolved quickly. However, by working with our communities and our partners, 
we will help to protect the health of our residents. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lucy Hovvels MBE   Dr Stewart Findlay 
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board   Vice Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and    Chief Officer, County Durham Clinical 
Health Services      Commissioning Group

Page 91



 

V2 – 01/11/20   6 
 

 
Introduction 

 
County Durham is a forward-thinking county with a strong sense of 
community. It has a population of 526,980 residents and covers 862 miles, 
from coast to dales, from villages to Durham City. 

County Durham has a clear vision for its residents to have more and better 
jobs, long and independent lives and connected communities that are 
supportive of one another. There remain significant differences in health 
across County Durham and between County Durham and England which 
makes achieving the vision even more important. 

The coronavirus pandemic is one of the most profound challenges society and 
our local communities have faced in more than a generation and with effective 
vaccines yet to be produced, we have to anticipate that society will be affected 
by COVID-19 for some time to come.  

The council and its partners had emergency and business continuity 
management planning frameworks in place, which enabled us to respond 
promptly to the threat as it emerged.  However, we have had to respond 
dynamically and innovatively revising our approach as the national 
coronavirus action plan and recovery strategy evolved. The Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF) declared a major incident and instigated the system response to 
the pandemic. The work has required us to follow national policy and 
guidance. 

The council has worked nationally, regionally and locally to protect our 
communities and to support those affected by the pandemic, economically, 
socially and in relation to their own physical and mental health. This has 
included establishing a ‘County Durham Together’ community hub to protect 
those who require additional support. 

County Durham communities themselves have been a major force in this and 
have made an immense contribution to the ‘County Durham Together’ 
response. County Durham residents have observed and cooperated with 
national guidance and while the lockdown restrictions are beginning to be 
relaxed for many, the council will continue to support the many thousands of 
residents who are still shielding and self-isolating. 

This next phase of the pandemic is crucial for us in County Durham as we 
seek to fulfil Vision 2035, address the impact that COVID-19 has had on our 
communities to date and seek to slow the transmission of COVID-19 within 
our communities with the development of the local outbreak plan.  

Page 92



 

V2 – 01/11/20   7 
 

The plan is built on established and longstanding relationships with Public 
Health England (PHE) North East Health Protection Team. 

The latest publicly available data for the County Durham and Darlington LRF 
and both local authorities is available via Durham Insight. 

 
Purpose  

 
In County Durham there are established health protection assurance 
arrangements with key partners working closely on infectious diseases, 
environmental hazards and emergency preparedness and response. This 
work reports annually to the Health and Wellbeing Board and has stood us in 
good stead to establish rapid partnership arrangements, including with the 
PHE North East Health Protection Team, for developing the COVID-19 local 
outbreak plan and preparing for complex cases of COVID-19 and outbreaks. 

The overarching focus is to protect the health of local residents from COVID-
19 and reduce any onward transmission from COVID-19. 

We have also built on the extensive cross Council and partnership planning 
and response to COVID-19. 

  
Funding 

 
The Government has allocated £4.5 million to County Durham for managing 
COVID-19 outbreaks. It is anticipated that this will be required to support: 

 Capacity. Increasing the capacity to respond rapidly and in a sustained 
way over the next 12 months. A proposal is in development for this and 
includes out of hours arrangements and a more dedicated team to co-
ordinate and manage outbreaks across the partnership. 

 Contingency to support contact tracing. This would be if specialist public 
health capacity and contact tracing expertise was required within Public 
Health England Health Protection Team. 

 Community engagement. This will build on our wellbeing principles and 
existing arrangements including Area Action Partnerships (AAP’s) and 
seek to pro-actively engage residents in prevention of COVID-19 and 
support to local residents needing to self-isolate. This work will build on 
existing infrastructures including social prescribing link workers and 
health advocates. 

 Support for vulnerable people. This will continue to take place via the 
‘County Durham Together’ community hub. 

Page 93



 

V2 – 01/11/20   8 
 

 Commissioned services. Scope to support and enhance key services 
(infection prevention and control for example) is being explored. 

 
The grant is referred to as ringfenced, meaning it can only be spent for 
designated purposes (as deemed appropriate by the Department of Health 
and Social Care). The purpose of the grant - cited as the Local Authority Test 
and Trace Service Support Grant Determination (2020/21) [No 31/5075] - is to 
provide support to Local Authorities in England towards expenditure lawfully 
incurred or to be incurred in relation to the mitigation against and management 
of local outbreaks of COVID-19. 

 
The Plan 

 
The Government requires all Local Authorities to produce a COVID-19 Local 
Outbreak Control Plan  

The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan has the following key objectives: 

 Protect the health of our local communities through: 
o Provision of clear prevention messages in relation to COVID-19; 
o Rapid detection of COVID-19 outbreaks; 
o Controlling onward transmission; 

 Provide support to those who need to self-isolate building on our 
population health management approach to the pandemic; 

 Develop and apply intelligence, including the knowledge and insight 
providing by our local communities. 

 
The government has identified seven themes that are addressed in this plan.  
The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan will centre on 7 themes: 
 

 Care homes and schools. 
 High risk places, locations and communities.  
 Local testing capacity. 
 Contact tracing in complex settings.  
 Data integration.  
 Vulnerable people.  
 Local boards.  

 
As this is a working document, reflecting a dynamic situation, it is anticipated 
that it will require updating as appropriate.  
  

Page 94



 

V2 – 01/11/20   9 
 

 
Background  

 
An increase in cases of COVID-19 is anticipated with the relaxing of lockdown 
measures. This requires a different approach to controlling transmission of the 
virus. The national NHS Trace and Test Service has been introduced to 
ensure that anyone who develops symptoms can be tested, and action taken 
to prevent spread of the virus by promoting isolation of individuals who test 
positive, and those who have been in close contact with them.  An added 
concern is asymptomatic transmission, which further emphasizes the 
importance of prevention. 

Currently there remains no vaccine for SARS-CoV-2 or cure for COVID-19. 
Community transmission of the virus continues across the UK and there is the 
prospect of imported cases as international travel restrictions are eased.  

Testing among the public has been extended, in order to identify if an 
individual is infected with the virus. This process is part of the NHS Test and 
Trace Service (see Appendix 1).  

These new arrangements will be challenging for many of our communities as 
the impact of COVID-19 infection risk is felt by those directly affected by the 
virus who will need to self-isolate immediately and may need support to do so, 
their families and social contacts and their employers.  The effects may ripple 
across the local economy and the local health, social care and welfare 
system.  

Identification of a suspected outbreak 

There are three possible routes through which information flows and an 
outbreak may be identified: 

 NHS Test and Trace. This service receives positive COVID-19 lab tests 
results, contacts the individual case and seeks information on close 
contacts. 

 Public Health England’s local Health Protection Team continue to be 
notified of suspected cases of notifiable diseases and potential 
outbreaks in various settings. 

 Local intelligence may identify cases that require further investigation 
and control. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 

V2 – 01/11/20   10 
 

Outbreak management 

At the moment it would usually be the role of the local Health Protection Team 
in Public Health England to bring together partners to discuss the 
circumstances around a suspected outbreak in the local area, and for this 
group to decide whether a formal Outbreak Control Team meeting should be 
set up. Part of the decision-making process would be agreed definitions of an 
outbreak (see Box 1). 

The Health Protection Team at Public Health England provide support to 
prevent and reduce the effect of infectious diseases. 

The following diagram shows how outbreaks in the North East are jointly 
managed between Health Protection Team and Local Authorities (see Figure 
2). 

Figure 2 joint management arrangements between PHE/DCC  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



 

V2 – 01/11/20   11 
 

Box 1: Definition of an outbreak in a non-clinical setting 

 
Definition of an outbreak of COVID-19 in a non-clinical setting 

Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 among individuals associated with 
a specific setting with onset dates within 14 days.  

AND ONE OF: 

Identified direct exposure between at least two of the confirmed cases in that 
setting (e.g. within 2 metres for more than 15 minutes) during the infectious 
period of the presumed index case. 

OR 

(When there is no sustained community transmission or equivalent risk level 
assessed by the Joint Biosecurity Centre) - absence of alternative source of 
infection outside the setting for initially identified cases. 

Closure of Outbreak 

The decision to declare the outbreak over should be informed by on-going risk 
assessment and when: 

No confirmed cases with onset dates in the last 28 days in that setting (higher 
threshold for outbreaks compared to clusters). 

 

 
Data  

 
The integration of both national and local data and intelligence is essential for 
scenario planning, rapid response to outbreaks in order to inform and support 
more effective targeting of interventions to prevent and manage outbreaks. 
and performance review. The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan will set 
out the arrangements, including national, regional and local roles and 
responsibilities, for monitoring and reporting available testing and tracing data. 
This will: 

 Be used to identify and manage local outbreaks.  
 Be based on existing and developing data sharing and reporting 

arrangements. 
 Will include the necessary information governance protocols and 

arrangements. 
 National guidance specifically identifies care homes and schools as 

requiring outbreak management plans. 

Page 97



 

V2 – 01/11/20   12 
 

 Ensure that all data from national, local and NHS sources are brought 
together to inform clear and decisive decision making to prevent, 
identify and control outbreaks and identify high risk settings, locations 
and communities.  

 
NHSX have provided updated COVID-19 Information governance advice for 
IG professionals relating to the sharing of data which advises ‘the legal 
framework has flexibility when it comes to the processing of information. 
Information relating to the COVID-19 outbreak should be shared as needed to 
support individual care and to help tackle the disease through research and 
planning during the COVID-19 situation. The focus should be to ensure the 
risk of damage, harm or distress being caused to individual residents and 
service users is kept to a minimum and that data is only processed where it is 
necessary to do so and in an appropriate manner.’ 

Further to this a COVID-19 Testing Rapid Data Sharing Contract between 
Public Health England and Durham County Council has been signed to allow 
for the provision of a weekly feed relating to point level positive testing data 
(Pillars 1 and 2). This agreement states that for all positive tests recorded from 
June 1st 2020, assigned to the local authority, PHE will provide the following 
data items on a weekly basis: 
 

 Record ID 
 Sex 
 Age  
 Postcode 
 Ethnic Group 
 Occupation (patient occupational group) 
 Key worker (Patient key worker status) 
 Test Date (date of COVID-19 test or specimen test) 
 Pillar (COVID-19 test location type - laboratory, mobile testing station, 

home test) 
 
COVID-19 tests in the UK are currently carried out through two main routes: 

Pillar 1: Local swab testing in NHS hospitals for those with a clinical need, 
and health and care workers, processed in PHE laboratories. Pillar 1 data for 
England is provided by the NHS and PHE.  

Pillar 2: Swab testing for the wider population, as set out in government 
guidance. Pillar 2 swab testing and processing is carried out in partnership 
between the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC), commercial 
organisations and the military. Swab testing through takes place through 
regional testing sites, mobile testing units, and self-testing. 

Page 98



 

V2 – 01/11/20   13 
 

Durham County Council is developing an interactive mapping tool which 
presents location specific lab-confirmed tests (via the PHE positive testing data 
set) combined with a broad range of spatial data relating to settings and risks.  
This Risk and Outbreak map will be used to help iidentify and mange 
outbreaks over time spatially and by setting, and populations at risk of further 
outbreak whilst providing intelligence to support prevention activity: The 
following settings and risks have, or are in the process of, being identified and 
added to the developing mapping tool: 

 Durham County Council owned premises including office buildings and 
depots, libraries, leisure centres and day centres. 

 Schools. 
 High risk accommodation settings including care homes, children’s 

homes, prisons, houses of multiple occupation, hospitals and hospices. 
 High risk employer or business settings that are workplaces including 

business type (such as manufacturing), hospitality venues (restaurants, 
pubs), tourism and leisure venues (such as major tourist attractions, 
cinemas, theatres) and sports venues. This also includes other 
workplaces and private commercial properties such as retail, offices and 
leisure services (such as gyms, hairdressers, barbers, beauticians etc).  

 High risk communities including older people, Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME), Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT). 

 Population density by small area level. 
 Index of Multiple Deprivation. 
 The Small Area Vulnerability Index (SAVI)1 

Currently, there several different data sources and organisations that feed into 
local surveillance. The different data feeds are collated centrally by the DHSC. 
Access to national datasets has been evolving over time and has been 
changing on a regular basis, culminating in the recent access to granular level 
positive testing data via PHE as previously detailed. 

Incoming data to Durham County Council relating to testing can be seen in 
table 1.  

Table 1. Current incoming testing data by frequency and source 

Frequency Name Coverage Source 

Daily  PHE C19 report (P1 and P2) North East LA PHE 
  PHE Exceedance report (P1 and 

P2) North East LA PHE 
  PHE Contact Tracing UTLA Report 

(P2) North East LA PHE 
  COVID-19 Testing (P1, local feed) County Durham, P1, LSOA CDDFT 

 
1 Small Area Vulnerability Index, Place Based Longitudinal Data Resource. June 2020.  
https://pldr.org/dataset/e6kl0/small-area-vulnerability-index-savi 

Page 99



 

V2 – 01/11/20   14 
 

  CDDFT COVID-19 care homes 
testing (P1) Care Home CDDFT 

Daily dashboard 
COVID-19 LA Testing dashboard 
(P1 and P2)  National LAs NHS Digital 

Weekly reports 
and data 

PHE Test and Trace weekly report 
(P2) North East LA PHE 
PHE Weekly Care Home 
Outbreaks National LA PHE/CQC 
PHE Weekly C19 report (P1 and 
P2) North East LA   PHE 

 
COVID-19 Positive Test Data 

County Durham, 
individual level PHE 

As required PHE HPT escalated issues  By setting PHE HPT 
NB: P= Pillar 

 
Risks 

 There is a requirement to fully understand the various national data 
feeds that are available to local authorities, and to ensure consistency 
across the various reporting platforms (PHE Surveillance reports, NHSD 
COVID-19 dashboard, local intelligence). 

 Data identified via Data Sharing Agreements must be consistent and 
timely.  

 Identification of data gaps in national and local data sets should 
continue to be prioritised.  

 The developing Outbreak and Risk map and testing dashboard must be 
able to present critical information and analysis to inform local decision 
making, community support activity and performance review. 

Next steps  

 Continued development of the local risk and outbreak map. 
 A local testing dashboard is being developed building on the intelligence 

contained in the various daily and weekly reports to enable daily 
monitoring of key measures. This will be as pro-active and transparent 
and accessible as possible in relation to the wide range of data. 

 Further develop reporting specifications for the developing dashboard 
ensuring coverage of all themes.  

 Continue to ensure appropriate use of terminology such as outbreak or 
cluster. 
 

  
Principles  

 
The plan has been developed in line with the four principles, based on the 
work of the Association of Directors of Public Health and Public Health 

Page 100



 

V2 – 01/11/20   15 
 

England, for the design and operationalisation of Local Outbreak Plans and 
arrangements, including local plans for contact tracing. These will be used to 
ensure that arrangements have been developed in a way which will enable 
maximum impact and effectiveness.   

The prevention and management of the transmission of COVID-19 should:   

 be rooted in public health systems and leadership;   
 adopt a whole system approach;   
 be delivered through an efficient and locally effective and responsive 

system including being informed by timely access to data and 
intelligence;   

 be sufficiently resourced. 
 

These principles have been supplemented with our local wellbeing principles, 
which are part of the County Durham Vision 2035 and which recognise that 
good mental and physical health is essential for individuals, families and 
communities to thrive. Six principles have been developed, which provide a 
framework to ensure that all policies, guidance and services are developed 
with wellbeing in mind (see Figure 3).  

Figure 3. The Wellbeing Principles 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal and policy elements relevant to the current work are described in 
Appendix 2.  

Page 101



 

V2 – 01/11/20   16 
 

  
Communications 

 
Clear and timely communication plays a key part of any effective outbreak 
response. This is even more important now, given the heightened community 
concerns brought on by coronavirus. The aim of the outbreak communication 
is to communicate in ways that build and maintain trust between local 
communities and the Local Health Protection Assurance Group/Local 
Outbreak Engagement Board.  Without this trust, our communities will not 
believe, or act on, the health information that is communicated by Public 
Health during a local outbreak and will be less inclined to work with us to 
develop local intelligence on infection risks and control.  

Local communications and actions are aligned with Public Health England and 
always work with local, regional and national partners as appropriate and 
when required for the best outcomes for our communities and the reduction of 
community transmission.  

  
Community engagement 

 
In the current situation, many people are feeling that they do not have control 
within their lives, and many of the fundamental enhancers to life have been 
removed, such as access to family and friends and other social activities. 
Many of the requirements of lockdown have come from government, with no 
discussion with local people as to what it means to them or how they will cope. 
Most people locally have accepted the restrictions placed on them, 
recognising that this is critically important if the pandemic is to be curbed.  
Indeed, there have been huge numbers of people who have volunteered to 
help support overcoming the crisis, which has become a key part of the 
‘County Durham Together’ response and based on the Wellbeing Principles. 

The plan has been developed under tight time constraints, which has meant 
that there has been limited involvement of local people. However, the public’s 
views have been sought through a range of methods, including staff and 
resident surveys. This will continue and where possible, there will be further 
methods of including the public as the plan progresses, is monitored and 
reviewed.  

Risks  
 People refuse to co-operate, having lost trust with the government 

and/or local authority. 
 
 

Page 102



 

V2 – 01/11/20   17 
 

Next steps  
 Residents is being adapted for current situation and will be administered 

in the near future. 
 A clear communications plan is being developed in order to inform 

residents of current situation and will be adapted as required. 
 

  
Governance  

 
Figure 4 summarises the overall governance framework for COVID-19 
outbreak control within the context of managing the county’s wider response 
to the pandemic. 

Figure 4:  Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Planning and 
Governance 
 

 
 
 

  
Local Health Protection Assurance Board  

 
The key purpose of the Local Health Protection Assurance Board is to lead, 
co-ordinate and manage work to prevent the spread of COVID-19.  As such it 
links with and supports wider work to help the county and its communities 
recover from the pandemic and restore some normality. 

Page 103



 

V2 – 01/11/20   18 
 

The Board meets on a weekly basis and the Terms of Reference which define 
the purpose and structure of the Board are attached as Appendix 3. It has 
developed the County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan (the 
current document) to provide a framework for leading, coordinating and 
managing the outbreak prevention and control process.  

The key priorities of the Board are to: 

 provide a framework for leading, co-ordinating and managing the 
spread of COVID-19 including prevention and outbreak control and 
management;  

 establish the support mechanisms Durham County Council (DCC) will 
provide to the Public Health England (PHE) Test and Trace Service;  

 build on the established public health protection role and responsibilities 
of the local authority to manage outbreaks in specific settings; 

 identify further action that might be required, including considering the 
impact on and needs of local communities; 

 understand the local health, social and wellbeing challenges of COVID-
19; 

 support the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board in engaging the 
public, led by Cabinet Portfolio for Adult and Health Services. 

The Board is chaired by the Director of Public Health and supported by a 
Consultant in Public Health (health protection) and Public Health Programme 
Manager. 

Key strategic stakeholders are part of the Board to span the elements of the 
local outbreak plan including: 

 NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and NHS system lead. 

 Health and Safety Executive (HSE). 

 Durham University. 

 LRF Data Cell interface. 

 DCC – public health, community protection, community support hub, 
partnerships and community engagement, emergency planning, and 
response, commissioning, education and communications. 

Clear roles and responsibilities have been set out for key stakeholders. 

Page 104



 

V2 – 01/11/20   19 
 

The Board has used the existing PHE North East Outbreak Control Guidance 
and the Standard Operating Procedure for outbreaks, developed by PHE in 
collaboration with local authorities to develop terms of reference.  

There is an established and very strong arrangement between the Director of 
Public Health, Head of Community Protection and PHE Health Protection 
Team and our professional colleagues in neighbouring authorities.  

  
Health and Wellbeing Board  

 
The Health Protection Assurance Board reports formally to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will be the Member-led board engaging with 
residents about the County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is well placed to fulfil this function with a wide 
range of partners including Healthwatch, NHS Foundation Trusts, County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Clinical Commissioning Group, Corporate Directors for Adults, 
Children and Director of Public Health 

The Board is Chaired by Cllr Lucy Hovvels MBE, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Adult and Health Services.  In addition, there are two other Cabinet members 
on the Health and Wellbeing Board, Cllr Olwyn Gunn Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Young People’s Services and Cllr Joy Allen, Portfolio Holder for 
Transformation, Culture and Tourism. 

The County Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan will also be 
shared with the Adult and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and will 
be the focus of a future scrutiny committee. 

  
Corporate Oversight  

 
Internal to Durham County Council, the outbreak control arrangements report 
to the existing Restoration and Recovery groups to ensure close linkage to all 
COVID-19 plans and to Corporate Management Team to provide clear 
corporate oversight of the work. 

 

Page 105



 

V2 – 01/11/20   20 
 

  
Local Resilience Forum  

 
There is also a clear interface with the County Durham and Darlington Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF). The forum has stood-up a Strategic Co-ordinating 
Group (SCG) and supporting cells and groups, under the overall strategic 
command of the Deputy Chief Constable for Durham and Darlington.  Durham 
County Council strategic command has been provided by the Chief Executive 
and Corporate Directors who have been key members of the SCG.  The 
council’s Director of Public Health has also been a member of the LRF SCG. 

LRF strategic oversight will transfer from the SCG to a Strategic Recovery 
Group (SRG) at the end of June 2020, which will be chaired by the Chief 
Executive of Durham County Council.  This will enable close oversight of 
testing and outbreak management arrangements and coordination with wider 
recovery planning. 

 

  
Regional Oversight Group  

 
A regional oversight group for Local Outbreak Plans is being stood-up. The 
Chief Executive of Durham County Council will be the LA7 Lead Chief 
Executive on this regional oversight group.  The council’s Director of Public 
Health, the North East chair of the Association of Directors of Public Health 
will also be a member of this group. 

  
Outbreak communication principles 

 
A set of outbreak communication principles that shape and inform our 
communication plan have been developed by WHO2. These include:  

 ensuring identified and at-risk populations have the information they 
need to make well-informed decisions and to take appropriate actions to 
protect their health during a local outbreak;  

 supporting coordination and the efficient use of communication 
resources among local partners and stakeholders;  

 
2 https://www.who.int/ihr/publications/outbreak-communication-guide/en/   
 

Page 106



 

V2 – 01/11/20   21 
 

 providing relevant public health information to identified audiences;  

 minimising sensationalist media;     

 minimising social and economic disruption;  

 maintaining and building public trust in public health communications.  

   
Outbreak communication plan 

 
A local communication plan has been developed to cover the following 
themes:   

 Infection prevention measures; 
 Awareness raising, promotion and signposting of NHS Test and Trace;  
 Engagement and call to action for everyone to play their part; 
 Communication support for the Local Health Protection Assurance 

Group / Local Outbreak Engagement Board; 
 Pro-active communication support for outbreak teams and outbreak 

themes, based on our wellbeing principles; 
 Support for those in self-isolation; 
 Support for the community experiencing an outbreak; 
 Reactive communications to promote factual coverage of issues, limit 

rumour and provide wrap-around support for affected communities.  
 Risks  

 Lack of clarity in national to local responsibility of both proactive and 
reactive communications. 

 National / Local repeated or misaligned communications.  
 Slow or unclear communication. 
 Media sensationalising an outbreak / Fake news / testing myths. 
 Poor communication reach resulting in low engagement with testing and 

self-isolation. 
 Over saturation on coronavirus messaging leading to public confusion / 

apathy. 
 Lost trust with the government and/or local authority. 

 
Next steps 

 Test and Trace Awareness Raising Campaign.  
 Play your part campaign.  
 Communication support for outbreaks teams. 
 Ongoing communication support for any outbreaks.  

 

Page 107



 

V2 – 01/11/20   22 
 

  
Local testing capacity 

 
The reason for testing for infectious diseases is to determine whether 
someone is infected with that disease. This can help in both the control of 
transmission of the infection and help the management of suspected cases 
and situations.  Further detail can be found in Appendix 4. 

As noted above, our outbreak control arrangements will use two pillars from 
the national testing framework: 

 Pillar 1: Scaling up NHS swab testing for those with a medical need 
and, where possible, the most critical key workers. 

 Pillar 2: Mass-swab testing for critical key workers in the NHS, social 
care and other sectors. 

Risks  
 
There are two key risks associated with testing: a) lack of local testing 
capacity to rapidly respond to local outbreaks and contribute to control 
measures, and b) potential delays in the timeliness and accuracy of 
notifications through Pillar 2 to enable a sufficiently rapid local response to an 
active outbreak. 
 
Next steps 

There are ongoing developments in the following areas: 

 Mobile testing units - it is expected that the number of these units within 
the Region will double during the course of June/July, and there are 
ongoing discussions as to how they can support local outbreak 
management; 

 Testing in care homes - there is currently a proposal being considered 
on using Pillar 1 to conduct testing in whole homes;  

 Pilots in schools - under the auspices of the Department for Education, 
schools are being asked if they would like to participate in a prevalence 
study of COVID-19. 
 

  
Escalation and local lockdown restrictions 

 
The Heath Protection Team and the Director of Public Health will escalate the 
incident, in keeping with the agreed joint management of COVID-19 working 
arrangements if: 

Page 108



 

V2 – 01/11/20   23 
 

 
 There are increased numbers of cases in a workplace or healthcare setting.  
 There are linked cases in the community or supply chain.  
 Media / political interest. 

 
The Government (as of 3rd July) have developed an approach for controlling future 
local outbreaks which has five principle components: monitoring, engagement, 
testing, targeted restrictions and finally, as a last resort, lockdown. 
 

 First, monitoring. Public Health England, working with the Joint Biosecurity 
Centre, will examine carefully data on the spread of the disease and people’s 
behaviour across the country. They will look out for emerging trends, rising 
case numbers and other indicators, while taking into account local factors and 
work closely with the Director of Public Health. 

 
 Second, engagement. If monitoring identifies local problems, NHS Test and 

Trace and PHE will work with the relevant local authority to develop a deeper 
understanding of the problem and identify solutions.  Communication with 
residents will be a key part of this, ensuring that residents are informed and 
know what is happening. This ties in closely with the communications and 
engagement work. 

 
 Third, testing. Substantial testing capacity is being developed nationwide 

and this should provide the ability to target capacity at local areas in order to 
support emerging outbreaks as appropriate. Scaled-up testing at a local level, 
combined with contract tracing through NHS Test and Trace and the local 
PHE Health Protection Team, will seek to implement control measures as 
rapidly as possible to slow the spread. 

 
 Fourth, targeted restrictions. If the virus continues to spread, activities will 

be restricted at certain locations and close individual premises. This will be 
combined with local testing of contacts. Further guidance is awaited from 
Government of the legal powers required to carry this out. 

 
 Fifth, local lockdown. If the previous measures have not proven to be 

enough, the Government will introduce local lockdowns extending across 
whole communities. That could mean shutting businesses venues that would 
otherwise be open, closing schools or urging people once more to stay at 
home. Local lockdowns will be carefully calibrated depending on the scientific 
and specific circumstances of each outbreak and we are continually exploring 
smarter means of containing the virus. 

 
Further detail is expected from Government in relation to this escalation process. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 

V2 – 01/11/20   24 
 

  
Outbreak Control Teams (OCTs) 

 
COVID-19 outbreaks will follow the Public Health England (PHE) joint 
management arrangements as agreed, which are based on well established 
guidelines. Arrangements between PHE and the Local Authority have been 
agreed via and overarching Standard Operating Procedure and then several 
Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), based on different settings. 

In the case of an unusual number of cases or particularly complex situation 
(e.g. multiple cases in a setting; high levels of anxiety or interest from media 
or other organisations), a multi-agency Outbreak Control Team (OCT) will be 
set up by PHE to review the situation and agree actions/required leadership of 
the situation.  It is difficult to predict the likely frequency of occurrence of such 
critical incidents that PHE will lead on an OCT.   

The Director of Public Health and the Health Protection Assurance Board will 
work closely with PHE if an OCT is required. In anticipation of key outbreaks 
identified in the PHE SOP the proposed governance is set out in Figure 5. 

Each OCT will have standard OCT guidance agreed. It is the intention to draw 
on existing local authority expertise depending on the setting or group of 
people affected, such as school, workplace, prison etc. This will align to the 
existing COVID-19 guidance being used in key settings and with the general 
public. 

Plans are in place in readiness for a call from PHE to convene an OCT. These 
are supported by a suite of papers for each setting, which include: 

 Relevant SOP. 
 Terms of Reference and membership. 
 Agendas, Action and Decision log, Update forms. 

 
The governance structure for OCTs is summarised in figure 5.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

V2 – 01/11/20   25 
 

Figure 5. Governance around Local OCTs  

 

It is unclear what local arrangements would be for any ‘lockdown’ situation 
and further clarity is required nationally in relation to this. 

  
Out of hours arrangements 

 
The contact tracing cell at Public Health England will be operational 8am-8pm 
7 days a week and need to be multi-agency arrangements with a Single Point 
of Contact (SPOC) in place to support this. 

A SPOC is in place with a dedicated email address for intelligence and 
escalation from Public Health England to the Local Authority. An out of hours 
rota is also in place to support any incident.  

While incidents in healthcare settings will be managed by the healthcare 
organisation there is an expectation that the Director of Public Health, Deputy 
Director of Public Health or Consultant in Public Health will be part of an 
Outbreak Control Team 

Out of hours arrangements are a risk due to senior capacity within the Public 
Health Team and Environmental Health Team as well as other service areas. 
This is being addressed. 

Page 111



 

V2 – 01/11/20   26 
 

 

  
Supporting vulnerable people: The Community Hub 

 
The LRF declared a major incident in March 2020 and instigated the system 
response to the pandemic.  A community support cell was established and 
tasked with setting up a community hub (County Durham Together 
Community Hub) to protect those both clinically vulnerable to COVID-19 
(shielded) and those who had become socially vulnerable due to the virus 
infection containment measures.  The hub was established to coordinate food 
provision, social contact, welfare support, volunteering and to provide central 
coordination of voluntary and community sector (VCS) support. 

The hub offers support and guidance to County Durham residents who are 
shielded, vulnerable and have needs related to COVID-19, linking them to 
existing local services where possible and supporting with essential aid where 
necessary (for numbers of individuals identified, see Figure 6).  

The Hub has two client pathways: 

(a) Proactive pathway – outgoing calls made by CDDFT NHS Wellbeing for 
Life from NHS lists to those residents who meet all below criteria: 

(i) Identified by NHS (letter to home) as clinically vulnerable to COVID-
19; 

(ii) As instructed in this letter, self-registered on the Government 
‘clinically vulnerable’ website;  

(iii) When registering stated that they do not have support with essential 
supplies.  

(b) Reactive pathway – incoming contacts received via a dedicated 
online form / contact centre phoneline from residents who self-
identify or are referred by third parties (e.g. family, neighbours, 
Tees Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) NHS Trust, Adult Health 
Services, Housing Organisations, Probation) as needing support 
around issues linked to COVID-19.  

 

 

 

 

Page 112



 

V2 – 01/11/20   27 
 

Figure 6. Numbers of people identified by the Hub 

 
 
In order to maximise awareness of the Hub across the county a 
communications plan is in place which includes print, radio and social media 
elements.  Key partner organisations including TEWV, Primary Care, Adult 
Health Services also raise awareness of the Hub with their client populations.  
Direct mailshots have been sent out at various intervals to the shielded 
population and those identified as living with multiple social vulnerabilities.   

The Hub was set up to provide additional support around COVID-19, not to 
replace existing service provision and where necessary Hub staff link clients 
(both new to and known by) to specialist providers and services via 
established, co-produced referral pathways where necessary. 

The Hub has key contacts with key vulnerable populations and communities of 
interest such as faith communities. In County Durham a network of 14 Area 
Action Partnerships (AAP’s) are in place. The AAP’s have extensive 
knowledge of the local area, understanding of the health needs and assets 
and have played a key role in supporting local residents during the pandemic. 
This will continue with outbreak control. 

Page 113



 

V2 – 01/11/20   28 
 

The Hub will support residents requiring support when self-isolating due to 
being a confirmed case or a contact of a confirmed case. 

Risks  
 The most vulnerable do not make contact with the Hub and as the 

contact traced population dataset is not shared with the hub from PHE 
the hub cannot undertake any proactive calls. Mitigation: Menu of 
communications with those known to have multiple social 
vulnerabilities about where they can source support if required to self-
isolate for 14 days. 

 Vulnerable people choose not to self-isolate as they feel well and want 
to work; mitigation – work with employers to support those required to 
self-isolate and civic duty community engagement messaging. 

 As the lockdown is eased and people become more used to living with 
COVID-19, it is possible that people will become less vigilant in 
maintaining preventative measures. 

 Data flows to the hub from Test and Trace. This issue has been raised 
 

Next steps 
 Communication messaging from the hub to those known through PHM, 

as detailed in the Communications Plan. 
 Work to support those who contact the hub and ensure they are safe 

and well during their 14 day self-isolation.  
 

  
Settings 

 
For each of the key settings lead officers have been identified and a team of 
key staff to work collectively on an outbreak if called. 

Standard operating procedures are being applied which have been developed 
by PHE Health Protection Team and augmented locally, action and advice 
cards developed and scenarios are being tested for each setting to enable 
planning. 

  
Care homes 

 
Current picture in County Durham:  

 96 Care Homes (Older Person). 
 36 Specialist Homes. 
 Care Home population: 3,602. 

 

Page 114



 

V2 – 01/11/20   29 
 

The Government’s number one priority for Adult Social Care is for everyone 
who relies on care to get the care they need throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic. Millions of people rely on this care and support every day. As the 
pandemic progresses, these vital services must remain resilient. 
 
Staff working in the care sector face significant challenges in continuing to 
provide a safe, caring and stimulating environment. There is a huge amount of 
work already underway in care homes and in local areas to support and 
protect residents but as a local care system there is more that can be done. 
 
Local teams involve health and social care professionals that are already 
embedded and known to care providers, and membership is dependent on 
local need and context.  
  
Building on the mutual aid work in County Durham the local team consists of 
the following organisations: TEWV, CDFFT, DCC, CCG and NECS. This 
covers a range of skills and experience to provide the most appropriate local 
advice and support. System calls are convened three times a week to share 
information, highlight concerns and agree support offer.   
 
The team already offers support to care providers in complying with health 
protection advice in preventing and managing individual cases and outbreaks 
of COVID-19, and assurance to the local system that care providers are 
protecting their residents. The team will be able to identify any gaps/needs for 
support and where practical offer additional support, training and advice.  
 
Risks 

 An outbreak is ‘open’ until a home is 28 days free from infection 
according to current outbreak management guidance. This may present 
a challenge in this setting given the possible transmission in the home, 
and the fact it may be in ‘outbreak’ for an extended period. This may 
affect the operations of an OCT.  

 As there are different testing routes into care homes, it is difficult to 
know the current incidence of infection in the home. The ‘capacity 
tracker’ monitors infections at a point in time, but not whether they are 
new or existing infections.  

 Whole home testing has presented challenges due to delays in national 
distribution.  

 Track and trace could have implications for the staffing of care homes if 
a care home is heavily impacted.  

 Admissions to care homes from the community and from primary and 
secondary care can be complex due to infection status.  

Page 115



 

V2 – 01/11/20   30 
 

 Adherence to strict PPE use is promoted and championed by all 
partners consistently, but given the vulnerability of this cohort, then 
small pockets of poor practice could have a significant impact.  

  
Next steps 

 Continuation of the mutual aid group approach and its response to 
outbreaks. 

 Awaiting the care home SOP from PHE to understand when it ‘passes 
over’ to DCC. 

 A regional group is looking at a possible regional SOP across LAs for 
consistency. 

 Continued efforts with all care homes around infection control and 
support for testing using the whole mutual aid group.  

 

  
Schools 

 
Within County Durham there are currently: 

 Over 250 schools. 
 Over 100 private nursery providers. 
 Approximately 300 childminders. 

 
These school and early years settings are supporting over 101,000 children 
and young people aged 0 – 17 equating to almost 20% of the County Durham 
population.  
 
Since the start of the pandemic, schools across County Durham have 
remained open where possible throughout lockdown to support vulnerable 
children and the children of key workers.  
 
Since the 15th June, County Durham schools are taking a cautious and 
measured approach to welcoming larger numbers of children back to school in 
line with national guidance whilst ensuring children and staff are as safe as 
possible at all times. This includes providing advice and support to interpret 
national guidance in relation to reducing the transmission of the virus. 
 
Local working arrangements with schools and early years settings are well 
established with public health representation at the local Education 
Department’s COVID-19 processes, at both a strategic and operational 
level.  Information, advice and guidance is provided on COVID-19 related 
issues including the interpretation of national guidance into practice, test and 
trace related issues and general public health guidance. Head teachers in 
education settings are kept informed of government updates impacting on 

Page 116



 

V2 – 01/11/20   31 
 

education settings and a process has been established for the escalation of 
any concerns raised by schools to the local public health team.  
 
Additional testing processes have been established to quickly ensure children 
and young people who are looked after and living in residential care settings 
receive a test as soon as possible by appropriately trained nursing staff.   
 
Risks 

 County Durham is a large county with many early years and education 
settings. There is a potential for families to have children accessing 
several education settings with an increased risk of linked cases across 
schools / settings.  

 Adherence to strict social distancing presents challenges for younger 
children. 

 Testing for children under 12 years old is only available through the 
national (NHS) home testing process unless the child is currently living 
in a residential care home setting and this is available aged 5+. This 
may require extra support in ensuring testing happens, which is not 
available in times of reduced staffing. 

 Children with complex health needs of children in special schools 
requiring multi-agency health support and increased PPE access for 
those children with aerosol generating procedures (AGPs).  

 Children regularly present with high temperatures for many different 
reasons therefore large volumes of testing routinely will be required 

 Delay in informing schools and settings of an outbreak could result in 
uncoordinated and varied school responses and confusion.   

 Parental concern regarding safety of children to return to school. 
 
Next steps 

 Continue to develop an Outbreak Control Team (OCT) for schools and 
education settings and ensure early help and community support 
processes are established for families self-isolating.  

 Development of a SOP for schools to ensure a clear and consistent 
approach. 

 Inclusion of public health outbreak processes into schools business 
continuity plans. 

 

  
Higher Education Establishments 

 
There are over 20,000 students attending Durham University, New College 
Durham or University Technical College (UTC), South Durham, though many 
will not be currently resident in the local area. There are International students 

Page 117



 

V2 – 01/11/20   32 
 

who have been resident throughout the pandemic who will have particular 
issues.    
 
Risks 

 Unsure about timescales of reopening of colleges. 
 Potential issues of multi-occupancy halls of residence and private 

accommodation. 
 
Next steps 

 OCT being developed to deliver support to PHE as required. 
 Work with staff on prevention measures on return of students. 
 Dedicated planning with Durham University. 

 

  
Healthcare settings 

 
Healthcare services within County Durham: 

 County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) provides 
secondary hospital care from three main hospitals, two community 
hospitals and provide outpatient, community and outreach services from 
several other sites. The Trust has around 7,500 whole time equivalent 
staff and 1,200 beds.  

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley Foundation Trust provides mental health 
and learning disability services at two local hospitals and a range of 
community settings, including clinics, health centres and homes.  

 There are approximately 55 general practitioner surgeries in Durham 
and 15 dental practices.  

  
Healthcare providers face particular challenges, having responsibility for a 
large staff and for patients that are vulnerable for a range of reasons. Many 
will be dealing with COVID-19 directly, and already have wide experience of 
dealing with the consequences.  
  
The Healthcare providers have wide experience of dealing with incidents and 
outbreaks, in partnership with PHE and the local HPT. They now have a 
responsibility to undertake risk assessment of any positive COVID-19 cases in 
their patients and / or staff to reduce the risk of transmission of infection.  This 
includes assessing the contacts / exposures in healthcare settings and 
providing advice about isolation and exclusion from work. Within hospital and 
clinic sites this is proceeding.  
  
CDDFT provides local swab testing for those with a clinical need, for NHS 
staff, and for other organisations including council workers, schools, and care 
homes. 

Page 118



 

V2 – 01/11/20   33 
 

 
When a case is confirmed, the healthcare provider undertakes a risk 
assessment of workplace-based contacts. This involves identifying close 
contacts and advising on isolation and exclusion from work. 
  
Risks 

 Easing of lockdown resulting in increased infection and subsequent 
increased demand on staff and resources. 

 Increased demand on local testing. 
 Possible transmission of virus between the health care setting and 

wider community. 
 Community settings, particularly primary care may not have the 

experience of dealing with outbreaks. 
  
Next steps 

 Ensuring Outbreak Control Teams are aware of their responsibilities 
should PHE/local HPTs request local support. 

 Work with primary care settings to ensure appropriate preventive 
measures are in place. 

 Ensure communication plans are in place in case of particular media or 
political interest. 

 
  
High risk places, locations and communities 

 
Work is underway in identifying and planning how to manage high risk places, 
locations and communities of interest.  
  
Risk profiles are currently being developed using various data sets to highlight 
potentially high risk places including workplaces, public spaces, forthcoming 
events other locations across the County where early and targeted 
interventions can be developed and implemented to control the incidence and 
spread of infection.  
  
In addition, communities of interest will be a key feature in any outbreak 
strategies to ensure that the needs of our communities are properly addressed 
and that our most vulnerable individuals and groups are provided with help 
and support in the event of a local outbreak.  
  
Risks 

 Understanding the early signs /indicators of an outbreak in terms of 
increased absenteeism in the workplace and incidence of cases within 
the community. The infection control measures rely on co-operation 

Page 119



 

V2 – 01/11/20   34 
 

from COVID-19 cases in reporting symptoms, accessing test and trace, 
sharing relevant information e.g. close contacts, employment etc.   

 Whilst larger employers may have established teams and available 
resources to support the development of their own infection control 
plans, many of our small and medium enterprises will have limited 
resources and capacity and may need additional business support to 
ensure compliance with public health control measures and cope in the 
event of a local outbreak.  

 Being able to clearly define the scope of a community outbreak: 
mitigation – scope out the definition and assess against it for when an 
outbreak is declared by PHE. 

 Being able to put a geographical ‘ring’ around the outbreak if it’s a 
neighbourhood outbreak for prevention and control measures: 
mitigation – clear understanding of contract tracing undertaken by PHE.  

 Due to nature of society opening back up and restrictions being eased 
and/or people’s fears about employment then some contacts may not 
wish to comply and within the community the same levels of restrictions 
cannot be applied as in a workplace, school or care home: local 
lockdown measures to be agreed and tested. 

 
Next steps 

 Develop and deliver a range of targeted interventions in our highest risk 
places, locations and communities of interest to promote effective 
infection control and prevent local outbreaks.  

 To define the scope of the OCT and relevant representation for 
particular settings.  

 To refine the detail of the standard operating procedures (SOP) for 
particular settings including workplaces and communities. 

 To run scenario exercises with key stakeholders to test the action cards. 
 Review and sign off the SOPs and Action Cards. 
 To be proactive in community engagement around civic duty to work 

with us if there is a community outbreak. 
 

  
Workplaces 

 
There are 50-100 workplaces in County Durham with 50 or more workers 
(including 5 Durham County Council locations); 9 workplaces have over 1000 
workers, 9 between 500 and 1000 and 23 between 250 and 500. The 
remainder have fewer than 250 workers. Of the 73 largest workplaces 6 are 
food processing or distribution. 
The Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) Regulations 2020 
impose restrictions on some workplaces which should remain closed.  
 

Page 120



 

V2 – 01/11/20   35 
 

As restrictions are relaxed however more workplaces are reopening and in 
doing so employers have a legal responsibility to protect their employees and 
other people on their premises from risks to their health and safety.  
 
Government guidance exists for certain workplace settings to assist 
employers in making reasonable adjustments to their working arrangements to 
keep people safe during the coronavirus pandemic. 
 
There are circa 14,000 workplaces within County Durham. Over 7700 
workplaces are regulated under health & safety legislation by the Local 
Authority with the remainder being regulated by the Health & Safety 
Executive. 
 
Risks 

 Non-compliance with health protection legislation and failure to adhere 
to closure restrictions.   

 Non-compliance with health & safety legislation and failure to make 
adequate arrangements to promote safe working.  

 Understanding the early signs /indicators of an outbreak in terms of 
increased absenteeism in the workplace. and incidence of cases within 
the community. The infection control measures rely on co-operation 
from COVID-19 cases in reporting symptoms, accessing test and trace, 
sharing relevant information e.g. close contacts, employment etc.  

 Whilst larger employers may have established teams and available 
resources to support the development of their own infection control 
plans, many of our small and medium enterprises will have limited 
resources and capacity and may need additional business support to 
ensure compliance with public health control measures and cope in the 
event of a local outbreak. 
 

Next steps 

 Develop and deliver a range of targeted interventions in our highest risk 
workplaces to promote safe working practices and effective infection 
control to prevent local outbreaks.  

 To define the scope of the OCT and relevant representation for 
particular settings.  

 To develop escalation procedures to the relevant enforcing authority to 
enable early intervention and COVID-19 compliance checking. 

 To refine the detail of the standard operating procedures (SOP) for 
particular settings including workplaces. 
 
 

 

Page 121



 

V2 – 01/11/20   36 
 

  
Prisons 

 
Guidance on the prevention and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other 
prescribed places of detention is subject to national guidance3.There is also 
specific national guidance on the multi-agency management of outbreaks of 
communicable diseases or other health protection incidents in prisons and 
other places of detention in England4. National guidance has also been 
published on contact tracing in prisons. 

Following national guidance, each prison has an outbreak plan, which 
provides for a range of control measures. Prisons also undertake infection 
prevention and control audits through health care providers with whom they 
contract. 

Should there be an outbreak in a local prison, an Outbreak Control Team may 
be called to meet. This would be organised by Public Health England Health 
Protection Team and chaired by one of their Consultants in Communicable 
Disease Control. The Director of Public Health would be invited to attend or to 
send a representative. It is assumed that attendees have decision-making 
capacity on behalf of their organisations. 

The meeting would follow a standard agenda including amongst other things 
case definition, epidemiology, working hypothesis, further investigations, risk 
and control measures, and communications.  

Risks 
 
Particular risks in prison settings include any underlying health conditions of 
inmates, willingness to disclose symptoms (which may lead to isolation), and 
compliance with hygiene and social distancing amongst staff (within and 
without the workplace). 
 
Next steps 
 
Continue to fully engage with national, regional and local partners in the 
monitoring and management of complex cases and outbreaks in prisons and 
other places of detention. 
 
 

 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/COVID-19-prisons-and-other-prescribed-places-of-detention-
guidance/COVID-19-prisons-and-other-prescribed-places-of-detention-guidance  
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-contingency-plan-for-disease-outbreaks-in-
prisons  

Page 122



 

V2 – 01/11/20   37 
 

  
Next steps 

 
The Public Health Assurance Board will continue to meet on a weekly basis 
to: 

 Ensure continued leadership, co-ordination and management of the 
work to prevent the spread of COVID-19. 

 Provide ongoing assurance to the Health and Wellbeing Board that the 
key issues identified by the plan are addressed and reported on 
appropriately. 

 Update the plan as required, acknowledging that it is a dynamic 
process, working with regularly changing circumstances. 
 

  
Conclusion 

 
The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan has been developed to protect 
the health of our local communities by clear prevention messages in relation 
to COVID-19, rapid detection and management of COVID-19 outbreaks and 
the provision of support to those who need to self-isolate. Developing and 
applying intelligence is crucial to this process, in order to understand where 
added resources are needed to maintain population safety. The importance of 
ensuring that local people understand what is required of them and providing 
them with timely and appropriate information is key to preventing the spread of 
the virus, which the communication plan in this document will aim to ensure 
happens.  
 

  
Feedback 

 
If you would like to feedback on the draft County Durham COVID-19 Local 
Outbreak Control Plan please email PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk with your 
comments and suggestions. 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 

V2 – 01/11/20   38 
 

Appendix 1 

Guidance 
NHS test and trace: how it works5 

 
The NHS test and trace service will help to control the rate of reproduction (R), 
reduce the spread of the infection and save lives. An overview of the NHS test 
and trace service, including what happens if you test positive for coronavirus 
(COVID-19) or have had close contact with someone who has tested positive.  
 
Test and trace service: 
 ensures that anyone who develops symptoms of coronavirus (COVID-19) 

can quickly be tested to find out if they have the virus, and also includes 
targeted asymptomatic testing of NHS and social care staff and care home 
residents 

 helps trace close recent contacts of anyone who tests positive for 
coronavirus and, if necessary, notifies them that they must self-isolate at 
home to help stop the spread of the virus 

 
Key actions to help stop the spread: 
 if you develop symptoms, you must continue to follow the rules to self-

isolate with other members of your household and order a test to find out if 
you have coronavirus 

 if you test positive for coronavirus, you must share information promptly 
about your recent contacts through the NHS test and trace service to help 
us alert other people who may need to self-isolate 

 if you have had close recent contact with someone who has coronavirus, 
you must self-isolate if the NHS test and trace service advises you to do so 

 
Practical steps in the following situations: 
 for someone with symptoms of coronavirus 
 if you are contacted by the NHS test and trace service because you have 

been in close contact with someone who has tested positive for coronavirus 
 
Guidance for people who develop symptoms: 
 When to self-isolate 
 How to order a test 
 Testing negative or positive 
 Health care workers 
 Telling people about your result 
 Sharing information about recent contacts 
 Contact from NHS tracers 
 What you will be asked – how the info will be used 

 
5 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-test-and-trace-how-it-works?utm_source=62c084ed-8a21-47f3-aba6-
0026b5bc0ec0&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=immediate  

Page 124



 

V2 – 01/11/20   39 
 

Guidance for people who have had close contact with someone with 
coronavirus: 
 If you are told to self-isolate 
 How you will be told to self-isolate 
 What happens next 
 How we contact you 

 
The NHS COVID-19 App: We are currently developing our NHS coronavirus 
app, which is being trialled on the Isle of Wight. When rolled out nationally this 
app will supplement the other forms of contact tracing 
 
Support for people self-isolating: 
We will direct you to your local authority helpline if you need the following 
during the period of self-isolation: 
 practical or social support for yourself 
 support for someone you care for  
 financial support 

 
  

Page 125



 

V2 – 01/11/20   40 
 

Appendix 2 

Health Protection: Legal and Policy Context6  
The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which 
present a risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and 
management sits:  
• With Public Health England under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
• With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
• With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984  

• With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups2 to collaborate with Directors of 
Public Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing and 
treating) to assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012  

• With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents 
as part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

• In the context of COVID-19 there is also the Coronavirus Act 2020.  
 
This underpinning context gives local authorities (public health and 
environmental health) and Public Health England the primary responsibility for 
the delivery and management of public health actions to be taken in relation to 
outbreaks of communicable disease through local Health Protection 
Partnerships (sometimes these are called Local Health Resilience 
Partnerships) and local memoranda of understanding. These arrangements 
are clarified in the 2013 guidance Health Protection in Local Government.  
 
PHE is mandated to fulfil the Secretary of State’s duty to protect the public’s 
health from infectious diseases, working with the NHS, local government and 
other partners. This includes providing surveillance; specialist services, such 
as diagnostic and reference microbiology; investigation and management of 
outbreaks of infectious diseases; ensuring effective emergency preparedness, 
resilience and response for health emergencies. At a local level PHE’s health 
protection teams and field services work in partnership with DsPH, playing 
strategic and operational leadership roles both in the development and 
implementation of outbreak control plans and in the identification and 
management of outbreaks.  
 
The Director of Public Health has and retains primary responsibility for the 
health of their communities. This includes being assured that the 
arrangements to protect the health of the communities that they serve are 
robust and are implemented. The primary foundation of developing and 
deploying local outbreak management plans is the public health expertise of 

 
6 ADPH, FPH, PHE, LGA et al (2020) Public Health Leadership, Multi-Agency Capability: Guiding Principles 
for Effective Management of COVID-19 at a Local Level. https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf 

Page 126



 

V2 – 01/11/20   41 
 

the local Director of Public Health. The Director of Public Health will report to 
the Local Authority Chief Executive. 
 
This legal context for health protection is designed to underpin the 
foundational leadership of the local Director of Public Health in a local area, 
working closely with other professionals and sectors (see Figure 7).  
 
Figure 7: A simplified diagram of the Local Health Protection System. 
 

 
Data Sharing: Legal and policy context7 
Agencies will assume they are required to adopt a proactive approach to 
sharing information by default, in line with the Instructions of the Secretary of 
State, the Statement of the Information Commissioner on COVID-19 and the 
Civil Contingencies Act.  
 
The Secretary of State has issued 4 notices under the Health Service Control 
of Patient Information Regulations 2002 requiring the following organisations 
to process information: NHS Digital, NHS England and Improvement, health 
organisations, arm’s length bodies, local authorities, GPs. These notices 
require that data is shared for purposes of coronavirus (COVID-19) and give 
health organisations and local authorities the security and confidence to share 
the data they need to respond to coronavirus (COVID-19).  
 
These can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-COVID-19-
notification-of-data-controllers-to-share-information. 
 
The data sharing permissions under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the 
statement of the Information Commissioner all apply. Under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) and the Contingency Planning Regulations, 

 
7 ADPH, FPH, PHE, LGA et al (2020) Public Health Leadership, Multi-Agency Capability: Guiding Principles 
for Effective Management of COVID-19 at a Local Level. https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Guiding-Principles-for-Making-Outbreak-Management-Work-Final.pdf 

Page 127



 

V2 – 01/11/20   42 
 

Category 1 and 2 responders have a duty to share information with other 
Category 1 and 2 responders. This is required for those responders to fulfil 
their duties under the CCA.

Page 128



 

V2 – 01/11/20   43 
 

 
Appendix 3 

Durham County Council 
COVID-19 Local Health Protection Assurance Board  

Terms of Reference 
 
Purpose: 
 
The Local Health Protection Assurance Board has been convened to provide 
oversight and leadership in the management of COVID-19. A COVID-19 Local 
Outbreak Control Plan has been developed to provide a framework for leading, co-
ordinating and managing the spread of COVID-19. (The Plan clarifies how Durham 
County Council (DCC) will support the Test and Trace Service, a key element of the 
outbreak management process, which is being delivered by Public Health England 
(PHE). It builds on the established public health protection role and responsibilities of 
the local authority to manage outbreaks in specific settings. It identifies further action 
that might be required, including considering the impact on local communities and 
understanding the local challenges of COVID-19. 

Objectives: 
 

a) Close liaison with Public Health England (PHE) in line with standard operating 
procedure (SOP) 

b) To develop a strategy (COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan) to deal with 
communicable disease outbreaks and complex cases during the pandemic  

c) To review the epidemiology of COVID-19 in County Durham in the context of 
international, national and regional trends including soft intelligence 

d) To plan, implement and monitor outbreak management and control for other 
communicable diseases in County Durham during the pandemic  

e) To plan contingency contact tracing measures and coordinate with all partners 

f) To maintain oversight of the setting based OCTs  

g) To report to CMT any resurgence in cases of COVID-19 and any risks 

h) Ensure access to the Community hub for residents needing to self-isolate.  

i) Liaise with PHE to develop a communications plan 

j) To produce regular reports from outbreak management and control and 
contact tracing activities and outcomes  

k) To ensure engagement with communities to ensure local residents 
understand the implications of outbreaks 

l) Maintain oversight of the risk register 

Page 129



 

V2 – 01/11/20   44 
 

m) To liaise with and support the Local Outbreak Engagement Board (Health and 
Wellbeing Board) to ensure local community engagement and public 
understanding of the implications of any local outbreaks 

n) To ensure all decisions are underpinned by the Wellbeing Principles 

Membership: 
 

 Chair: Director of Public Health  

 Vice Chair: Consultant in Public Health  

 Head of Community Protection  

 Environment and Health Protection Manager  

 PHE Consultant or representative  

 Research and Public Health Intelligence Manager  

 CCG/NHS rep  

 CCG Infection Prevention and Control  

 DCC Community Hub  

 Public Health Strategic Manager - interface with social care 

 Public Health Strategic Manager - interface with education 

 Occupational Health and Safety Manager  

 Strategic Manager Executive Support  

 Communications  

o Business Partner  

o Public Health Practitioner  

 Human Resources  

 Public Health Programme Manager  

 Health and Safety Executive  

 Business support  

 Locum Consultant in Public Health  

 Partnerships  

 As and when required representatives from Restoration and Recovery Groups 
depending on outbreak situation   

  

Page 130



 

V2 – 01/11/20   45 
 

Frequency of meetings 
 
Meetings will be held weekly.  This will be reviewed and when required further 
meetings will be arranged. 
 
Governance arrangements/links with other groups 
 
The COVID-19 Local Health Protection Assurance Board will report to COVID-19 
Restoration and Recovery Planning Group. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board will be used as the member-led board to 
communicate with the general public.   
 
Durham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan 
 
The COVID-19 Local Outbreak Control Plan will centre on 7 themes: 
 

1. Care homes and schools 
2. High risk places, locations and communities  
3. Local testing capacity  
4. Contact tracing in complex settings  
5. Data integration  
6. Vulnerable people  
7. Local boards  

 
The relevant leads to provide a weekly update on the themes above by close of play 
every Monday that will feed into the COVID-19 Local Health Protection Assurance 
Board.   
 
Outbreak Control Teams (OCTs) 
 
The Outbreak Control Teams (OCTs) are accountable to the COVID-19 Local Health 
Protection Assurance Board.   
 

 

Page 131



 

V2 – 01/11/20   46 
 

Appendix 4 

Testing within the context of outbreak control in relation to Local 
Authority requirements 

Purpose 

The purpose of testing for infectious diseases is to determine someone has 
contracted an infectious agent. This can help in both the control of 
transmission of the agent and aid the clinical and environmental management 
of suspected cases and situations. 

Systems and processes 

If an individual is suspected of contracting an infectious disease, a 
confirmatory test would usually be requested by a Registered Medical 
Practitioner (RMP).  

In accordance with the Notification of Infectious Diseases (NOID) guidance 
and Health Protection (Notification) Regulations (2010), the RMP should notify 
the Proper Officer of the Local Authority when there is a suspected case of 
infectious disease covered by the regulations. The regulations and guidance 
list a range of notifiable diseases and causative agents.  

In County Durham, the Proper Officer is a Consultant in Communicable 
Diseases  who works for Public Health England (PHE) Health Protection 
Team (HPT) and has a patch responsibility for the local area. 

When a sample is processed through local laboratories, the result is passed 
through an established microbiological surveillance system and through this 
process, the HPT are notified of confirmed cases. This is in keeping with the 
NOID regulations. 

This surveillance system helps HPT to calculate a) incidence (new cases) of 
infectious disease and b) determine whether an outbreak has occurred. An 
outbreak can be defined as a significant exceedance of incidence beyond that 
usually observed, or if there are two or epidemiologically linked cases within a 
certain setting and timeframe. 

In March 2020, the Health Protection (Notification) Regulations were amended 
to include COVID-19 as a notifiable disease and SARS-CoV 2 as a causative 
agent. 

Under the Coronavirus Act 2020, it is a legal requirement for an individual to 
provide a microbiological sample if directed to do so by a public health officer 
who suspects that an individual may be infectious. It is also a legal 
requirement for an individual requested by a public health officer to answer 
questions and provide information about their health or other relevant matters 

Page 132



 

V2 – 01/11/20   47 
 

(including their travel history and other individuals with whom they may have 
had contact). 

Testing regimes 

The system described above has been categorised as Pillar 1 of the national 
testing strategy, which is swab testing carried out through the NHS. 

Pillar 2 of the national testing strategy comprises swab tests undertaken in 
arrangements with commercial partners including Deloitte, Amazon, Randox 
and Kingfisher. 

Lab test results through both Pillar 1 and 2 are collated at national level and 
fed into the NHS Test and Trace service via the National Pathology Exchange 
and NHSX. Further detail on how this system works is available in the 
Government’s privacy notice. 

There are two types of tests for COVID-19: 1) antigen and 2) antibody. The 
antigen test checks for the presence of the genes of SARS-CoV 2 in swab 
samples taken from the back of the throat and nose. The antibody test checks 
for an immune response present in blood. 

Locally, the antigen test is available through Pillar 1 to all patients and staff in 
County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust. It also available to staff and 
household members in primary care, and to symptomatic residents and staff in 
local care homes, and to symptomatic staff through occupational health routes 
in various organisations such as the County Council, to staff in schools, and in 
the police and fire service.  

Under this arrangement, individual swab tests are undertaken at drive-through 
sites based at the hospitals in Darlington and Durham. Community nurses can 
take swab tests from residents on site in care homes. 

The antigen test is available through Pillar 2 to all symptomatic residents in 
England aged 5 and above. Care homes can also apply for testing kits to 
cover all staff and residents regardless of symptoms. At the time of writing, 
care homes could do this just once. 

Swab tests through Pillar 2 can be undertaken by individuals at home, by staff 
or individuals on site at care homes, or by staff on site at regional and mobile 
testing units. 

Antibody tests are being gradually rolled out, beginning with NHS Acute Trust 
staff and patients.  

On 12th June 2020, the privacy notice above was updated to say that ‘if you 
test positive, you may be contacted by text message to see whether you wish 
to donate blood plasma, as part of the potential treatment for coronavirus’. 

Page 133



 

V2 – 01/11/20   48 
 

Outbreak Management 

There are currently 3 possible routes to identifying cases and contributing to 
the control of an outbreak. 

1. NHS Test and Trace. This service collects lab results from Pillars 1 and 2, 
contacts the individual case and seeks information on close contacts. 

2. HPT continue to be notified of suspected cases and potential outbreak and 
will initiate investigation in newly reported suspected outbreaks by issuing 
a set of sample swabs. 

3. Local intelligence may identify cases that require further investigation and 
control. 

Ongoing developments 

There are ongoing developments in the following areas: 

1. Mobile testing units. It is expected that the number of these units within 
the Region will double during the course of June/ July, and there are 
ongoing discussions as to how they can support local outbreak 
management. 

2. Testing in care homes. There is currently a proposal being considered 
on using Pillar 1 to conduct testing in whole homes.  

3. Pilots in schools. Under the auspices of the Department for Education, 
schools are being asked if they would like to participate in a prevalence 
study of COVID-19. 

Page 134



County Durham COVID-19 
Health Protection 

Assurance Board Update 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

5 February 2021

Amanda Healy
Director of Public Health 

P
age 135



Local Data – County Durham Case Summary

P
age 136



Update on National Lockdown and Tier 4 

New National Lockdown (the third national lockdown) legally came 
into force Wednesday 06 January 2021, in response to a steep rise 
in cases throughout the country and growing admissions to hospital. 
www.gov.uk/guidance/national-lockdown-stay-at-home

Next Review is planned for 15 February 2021

(Previously – County Durham was placed in a new Covid Alert Level 
- Tier 4 when it was introduced on the 19 December 2020). 

P
age 137



Update on the work of the Health Protection 
Assurance Board (HPAB)
Current work covers:

• Regional oversight of LA7 work

• Data and intelligence analysis, including health CCDFT / CCG

• Developments and innovation: eg. Vaccination Programme and 
the spike detection tool

• Settings – educations, care homes, community, workplaces, 
University,  etc…

• PCR Testing and LFD Testing – rapid targeted community testing / 
school testing / Uni testing / LA7 testing proposal

• Funding and outbreaks

• Local Tracing Partnership – aligned to Community Hub 

• Covid Champions 

P
age 138



Covid-19 Vaccination Programme

• Three vaccines are currently approved for use in the UK, these are 
the Pfizer BioNTech, Oxford AstraZeneca and Moderna vaccine.

• Covid vaccination programme began across County Durham on 14 
December 2020.

• Three strategic sites in County Durham (Seaham, Newton Aycliffe 
and Stanley) were identified as vaccination centres along with the 
University Hospital Durham. (Dec 2020)

• Rollout to an ever-increasing number of vaccination sites began 04 
January 2021. Those in line for the vaccine will be contacted by the 
NHS/GPs directly and will follow the identified NHS nine high-
priority groups. 

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

XXXXX 

 5th February 2021 

Mental Health, Wellbeing and Suicide 
Prevention Update  

   

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1 The Suicide Prevention Alliance has continued to implement its 

dedicated action plan to reduce the impact of suicide on individuals, 
families and local communities in County Durham.  

 
2 This report builds on An Update Report - Review of Suicide Rates and 

Mental Health and Wellbeing in County Durham submitted into 
AHWOSC in October 2019. 

3 The report provides an update on the eight recommendations made by 
AHWOSC and highlights mental health and wellbeing and suicide 
prevention activity delivered in County Durham during the COVID-19 
response. 

Executive summary 

4 In October 2019, An Update Report - Review of Suicide Rates and 
Mental Health and Wellbeing in County Durham was presented to the 
AWHOSC. The report provided an update on eight recommendations 
made by the AWHOSC, which where integrated into the County Durham 
Suicide Prevention Alliance Action Plan (2018-21). 

5 Recommendations included: 

(a) Development of Suicide Prevention Action Plan – now 
completed. Plan to be refreshed in 2021/22 

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

Page 141

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

(b) Development of a Suicide Early Alert System - now completed 
and further developed into a Real Time Data Surveillance (RTDS) 
Dashboard. 

(c) Implement a multi-agency approach to reducing deaths by 
suicide - Multi-Agency Assurance Review (MAAR) system 
established triggered by criteria set by the RTDS alerts. No 
MAAR’s have been required during the pandemic. 

(d) Coding and Flagging system established for Self-Harm - 
County Durham Self Harm Group established to improve quality 
of data in GP surgeries, impact of social media and raise 
awareness of family support services. 

(e) Review of current process for service user mental health 
pathways - now completed and ongoing. The development of the 
Community Mental Health Framework in 2021/22, led by Tees 
Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) will provide 
further development of service pathways for physical activity, 
transitions, the workforce, ageing, eating disorders and 
personality disorders  

(f) Accessibility to out-of-hours mental health crisis - 24/7 Crisis 
line established by TEWV to enable triage to services during 
pandemic. 

(g) Audit of current health and wellbeing support available in 
Voluntary Community and social Enterprise (VCSE) - quality 
standards for wellbeing integrated into all public health 
commissions have superseded the need for an audit. Wellbeing 
approach has been promoted throughout VCSE. Ongoing 
delivery of Making Every Contact Count (MECC) training 
delivered by Wellbeing for Life to VCSE 

(h) Systematic review of the Suicide Prevention activity and 
report - completed by the production of this report on 5th Feb 
2021. 

6 The Mental Health Strategic Partnership (MHSP) continues to provide 
the strategic framework for mental health and emotional wellbeing 
across the county. 

7 Activity has been accelerated to address the direct and indirect impacts 
of COVID-19 within the affiliated sub-groups for co-ordinating activity. 
These workstreams include: 

 Children and Young People (via the Children and Young People 
Local Transformation and Resilience Plan - LTP),  

Page 142



 

3 
 

 Suicide Prevention Alliance 
 Crisis Care Concordat,  
 Dementia  
 Resilient Communities Group  
 

8 The new national COVID-19 lockdown measures continue to be 
prolonged and the ongoing mental health and wellbeing needs of the 
population continue to cause concern.  

 
9 For some individuals the impact of COVID-19 may escalate into more 

severe mental health issues and suicidal ideation. 
 

10 The work of the Suicide Prevention Alliance continues to be a key 
priority for partners working to reduce risk of suicide and promote better 
mental health and wellbeing across the life course during this 
challenging time.  

 
11 The new government guidance on suicide prevention, “Local Suicide 

Prevention Planning: A Practice Resource” was published in September 
2020, provides an opportunity to refresh the Suicide Prevention Alliance 
Action plan to reflect the new areas of development in 2021/22. 

12 The new plan will reflect priority and contributing factors such as 
finances and debt, social isolation, unemployment, social media and 
demands on acute mental health care. 

13 The Alliance continues to work closely with the Children and Young 
People Local Transformation Plan for Children and Young People, in 
relation to the Samaritans and social media work and future research 
around self-harm.  

14 The Time to Change Hub, Stamp It Out continues to be funded by the 
South Integrated Care Partnership to work within local community 
settings to reduce the stigma associated with mental health. The small 
grants funding has provided funding to 21 grassroots projects across 
County Durham in 2020/21. 

15 The Crisis Care Concordat continues to meet and progresses Learning 
Disabilities Service links into mental health services. This includes 
working with the police to ensure more comprehensive information is 
provided on the CID27 forms after a suspected death by suicide.   

16 The Resilient Communities Group is working on regional research 
conducted to consider the links between debt and suicide, with 
examples of best practice being shared. An updated MECC training 
offer to include opening conversations relating to mental wellbeing and 
finances is being discussed. 

Page 143



 

4 
 

17 TEWV are currently developing a Community Framework for Mental 
Health and are providing support for front line staff affected by the 
pandemic via the Moral Injury work stream. 

 
18 The RTDS system indicates the number of suspected suicides in 2020 

remains comparable to previous years with 59 in 2020, 46 in 2019 and 
66 in 2018. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

19 AWBHOSC is recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of the report, including the progress of 
implementation for the eight previous recommendations made by 
the AWBHOSC. 

Background 

20 The original AWHOSC review for suicide prevention was undertaken 
between October 2016 and March 2017. The review considered 
evidence for work being undertaken based on 4 key themes of service 
strategies, policies and plans of Durham County Council; NHS partners 
and Safe Durham Partnership together with how the community and 
voluntary sector is involved in supporting suicide prevention and the 
promotion of mental health and wellbeing. 

21 There were eight recommendation made within the review report. All 
recommendations have now been completed (and are ongoing) and 
have been used as a basis to further develop initiatives to reduce the 
escalation of mental health issues across the county. 

 Recommendation 1. Development of Suicide Prevention 
Action Plan – the Suicide Alliance Action Plan (2018/21) has 
been developed and will be refreshed in 2021/22 to reflect new 
government recommendation to include Self-Harm. The plan is 
reviewed for progress by the Suicide Prevention Alliance every 
quarter.  

 Recommendation 2. Development of a Suicide Early Alert 
System - now completed. The Real Time Data Surveillance 
(RTDS) has now been developed to include a RTDS Dashboard. 

 Recommendation 3. Implement a multi-agency approach to 
reducing deaths by suicide – A Multi-Agency Assurance 
Review (MAAR) meeting process has been established to enable 
partners to come together to review deaths triggered by criteria 

Page 144



 

5 
 

set by the RTDS alerts. No MAAR’s have been required during 
the pandemic. 

 Recommendation 4. Coding and Flagging system 
established for Self-Harm - County Durham Self Harm Group, 
chaired by Dr. Ruth Lister has been established to improve 
awareness and quality of self-harm data in GP surgeries. The 
group also considers the impact of social media on children and 
young people and raises awareness of support services for 
families. 

 Recommendation 5 Review of current process for service 
user mental health pathways – now completed via the Right 
Care, Right place initiative and is ongoing. The development of 
the Community Mental Health Framework in 2021/22 will provide 
the further development of service pathways for physical health, 
transitions, workforce, ageing, eating disorders and personality 
disorders.  

 Recommendation 6. Accessibility to out-of-hours mental 
health crisis - 24/7 Crisis line established by TEWV to enable 
triage to services during pandemic. 

 Recommendation 7. Audit of current health and wellbeing 
support available in Voluntary Community and Social 
Enterprise (VCSE) - Quality standards for wellbeing integrated 
into all public health commissions have superseded the need for 
an audit. The Approach to Wellbeing Framework has promoted 
throughout VCSE to provide a standardised approach to working 
with residents. This is approach is currently being evaluated by 
Teesside University.  Ongoing delivery of MECC training 
delivered by Wellbeing for Life to VCSE has been maintained until 
December 2020. 

 Recommendation 8. Systematic review of the Suicide 
Prevention activity and report - Completed by the production of 
this report on 5th Feb 2021. 

 
The Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Health  
 
22 Factors influencing mental health and emotional wellbeing are directly 

linked to the wider determinants of health which have been significantly 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Studies suggest mental health 
has worsened as a consequence by up to 8.1% (IFS, 2020). 

Page 145



 

6 
 

23 It is now well documented that the virus and COVID-19 restrictions will 
increase inequalities nationally as levels of unemployment, poverty, fear 
of the virus and social isolation affect the long-term outcomes of 
vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. 

 
24 The increasing financial insecurity, housing insecurity, debt and a new 

reliance on welfare for those families affected will all elevate stress and 
anxiety levels. This may result in relationship breakdown, substance 
misuse, domestic abuse and a rise in safeguarding concerns within the 
family unit. 
 

25 For those working on the front line, mental health and emotional 
wellbeing has been reported to have had a significant impact on those 
caring for others. The true degree of moral distress and moral injury 
within those workers remains unknown. 
 

26 For those with existing mental health problems the impacts of the 
pandemic have been reported to exacerbate their condition and affected 
their ability to cope.  
 

27 For older people being identified as more vulnerable to COVID-19 due 
to age and underlying long-term conditions can be fear-inducing. Many 
older people report a reticence in wanting to leave the house. 
 

28 Increases in social isolation and loneliness for older people have been 
strongly associated with other common mental health problems 
including anxiety, depression, self-harm and in lesser numbers death by 
suicide. 
 

29 Adult carers and young carers have also been identified as high-risk 
groups, unable to sustain their own resilience to the impact of COVID-
19 on their mental wellbeing. Carers report living with the fear of 
infecting their loved ones, with an inability to access day care or respite 
support and social isolation.  

 
30 A snap-shot review of cases entering mental health services undertaken 

by TEWV in May-June 2020, indicate 40% of new adult clients had 
never accessed mental health services prior to the previous COVID-19 
lockdown.  
 

31 This indicates a potential surge in mental ill health within the general 
population as the COVID-19 response progresses. This may be set to 
increase further if the country has a prolonged period of economic 
instability and lockdown. 
 

 

Page 146



 

7 
 

County Durham Mental Health Strategic Partnership 
 

32 Significant work is currently being undertaken to address the mental 
health and emotional wellbeing needs of individuals, families and local 
communities during the pandemic.  
 

33 The Mental Health Strategic Partnership (MHSP) continues to provide 
the strategic framework for the COVID-19 response for mental health 
and emotional wellbeing across the county. Activity has been 
accelerated to address the direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19 
within the affiliated sub-groups for co-ordinating activity. These 
workstreams include: 

 Children and Young People (via the Children and Young People 
Local Transformation and Resilience Plan - LTP),  

 Suicide Prevention Alliance 
 Crisis Care Concordat,  
 Dementia  
 Resilient Communities Group  

 
34 Work of the MHSP is on-going and due for review in 2021. This action 

will ensure alignment with the new and emerging landscape and 
maximise further opportunities for integrating mental wellbeing into 
everybody’s business.  

35 A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) on inequalities undertaken at the 
beginning of the pandemic has highlighted mental health as one of four 
key priorities during the recovery phase of the response to COVID-19.  
 

36 The HIA reflects the findings of new government guidance on suicide 
prevention highlighting areas of priority and contributing factors such as 
finances and debt, social isolation, unemployment, social media and 
acute mental health care.  

 
37 The County Durham Suicide Prevention Alliance has continued to meet 

during the pandemic, acknowledging the impact of inequalities and 
wider determinants on the mental wellbeing on individuals, families and 
communities. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



 

8 
 

Promoting Mental health and Wellbeing in County Durham  
 
38 Promoting mental health and wellbeing across the population of County 

Durham is pivotal to helping to reduce low level mental health issues 
escalating into suicidal thoughts and ideation. 

39 County Durham continues to work as system to help reduce the impact 
of mental ill health in the population. Highlights of the activity delivered 
is highlighted in the sections of the report below.  

Mental Health@Scale  

40 A county-wide communications campaign was instigated at the 
beginning of lockdown to engage children and young people, adults and 
the workplace (see Appendix 2 and 3). This will be consolidated by a 
further campaign funded by Mental Health@Scale running in 2020-21 
targeting adults of working age.  

41 World Mental Health Day 2020 took place on Saturday 10th October 
and this year’s theme was set by WHO as, “Mental health for all – 
greater investment, greater access. Everyone, everywhere”.  
 

42 The campaign included highlighting the Employee Assistance 
Programme for employees and workplaces, helping to increase access 
to services. Information and support for those who may be facing 
redundancy with emphasis on associated mental health and wellbeing 
issues has been made available. 
 

43 The campaign also provided information specific to the needs of 
children and young people relating to COVID-19. Also, the inclusion of 
‘talking heads’ to support messages to help destigmatise low mood and 
mental ill health.  

 
44 The Connect 5 Train the Trainer programme is currently being rolled out 

aimed at non-mental health professionals and is designed to operate 
alongside, and complement, existing mental health clinical provision.  
 

45 A further £30k has been secured to fund three rounds of Connect 5 
Train the Trainer events with plans to engage the VCSE community 
sector to help boost the confidence and capacity of VCSE workforce to 
engage people in conversation in mental wellbeing. 
 

46 County Durham Council have been engaged staff to completed focus 
groups to further investigate initial findings from the DCC COVID-19 
survey relating to mental health.  

 
 

Page 148



 

9 
 

Suicide Prevention Alliance  
 
47 The new “Local Suicide Prevention Planning: A Practice Resource” was 

published in September 2020. This document increases priority areas 
for suicide prevention from six to seven, now including self-harm as a 
priority. 
 

48 This new guidance will be reviewed and implemented by the Suicide 
Prevention Alliance, which has continued to meet throughout the 
pandemic.  
 

49 The Real Time data Surveillance system has been in full operation 
during COVID-19. the system analyses suspected deaths by suicide 
and identifies any concerning trends and patterns.   
 

50 A new dashboard has developed by Public Health Intelligence team to 
generate reports and complete end of year analysis. The current real 
time data surveillance provides a three-year picture for suspected 
suicides in County Durham 
 
 

51 County Durham is now part of a Regional Real Time Data Surveillance 
system monitoring the rates and trends across the north east, feeding 
into a national pilot to keep track of trends and rates during COVID-19.  
 

52 Rates of suspected suicide in County Durham have not escalated 
during the pandemic and there have been no Multi-agency Assurance 
Reviews (MAAR) – community response conducted since the start of 
lockdown in March 2020.   
 

53 Other work of the Suicide Prevention Alliance has included partnership 
work with TEWV and the national Samaritan’s media team to develop a 
suite of bespoke guidance on the safe use of social media and online 
communication. 
  

54 The aims of the project are to develop and test a resource for 
practitioners providing guidance on talking to young people about their 
online use relating to self-harm and suicide and to produce a co-
produced, online guidance that can be used as a training resource. 
 

55 Ongoing project work will include: 
 
 Awareness raising amongst staff and patients of the impact of 

social media on behaviour in relation to suicide and self- harm. 

Page 149



 

10 
 

 Introducing self-care strategies to ensure the safe use social 
media and online communication that can be adopted by the 
patient.  

 Identifying the optimum time to incorporate into practice e.g.  
initial assessment and comprehensive assessment and care 
planning procedures and personal safety planning  
 

56 County Durham has also been a partner in a Suicide and Debt research 
project as part of the regional Sector Lead Improvement scheme. This 
has involved a wide variety of qualitative data being gathered to 
illustrate the array of complexities involved in examining the links 
between debt and suicide. County Durham provided a best practice 
example of the work between Citizens Advice Bureau and mental health 
services.  
 

57 The regional ICP (Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton & 
Richmondshire) work steam continues to fund the Time to Change Hub 
in County Durham promoting anti-stigma and discrimination across the 
county. 
 

58 Collaborative work between the Time to Change Hub and the Suicide 
Prevention Alliance to award the small grants to grassroots projects 
took place in late summer. This project aims to reducing the stigma and 
discrimination felt by people living with mental illness and to reduce 
suicide in high risk groups.  
 

59 The funding scheme has proven positive with 36 applications submitted 
and 21 applications approved 21. Funding totalling £83,704 has been 
allocated. The impact of these projects will be evaluated in March 2021. 
 

60 Reviews of the contract value for the post-vention support provider has 
been undertaken as part of the first response to COVID-19. If U Care 
Share (IUCS) have received extra funding to ensure capacity is 
maintained mitigating against a short fall in funding due to COVID-19 
and their ability to income generate. 
 

61 Other commissions associated with suicide prevention including Relate 
for relationship support, Welfare Rights and Cruse bereavement 
services have also been reviewed to ensure their contacts are able to 
meet demand. 
 

County Durham Crisis Care Concordat  

62 The Crisis Concordat continues to oversee the system wide crisis 
response for children, adults and older people across County Durham.  

Page 150



 

11 
 

63 North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) NHS Foundation Trust report 
call transfers are back to pre-COVID levels. NEAS requires further work 
to refine the recording of response rates for mental health crisis. 

64 In June 2020, a 6-week pilot between NEAS and TEWV was conducted 
to assess outcomes for a paramedic and a nursing staff crew providing 
a rapid response ambulance as part of street triage between 2pm and 
midnight. During the pilot this offer supported 101 individuals with an 
average response time of 20 minutes.  

65 Outcomes for the pilot were positive with 45 people remaining at home 
following support, 5 being referred to mental health care teams, 7 being 
referred to crisis, 3 having Mental Health Act assessments. There were 
18 requests for ambulance and the remainder were given access to 
other NHS care.  

66 The initiative has 4-months funding over winter period. It is expected 
that with the National Ambulance funding or via the crisis funding. The 
findings of the pilots will be included in future bids. 

67 Durham Constabulary have reported that calls with a mental health 
marker remain unchained during lockdown; while TEWV, and general 
calls to NHS services decreased during the first period of lockdown.  

68 The data requires further analysis to understand the caller’s needs, but 
as a comparison, calls to Durham Constabulary in January 2020 (pre 
lockdown) were 1118, while in April (mid lockdown) were 1271. This 
number increase to 1607 in July 2020. 

69 TEWV developed a new mental health support team (MHST) telephone 
support offer, referred to as “111”.  Future proposals will work towards 
developing the number into a regional 111/2 offer for mental health 
support.  

70 The outcome data indicates in the first 4 weeks of September - 727 calls 
came into the team; it is felt that after further promotion of the service 
this number will increase. 

71 The majority of caller’s express anxiety or in need of emotional support 
or information. This suggests support is being given to lower to mid-
level mental health needs, not crisis. The majority of these calls are 
resolved or signposted to appropriate services. 

72 The Mental Health and Learning Disability Partnership has made further 
investment into the crisis system within County Durham. Within adult 
services; older peoples mental health investment to support assessment 
and home treatment, additional staff resource into adult urgent care and 
home treatment teams along with funding to Age UK have been agreed.  

Page 151



 

12 
 

73 Age UK work will support older people living at home who have increase 
isolation, reduced community involvement and aims to provide lower 
level MH interventions and rapid identification of people who need 
further support. 

74 Within CAMHS, investments have also been made to increase staffing 
resource into the Single Point of Access (SPA) via increase support 
during the evening and through the night to enable better triage.  

75 Rollercoaster a new mental health resource centre will be established in 
Chester Le Street to support parents, carers and young people in a 
range of ways; this resource centre is also expected to be used by other 
services (TEWV) for clinical appointments but primarily is a centre to 
support families. 

Resilient Communities 
 
76 The Resilient Communities Group has continued to meet during COVID-

19 linking all VCSE partners with the wider work of NHS, local authority 
and local businesses.  
 

77 During the initial response to COVID-19, the development of the 
council’s Community Hub ensured proactive contact with the 25,909 
people registered on the shielded list.  
 

78 Residents were contacted to assess their needs for essential supplies, 
medication and social isolation, it became apparent the majority of local 
residents reported they had used existing family, or community 
networks to support their needs. 
 

79 This indicates there is a positive level of personal and community 
resilience within local communities and an active use of existing, local 
assets during the response phase of the pandemic. This learning can be 
built upon during the future recovery phases of the pandemic. 
 

80 Specific pathways for fast track access into mental health support 
services were developed by TEWV and the Community Hub. 
 

81 Whilst volume of demand into the Hub has increased during lockdown 
restrictions, client vulnerability has become apparent. Clients now 
engaging with the Hub have multiple and often complex needs linked to 
social isolation, emotional and mental wellbeing and ability to maintain 
financial resilience. 
 

82 This level of community mobilisation and use of VCSE community 
assets accelerated by the response to COVID-19 lockdown has helped 
to accelerate the vision of ‘County Durham Together.’ 

Page 152



 

13 
 

 
83 Volunteering during the first response to the pandemic provided local 

residents with opportunities to engage with other local residents, 
improving good neighbour relations, community networks and cohesion. 
 

84 A COVID Community Champions programme has been initiated to 
recruit further volunteers to disseminate information on outbreak control 
and provide further in reach support to local communities. 
 

85 The Approach to Wellbeing framework continues to be implemented to 
enable both statuary and non- statutory organisations to contribute to 
the reduction of health inequalities. This approach encourages the use 
of co-production to influence the decision making-process when 
designing models of service delivery during the response and recovery 
process. 
 

86 County Durham Together can now be mobilised to address the needs of 
those most vulnerable, including those with low-level mental health 
issues as future lockdowns occur.  

Demand on TEWV Services 

87 In modelling undertaken Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Hospital Trust 
(TEWV), estimations on how large the surge of extra “C-19 generated” 
demand for primary / secondary mental health services has been 
undertaken.  

88 Consideration has also been made for segments of the population 
which maybe more affected. This will be added to an increase trend for 
demand on services currently being experienced as services return to 
normal function. 

89 Modelling has suggested there will be a significant volume of additional 
needs presenting which will challenge all systems over the next 5 years. 
These estimates at both a primary and secondary care level with a 
diagnosable mental health condition who require help will be: 

 The equivalent of 52% of children and young people (some of this 
estimate is made up of individuals with multiple episodes so the 
actual percentage of individuals needing intervention is lower) 

 The equivalent of 23% of working age adults (as above) 

 The equivalent of 22% of older people (65+) (as above) 

90 TEWV are currently working on options to working to increase capacity 
by implementing a Community Mental Health Framework for adults and 
older people with serious mental illnesses (SMI’s). Priority areas for 

Page 153



 

14 
 

consideration are physical health, transitions, workforce, ageing, Eating 
Disorders and Personality Disorders. All areas will be underpinned by 
recognising the impact of wider determinants.   

91 TEWV have also developed a support response for those on the front 
line of both statutory and non-statutory organisations feeling 
compromised when working during the pandemic. Recommendations to 
help reduce Moral Injury include encouraging kindness, regular 
supervisor check-ins, enforcing COVID-19 restrictions fairly and 
providing clarity on communications and feedback mechanisms. 

Conclusion 

92 Good mental health is fundamental to improving positive physical, social 
and economic outcomes for individuals and society.   

93 Factors influencing mental health and emotional wellbeing which when 
escalated could lead to suicidal ideation are directly linked to the wider 
determinants of health which have been significantly impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic 

94 COVID-19 restrictions will increase inequalities nationally as levels of 
unemployment, poverty, social isolation affect the long-term outcomes 
of vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. 

95 Building on the eight original recommendations made by the AWHOSC 
and government guidance, the suicide prevention agenda continues to 
be addressed by the work of the Suicide Prevention Alliance. 

96 Prevention and early intervention initiatives preventing the escalation of 
poor mental health into suicidal ideation is key to reducing the rates of 
death by suicide in the population.  

97 The RTDS system indicates the number of suspected suicides in 2020 
remains comparable to previous years with 59 in 2020, 45 in 2019 and 
66 in 2018. This rate continues to be monitored as the challenges of the 
pandemic continue to unfold.  

Background papers 

 County Durham Health impact Assessment on Inequalities during 
COVID-19.  

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Page 154



 

15 
 

Author(s) 

Jane Sunter   Tel:  07825938455 

  

Page 155



 

16 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

On 4th January 2021, central government initiated a 4- Tier lockdown system 
for England in a fresh attempt to control the virus. The high status of the 
restrictions have now been implemented and are on-going. 

Finance 

Funding to address the mental health and wellbeing needs of County Durham 
has been maintained during the COVID-19 response. Government have 
allocated £5 million during COVID-19 to help increase capacity and maximise 
impact of mental health on local communities. 

Consultation 

The consultation and engagement with local individuals, families and 
communities is a core principle for supporting any new system-wide 
developments, recommended by the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing. 
The use of co-production is a fundamental to developing any new pathways, 
or services for mental health support. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The County Durham Health Impact Assessment on Inequalities during 
COVID-19 highlights the requirement for inclusion to be factored in to all 
aspects of addressing the pandemic in relation to mental health and wellbeing. 

Climate Change 

No direct impact. 

Human Rights 

COVID-19 restrictions are now a legal requirement for all society to adhere to 
for the greater good of all. 

Crime and Disorder 

Crime and disorder levels have now resumed to pre-COVID levels. There is 
potential for these levels to rise when the full financial impact of COVID is 
realised 

. 

 

Page 156



 

17 
 

Staffing 

Staffing levels in primary care, mental health services and VCSE are reported 
to have been impacted during COVID-19 due to sickness levels, the 
requirement for self-isolation and the shielding policy. 

Accommodation 

N/a 

Risk 

The negative impacts on mental health and wellbeing are expected to rise 
during the prolonged COVID-19 response. 

Procurement 

N/A 

  

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



Mental Health & Emotional Support

You are not alone, 
we can get through this together.

Remember your local school 
and GPs are available to help.

for children, young people & families in County Durham

DurhamWorks  |  03000 262 930
Supporting 16-24 year olds not in education, employment or training  
www.durhamworks.info

Education & SEND Support
Support for children with special educational needs or disabilities 
www.countydurhamfamilies.info 

Humankind  |  01325 731 160
Health and wellbeing support for LGBT young people (15-24yrs) 
www.humankindcharity.org.uk

Advice and practical support across all aspects of family life  
www.durham.gov.uk/OnePoint

One Point  |  03000 261 111

Investing in Children
A children’s rights organisation, creating spaces to be heard
www.investinginchildren.net

Recovery College Online
Educational resources for people experiencing mental illness 
www.recoverycollegeonline.co.uk

Help when self-isolating/how to volunteer 
www.durham.gov.uk/covid19help

County Durham Together Hub

Rollercoaster Parent Support
07415 380 040

Local SupportKOOTH
Free, safe, anonymous online support for young people aged 11+ 
www.kooth.com

Local Support

This is a great starting point to help you access support

National Support

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys
NHS Foundation Trust

County Durham
Clinical Commissioning Group

Anna Freud Centre for Children and Families
Self-care to look after our own mental health 
www.annafreud.org

Charlie Waller Memorial Trust
Resources for schools and families 
www.cwmt.org.uk

Childline  |  www.childline.org.uk
A free, private and confidential service  
where children can talk about anything

Headspace
Free tools around mindfulness and meditation 
www.headspace.com

Public Health England
Guidance on health and wellbeing aspects of coronavirus 
www.gov.uk

MindEd
Safe and reliable advice about young people’s mental health 
www.mindedforfamilies.org.uk

Young Minds
Support for mental health during the pandemic 
www.youngminds.org.uk

TEWV Crisis line  |  0800 0516 171

NHS  |  111
Get medical help near you 
www.nhs.uk

Children’s Social Care First Contact
Report a concern about a child’s welfare 
www.durham.gov.uk/FirstContact

Helping parents to support children with mental health issues

03000 260 260

03000 267 979

CAMHS - Single Point of Access
Community mental health teams for children 
www.tewv.nhs.uk
03001 239 296

24 hour service for young people experiencing a mental health crisis 
www.tewv.nhs.uk

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



Mental Health & Emotional Support
for adults in County Durham

This is a great starting point to help you access support

Advice and self-help

Helplines and Webchats
Shout  |  www.giveusashout.org
Anxious? Worried? Stressed? Get 24/7 help from our team of Crisis Volunteers. Text 85258 

Every Mind Matters  |  www.nhs.uk/oneyou/every-mind-matters
Find expert advice and practical tips to help you look after your mental health and wellbeing

The Recovery College Online  |  www.recoverycollegeonline.co.uk
Providing a range of online courses and resources

Stressed, anxious or depressed? Or just want to feel happier your NHS is here to help 
NHS  |  www.nhs.uk

Mind  |  www.mind.org.uk
Resources from Mind can help find what’s right for you and your family

Samaritans  |  116 123
The Samaritans are there to listen. 24 hours a day 365 days a year
www.samaritans.org

Sane and the SANEline offers one-to-one support for those times you feel you need it most. 
www.sane.org.uk

SANE  |  07984 967 708

Rethink Mental Illness  |  www.rethink.org

Calm: Campaign against living miserably  |  0800 58 58 58
Access the helpline to talk and find support. 5pm-Midnight 365 days a year 
www.thecalmzone.net

Offer online support and some local groups

You are not alone, we can get through this together.
Remember GPs are available to help.

 TEWV Crisis Line
24 hour service for people experiencing a mental health crisis
0800 0516171

Page 161



ManHealth  |  01388 320023  |  www.manhealth.org.uk
Offering advice, peer workshops and a place to talk

Talking Changes  |  0191 333 3300  |  www.talkingchanges.org.uk
A self-help, counselling and talking therapies service designed to help anyone with 
common mental health problems.

Time to Change Hub  |   www.time-to-change.org.uk
A local social movement aiming to change the way people think and act about mental health

Durham Locate  |  www.durhamlocate.org.uk 
Durham County Council  |  www.durham.gov.uk
Helping you find support locally

NHS  |  111  |  www.111nhs.uk/supportlocally  
Answer questions about your mental health and find you support locally

County Durham Together Hub  |  03000 260 260 
Help when self-isolating/how to volunteer
www.durham.gov.uk

Community Floating Support Teams  |  03000 269 071
Offering services for people with mental health issues who do not have a social worker 
or care coordinator to access support
www.durham.gov.uk/cfs

Crisis Resolution and Intensive Home Treatment Team
Providing specialist treatments and assessment’s with a range of professionals 24/7
03000 200 317  |  www.tewv.nhs.uk

Connecting to local support

Accessing specialist services

Wellbeing for life  |  www.wellbeingforlife.net  |  0800 876 6887
Helping you find what’s around you and how to make the most of it. Call free for expert advice

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys
NHS Foundation TrustCounty Durham

Clinical Commissioning Group

Page 162



             

 

 Adult Wellbeing and Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

February 2021 

County Durham Primary Care 

Commissioning and Investment 

Strategy 2020-2022 

 
 
Report of Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning Strategy and 
Delivery - Primary Care, NHS County Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To present the Draft County Durham Primary Care Commissioning and 

Investment Strategy 2020-22 to the Adult Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, before ratification is sought by the 
County Durham CCG Governing Body on 16 March 2021. 
 

Executive summary 
 

2 The County Durham Primary Care Commissioning and Investment 
Strategy 2020-22, has been developed over many months and the 
priorities it sets out are based on input from member practices and 
wider stakeholders.  
 

3 Since work on the strategy began, there have been a significant amount 
of changes in primary care, in large due to the response to the COVID-
19 pandemic and changes to the national GP contract. 

Recommendation 
 

4 The County Durham Adult Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are asked to: 
 
(a) receive this report and note contents; and 
(b) provide comment/feedback on the Draft County Durham Primary 

Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy 2020-22. 
 

Page 163

Agenda Item 9



Background 
 

5 The County Durham CCG Primary Care Commissioning and Investment 
Strategy 2020-22 sets out how the CCG will deliver sustainable primary 
care services and better health outcomes for the people of County 
Durham.  
 

6 Whilst we have made excellent progress against the out-going primary 
care strategies, in light of the NHS Long Term Plan and new GP 
contract framework, we must now refresh our strategy to ensure our 
ambitions are reframed and refocused.  
 

7 We know primary care continues to face a number of challenges 
including workforce issues, changing health needs of the population and 
the shift in patient expectation. We now have the added challenge of 
operating in a world with COVID-19.  
 

8 Since work on the strategy began, there have been a significant amount 
of changes in primary care, in large due to the response to the COVID-
19 pandemic and changes to the national GP contract. 

9 The CCG will continue to use the Local Incentive Scheme (LIS) as the 
vehicle to bring together all elements of the Primary Care Strategy. The 
scheme seeks to reduce inequality, reduce any opportunity for a post 
code delivery of services and encourages prevention, integration and 
the future development of Primary Care Networks as the building blocks 
of place based services across County Durham. It is intended that the 
LIS becomes a three year scheme from April 2021. 

10 The draft strategy takes into account the recommendations from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Review of GP Services in County Durham 
(October 2020). 

11 The strategy offers background detail to the primary care chapter in the 
County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25. 
 

Strategy development 
 

12 The strategy has been developed with input from key stakeholders over 
an extended period due to the significant impact of COVID-19 on 
original timescale. 
 

13 Pre-COVID engagement activity included early engagement with the 
CCG Patient, Public and Carer Engagement Committee and Patient 
Reference Groups. We also carried out a practice survey in November 
2019, which had a 70% response rate. Emerging themes from patients 
and practices are summarised in appendix 3 of the strategy document.   

Page 164



 
14 In May 2020, general practice staff were asked to complete an online 

survey regarding changes to working practices catalysed by COVID-19 
and the changes needed in the light of recent experiences. In total, 152 
primary care workers responded to the survey. Key findings were 
incorporated into the strategy; and were reported to the County Durham 
Adult Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
October 2020. 
 

15 We also took on board the findings from the public engagement on the 
use of digital consultations in GP practice, which was took place in June 
and July 2020. In total there were 1,157 respondents from County 
Durham. These were also reported to the Committee in October 2020.  
 

16 The recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Review of GP 
Services in County Durham, reported in October 2020, were also taken 
in consideration as part of the strategy development. 

17 In November 2020 we produced a draft strategy document incorporating 
feedback from previous engagement both pre and during COVID-19; 
with an accompanying video presentation. A short survey was 
developed which included the following questions: 
 

• Do you agree with our vision outlined in the strategy?  

• Are our priorities right?  

• Are there any other areas that need to be included in the 
strategy? 

 
18 The draft strategy, video presentation and survey were publicised via 

Headlines and the CCG website. The CCG engagement team emailed 
key stakeholders and promoted the strategy survey at all Patient 
Reference Group meetings throughout November 2020. The 
engagement report is attached for reference. 

19 Comment on the draft strategy was sought during a Governing Body 
development session; also the CCG Quality Committee and the Local 
Medical Council. 

20 Feedback from the latest round of engagement has been incorporated 
into a revised draft of strategy which was presented to the CCG 
Executive Committee meeting on 26 January 2021. 

21 A GP practice focus group has provided input into the strategy and also 
editorial oversight. 

 

Page 165



Next steps 

22 Following comments/feedback from the County Durham Adult Wellbeing 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and County Durham 
Health and Wellbeing Board members, formal ratification will be sought 
from the CCG Governing Body. The final version of strategy will made 
available to CCG members, partner organisations and the public via the 
CCG website.  

23 The next challenge will be to further develop the detailed, timed 
implementation plan for the strategy. This process will be led by the 
CCG Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery responsible for 
Primary Care Director and will be overseen by the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee.  

24 Local patient groups will be a central part of the development and 
monitoring of the implementation plan. Patient involvement should help 
to maintain momentum, drive agreed change and therefore increase the 
likelihood of successful delivery the strategy.  

25 The CCG will also need to ensure that it has the ability to adjust plans to 
meet any must do’s requested by NHS England. 

Recommendation 

26 The County Durham Adult Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are asked to: 
 
(a) receive this report and note contents; and 
(b) provide comment/feedback on the Draft County Durham Primary 

Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy 2020-22. 
 

Contacts: Joseph Chandy E-mail: joseph@nhs.net 

  

Page 166

mailto:joseph@nhs.net


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

The strategy provides a breakdown of the 2020/21 annual budget for primary 
care and the projected funding into Primary Care Networks. 

Consultation 

Engagement with key stakeholders has informed strategy development. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The County Durham CCG Primary Care Commissioning and Investment 
Strategy 2020-2022 aims to ensure high quality, primary care services which 

are accessible to all. 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

A priority within the strategy is broadening the primary care team. There is a 

commitment to within the strategy to develop a Primary Care Workforce Plan 

by April 2021, which describes in detail investment and actions to address 

workforce challenges and develop a workforce that are key to enabling 

primary care transformation, through engagement with Primary Care 

Networks, wider professions and stakeholders. 

Accommodation 

Reference to estates is made within the strategy. 

Risk 

Impact of COVID-19 on strategy development and delivery 

Procurement 

Not applicable  

Page 167



Appendix 2:  Draft County Durham Primary Care Commissioning 
and Investment Strategy 2020-2022 

 

 

  

Page 168



Appendix 3:  Engagement Report November 2020 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

                      
 

 

 

 

County Durham  
Primary Care Commissioning 

and  
Investment Strategy 
2020/21 – 2021/22 

 

27 January 2021 

Version 18 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 171



 

 
2 

Contents 
                      

Foreword .................................................................................................................... 3 

Our Vision .................................................................................................................. 4 

What are the benefits of our strategy? .................................................................... 6 

Primary Care Landscape in County Durham .............................................................. 7 

Our Integrated Community Care Model ...................................................................... 9 

What has our current Primary Care Strategy delivered so far? ................................ 10 

What our stakeholders are telling us ........................................................................ 11 

Our Priorities ............................................................................................................ 13 

Priority 1: Supporting self-care ............................................................................. 13 

Priority 2: Improving access to care through technology ...................................... 14 

Priority 3: Broadening the team ............................................................................ 16 

Priority 4: Joined-up care, closer to home ............................................................ 18 

Health Inequalities and Prevention ........................................................................... 21 

Our CCG Offer ......................................................................................................... 23 

Quality and Safety ................................................................................................ 23 

Local Incentive Scheme ........................................................................................ 24 

Medicines Optimisation ......................................................................................... 25 

Communication and Engagement......................................................................... 26 

Commissioning and Delivery Team Support – Primary Care ................................ 27 

Financial Investment ................................................................................................ 28 

Investment into General Practice .......................................................................... 28 

Projected Funding into Primary Care Networks .................................................... 28 

GP Practice Resilience ............................................................................................. 30 

Mergers and Dispersals ........................................................................................ 30 

GP Federations and Confederations .................................................................... 30 

Integration of Primary Care, Secondary Care and Social Care ............................ 31 

Estates ..................................................................................................................... 32 

Delivering our Strategy ............................................................................................. 33 

Concluding Remarks ................................................................................................ 33 

Acknowledgements .................................................................................................. 34 

Appendices .............................................................................................................. 35 

Appendix 1: National and Local Context ............................................................... 36 

Appendix 2: Map of Primary Care Networks in County Durham ........................... 37 

Appendix 3: What are our stakeholders telling us? ............................................... 38 

Appendix 4: Impact of COVID-19.......................................................................... 41 

Appendix 5: North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) .......... 43 

Appendix 6: Additional Roles in Primary Care ...................................................... 45 

Appendix 7: Network Directed Enhanced Service Requirements 2020/21 ........... 46 

Appendix 8: Local Incentive Scheme 2021/22 (Draft) ........................................... 47 

Appendix 9: Investment ........................................................................................ 49 

Appendix 10: Measuring Outcomes ...................................................................... 52 

Appendix 11: Timeline .......................................................................................... 53 

Glossary ................................................................................................................... 54 

 

Page 172



 

 
3 

Foreword 
 

Welcome to our Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy. 
 
Primary care is the cornerstone of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s vision to 
deliver better care, closer to people’s homes, which is central to improving people’s 
health and wellbeing. This document describes our vision and priorities for primary 
care, mostly focusing on general practice. 
 
The NHS Long Term Plan was released on 7 January 2019. Its goal is to support 
integration of care and to dissolve the divide between primary care and community 
based health services. An important building block for the future health and care 
system is therefore at ‘place’. In County Durham we have strong existing partnership 
arrangements between the CCG, local authority and NHS secondary care bodies for 
acute and mental health services called the County Durham Integrated Care 
Partnership. These arrangements are co-terminus with our local authority boundary.  
 
NHS England/Improvement have proposed in the consultation document published 
on 26 November 2020, ‘Integrating Care’ a direction that  builds on the route map set 
out in the NHS Long Term Plan for health and care joined up locally around people’s 
needs. It advocates stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, Local 
Government and others with a more central role for primary care in providing joined 
up care.  NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will build on its 
current place based arrangements following the outcome of the consultation. 
 
Through the ongoing development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) our aspiration 
is not only to improve the quality of primary care delivery and improve health 
outcomes, we also want to ensure the future sustainability of primary care. 
 
We will use our Local Incentive Scheme (LIS) as a vehicle to bring together all 
elements of the Primary Care Strategy. The scheme seeks to reduce inequality, 
reduce any opportunity for a post code delivery of services and encourage 
prevention, integration and the future development of Primary Care Networks as the 
building blocks of ‘place based’ services across County Durham. From April 2021 it 
is intended the LIS will become a three year scheme. 
 
SARS-CoV-2, better known as Coronavirus or COVID-19, is arguably one of the 
greatest public health challenges of our time – not least for general practice. Due to 
the pandemic, general practice had to change how it operates overnight. Over the 
recent months primary care has shown an extraordinary resilience, capacity for 
innovation and ability to move quickly for our patients. We now face the double 
challenge of continuing to operate in a world with COVID-19 while also responding to 
the urgent non-COVID needs of our patients and local communities.  
 
We are grateful for the input and constructive feedback we have received from 
stakeholders during the development of our strategy and look forward to working with 
everyone as we develop and implement our delivery plans.  
 

 
[Insert signature] [Insert signature] [Insert signature] [Insert signature] 

Dr Neil O’Brien Dr Stewart Findlay Joseph Chandy Dr David Robertson 

Accountable Officer /                

Clinical Chief Officer 

Chief Officer Director of Commissioning 

Strategy and Delivery for 

Primary Care 

GP and Hon. Secretary 
County Durham & Darlington 
Local Medical Committee  

 Page 173

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/our-work/primary-care-networks/


 

 
4 

Our Vision  
 

‘Investing in General Practice’  
 
Our commissioning and investment strategy aims to increase the scale and 
integration of ‘out of hospital’ services, based around local communities and improve 
population health outcomes, through the ongoing development of Primary Care 
Networks (PCNs). Our ambition is to deliver more personalised, proactive and co-
ordinated care to improve health outcomes; we also want to ensure the future 
sustainability of primary care. 
 
New national investment in general practice will support the transformation of local 
services to enable them to deliver better care, closer to people’s homes; improving 
people’s health and wellbeing.  
 
Our vision for general practice aligns with the County Durham vision for 
integrated care, which is ‘To bring together health, social care and voluntary 
sector organisations to improve the health and wellbeing for the people of 
County Durham’; and aligns with the Health and Wellbeing Board’s vision 
‘County Durham is a healthy place, where people live well for longer’.  
 
From engagement feedback we recognise the need develop a new single shared 
vision – so all parties involved in health and wellbeing in County Durham are aspiring 
to achieve a common vision. This will be taken forward in 2021. 
 
Based on what our stakeholders told us, the national and local policy context and 
taking into consideration the impact of COVID-19, we have identified a number of 
strategic themes and interdependent delivery priorities, shown in the figure below. 
 
Strategic Themes  

 
 

•Building on integrated partnership arrangements in County Durham; 
with the CCG primary care team working with acute hospital, 
community and local authority partners through a joint work plan, so 
that primary care is more involved in the ‘placed based’ business  

Working together 
better 

•Continuing sustainability of primary care by building on the current 
investment to support the out of hospital agenda and encourage 
closer working with secondary care  

Making  primary 
care sustainable to 
manage current and 

future demand 

•Supporting at scale working with Primary Care Networks and 
Federations and ensuring they have a provider voice at 'place' and 
the Integrated Care Partnership/System level  

Right scale working 

•Developing Primary Care Networks as the collaborative model for 
local integration of health and care and greater use of additional 
roles to broaden the workforce 

New model of 
primary care 

Page 174



 

 
5 

Priorities 

 
 

Our strategy outlines our plans for commissioning activity and where we will target 
increased investment over the next two years to support the delivery of our vision 
and priorities for primary care, in keeping with the implementation of the NHS Long 
Term Plan. 

Successful implementation of our strategy will also support the North East and North 
Cumbria Integrated Care System to deliver its ambitions for primary care and to 
improve health outcomes for the people of the North East and North Cumbria, whilst 
better managing the ‘here and now’ operational challenges and achieve 
sustainability. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

•Enabling people to self-manage their health through a range of 
approaches including access to non-clinical support that helps 
build knowledge, skills and confidence.  

Supporting             
self-care 

•Enabling people to have more flexibility in how they access primary 
care services; and using technology to enhance patient care. 

Improving access to 
care, through 
technology 

•Widening the range of health and care professionals working in 
primary care to meet the needs of the population.  

Broadening the 
team 

•Ongoing development of Primary Care Networks to deliver more 
joined-up care closer to home; with general practice coordinating 
patient care between all agencies in the pathway via Teams 
Around Patients. 

Joined up care, 
closer to home 

Page 175



 

 
6 

What are the benefits of our strategy? 
 
The benefits of our strategy can be are summarised, as below. 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For patients 

•Patients feel supported and 
have confidence to self-
manage their own health 

•Different ways of accessing 
appointments helped by 
technology 

•Access to a wide range of 
services and professionals 

•Coordinated and safe 
services where patients 
only have to tell their story 
once 

•Patients feel in control and 
have responsibility through 
shared decision-making 
opportunities about how 
their health and care is 
planned and managed 

For general practices and 
other providers 

•Greater resilience across 
general practice by making 
the best use of shared 
staff, buildings and other 
resources 

•Better work satisfaction 
with each professional able 
to focus on what they do 
best, spending time with 
patients where most 
needed 

• Improved care and 
treatment for patients by 
expanding access to 
specialist and local support 
services including social 
care and the voluntary 
sector 

•Greater influence in the 
wider health system, 
leading to more informed 
decisions about where 
resources are spent 

•A workforce which feels 
supported in safeguarding 
processes 

•More attractive to new 
people to come and work in 
general practice, with 
greater retention of 
workforce 

For the whole system 

•Coordinated care through 
collaboration and 
cooperation across 
organisational boundaries 
and teams with shared 
accountability 

•Ensuring a collaborative 
approach to safeguarding 
children and adults and 
looked after children across 
the system 

•A range of services in a 
community setting, so 
patients do not have to 
default to hospital services 

•Resilience across the 
health and care system 

•Providing services that are 
affordable 

Page 176



 

 
7 

Primary Care Landscape in County Durham 
 
NHS County Durham CCG is a clinically-led organisation made up of member 
practices. As at 1 January 2020, there were 64 general practices in County Durham; 
with a total registered population of 558,283. The average practice list size was 
8,723; the largest practice having 34,886 registered patients and the smallest having 
only 1,647 registered patients.  
 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) were introduced as part of the NHS Long Term Plan. 
Networks are based on GP-registered lists, typically serving communities of around 
30-50,000. They are small enough to maintain the traditional strengths of general 
practice but at the same time large enough to provide resilience and to support the 
development of integrated teams.  
 
Primary Care Networks support groups of general practices to come together locally, 
in partnership with community services, social care and other providers of health and 
care services. They are intended to create more integrated services for the local 
population, improve quality of care and support the sustainability of general practice. 
In total, there are 13 Primary Care Networks across County Durham. A map showing 
Primary Care Networks in County Durham is included in appendix 2. 
 
We also have six GP Federations across County Durham. GP Federations are when 
groups of general practices come together to form an organisational entity to work 
together within the local health economy. The remit of a GP Federation is generally to 
share responsibility for delivering high quality, patient-focussed services for its 
communities. GP Federations are different to Primary Care Networks, they are 
generally a group of practices that come together to deliver services whereas a 
Primary Care Network is a broader collaboration of practices and other health and 
care partners.  
 
The commissioning responsibility for general practice services sits with the CCG 
which has taken on delegated responsibility from NHS England. This provides an 
opportunity to integrate general practice into the wider health and social care system, 
enabling greater flexibility and influence at a local level over the way in which 
services are delivered to patients. 
 

In November 2020, NHS England launched the consultation on Integrating Care: 
Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care systems across England. 
The document sets out options for giving Integrated Care Systems a firmer footing in 
legislation, likely to take affect from April 2022. This signals a change to CCGs, 
subject to a Parliamentary decision. The document describes the ambition for ‘place-
based’ partnership arrangements between primary, community, local acute and 
social care. It is anticipated the Primary Care Networks as part of the County 
Durham Integrated Care Partnership, will help shape this agenda. All providers of 
primary, community, local acute and social care will need to strengthen their 
integrated arrangements in the ‘new world’ and be prepared to manage an integrated 
devolved budget to support local people and communities. This will be facilitated 
through the County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025, which our 
Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy, feeds into. 

Page 177

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/261120-item-5-integrating-care-next-steps-for-integrated-care-systems.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/261120-item-5-integrating-care-next-steps-for-integrated-care-systems.pdf


 

 
8 

Primary Care Headlines 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

      
 
 
 

       
 
 
 

       
 
 

 

       
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 178



 

 

Our Integrated Community Care Model  
 
Across County Durham health, social care and voluntary organisations have already 
come together to agree a model of integrated care, as represented in the figure 
below.  
 

 
 

In support of this, a new community contact came into effect in 2018, to enable the 
provider (County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust) to organise its 
community services offer around GP registered patient lists and establish 
multidisciplinary teams working in collaboration with general practice, known as 
Teams Around Patients (TAPs). TAPs play a key role in coordinating care wrapped 
around the patient, and providing a seamless transition between services.   
 
More recently Primary Care Networks have been established across County 
Durham. TAPs are an integral part of the Networks.  
 
The County Durham Integrated Care Board brings together partners across health 
and social care; including Primary Care Network/GP representation. These are 
called our ‘place based’ arrangements for greater integration of organisations for the 
benefit of patient pathways. Whilst the Board does not replace existing governance 
arrangements within individual organisations, it allows for a common view of issues 
and priorities; and ensures a ‘joined up’ approach as we work together to deliver 
improvements. In 2021 these ‘place based’ arrangements will be progressed further. 
 

Page 179



 

 
10 

What has our current Primary Care Strategy 
delivered so far? 
 
We want to build on the success of our previous primary care commissioning 
strategy. Examples of our achievements are as shown below. 
 
Improving access 

 People can now access general practice any day of the week; extended 
access services offered 64,674 appointments above core practice hours in 
2019/20. 

 All practices across County Durham offered online consultations; ahead of the 
national target (April 2021).  

 Over 600 practice staff have been trained in care navigation to enable them to 
actively signpost people to the right health and care professional; the scheme 
has been independently evaluated by HealthWatch County Durham; the 
report was published in March 2019. 

 
Community Integrated Care Model  

 Established the Teams around Patients or TAPs model i.e. teams of doctors, 
community nurses, specialist nurses, therapists and voluntary service 
representatives, serving communities of between 30,000 and 50,000;  this 
was enabled by a change in the community contract in 2018. 

 This approach puts people and patients at the centre of care services with 
multi-disciplinary teams being ‘wrapped around’ groups of general practices. 

 
Workforce  

 Over 40 GPs accessing the CCG’s GP Career Start scheme; of those GPs 
who have completed the programme 90% are still employed within County 
Durham.  

 49 registered nurses have completed the CCG’s Career Start Practice Nurse 
programme; 86% of these nurses remain employed in the area.  

 A Clinical Pharmacist Network has also been developed across County 
Durham; delivering a range of education sessions to health care professionals 
and administration staff within primary care. 

 Strengthened the safer recruitment procedures and provided development 
opportunities to the emerging Safeguarding Practice Leads in the wider 
safeguarding landscape. 

 Primary Care Networks have progressed with recruitment of additional roles 
such as clinical pharmacists, Social Prescribing Link Workers and first contact 
physiotherapists. They have plans to recruit more roles over the next five 
years. 
 

Investment 

 Through the Local Incentive Scheme (LIS) the CCG has invested an 
additional £6.3m in primary care in 2019/20 - the LIS is a CCG led process to 
engage GPs in priority areas, for example health checks for people with a 
learning disability. 

 The budgeted investment for the LIS is £7.6m in 2020/21. 

Page 180

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/care_navigation_report.pdf


 

 
11 

We recognise that there were some workforce areas of the strategy that we did fully 
deliver on, specific to GP recruitment. These included participation in the 
International GP Recruitment Programme and Federated employed GPs.  
 
The International Recruitment Programme, aimed at recruiting GPs from oversees, 
recruited 53 GPs nationally, nine in the North of England and two in North East. The 
CCG only managed to secure two GPs to work in County Durham. This programme 
was paused due to COVID-19. 
 
The CCG worked with Federations and practices to design and develop a federated 
GP model of delivery who would work with practices to provide a long term 
commitment to General Practice or for example a practice may benefit from hosting 
a GP post for up to three months to give a period of short term stability. 
Unfortunately due to GP indemnity restrictions, GPs where not able to work across 
multiple practices and posed a risk to individual practices around litigation.  However, 
the recent introduction of the new Crown indemnity Clinical Negligence Scheme for 
General Practice (CNSGP), offers an opportunity for primary care staff to work 
flexibility across practices to provide cover to meet local needs. 
 

What our stakeholders are telling us  
 
Common themes identified during engagement with our patients and practices, both 
before and during COVID-19, are as follows.   
 
Supporting people with self-care 

 More focus should be given to prevention and helping patients to self-care 
 
Access  

 More information and education is needed to enable people to make the best 
choice when accessing services 

 Greater use of digital technology – with a plea to consider those who do not 
have access to/are unable to use smart devices/computers 

 
Improving integration 

 Strengthening existing relationships with Teams Around Patients (TAPs) and 
social care 

 Reducing the need for people to repeat their story 

 Care homes alignment with practices - including robust medical management 
of residents and improved working relationships  

 More joined up approaches and new models of care between primary, 
community and secondary care 

 Better mental health support is needed 

 Shared decision making – supporting individuals to make decisions that are 
right for them. 

 
Workforce 

 General practice is facing an ever growing workload  

 Recruitment and retention of the GP workforce is a real concern 

Page 181



 

 
12 

 Other health professionals could be used to support GPs 

 Training  and mentorship is required to develop of the primary care team  
 
Further detail is provided in appendix 3. 
 

  

Page 182



 

 
13 

Our Priorities 
 
We have set out our four priorities for this strategy: 
 

Priority 1: Supporting self-care 
 
Our goal is to support people to self-manage their health through a 
range of approaches including access to non-clinical support to help 
build knowledge, skills and confidence; and through our existing care 
navigation scheme. 
  
We want to encourage and enable everyone in County Durham to take greater 
control of their own health and wellbeing; making it easier for people to find out what 
help and support is available and how to access it through active sign-posting. With 
an increased focus on prevention people will be able to take charge of their own 
health, enabling them to stay well for longer. 
 

Social prescribing has more recently been introduced to provide support for all 
aspects of people’s emotional, social and physical wellbeing by connecting people 
with non-clinical community-based support and activities such as befriending 
schemes, social groups, physical activities and housing and debt support. The 
actions of the Social Prescribing Link Workers during COVID-19 have been 
invaluable in helping to support shielded/isolated patients and their families. 
 
We will 

 

 Recruit additional roles into primary care, as part of the NHS Long Term Plan, 
and build them into local care navigation to ensure the appropriateness of 
appointments. Examples include physiotherapists, mental health practitioners/ 
support workers who are integrated into the primary care team. Also health 
and wellbeing coaches and care coordinators, who will work with people to 
help them be active participants in their own health care and to identify their 
care and support needs in a holistic way. 

 

 Communicate effectively with people of County Durham so that they 
understand the purpose of care navigation (active sign-posting) and its 
benefits. 
 

 Increase and reduce variation in referral rates to social prescribing services, 
by promoting the role of Social Prescribing Link Workers and embedding 
referral pathways within care navigation (which aligns with the new 
Investment and Impact Fund). Social Prescribing Link Workers provide a 
further opportunity to promote access to prevention and self-care programmes 
and services across County Durham. 

 Strengthen relationships with the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector – making them partners in improving the health and wellbeing 
of our communities. For example Chester-le-Street Primary Care Network, 

Page 183



 

 
14 

through community investment funding, is helping local groups and 
organisations to deliver a range of projects aimed at supporting their patients 
including ‘If U Care Share’, Live Well North East, Refuse and Handcrafted.  
 

 Hold a development session early in 2021, to understand how Primary Care 
Networks can work more closely with social services and VCSE 
organisations; also the contribution VCSE organisations can make to support 
the wider determinants of health and help us decide where best to target 
investment.  
 

 Ensure a collaborative approach with partner agencies for the safety and 
wellbeing of our patients. 
 

 Support patient education to self-manage their health, living healthier lives for 
longer. This has always been an aspiration of GP practice to develop patient 
expert groups for long term conditions (LTCs) and mental wellbeing – which 
may be more achievable with the use of remote technology. 

 
Planned investment Year 1  
Scheme Funding Source Planned investment 2020/21 

Care navigation 
 
 

GP Five Year Forward View* 
(Legacy funding maintained in 
the system to support a rolling 
planned investment strategy) 

£74k 

Social Prescribing Link Workers Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme as 
part of the Network Direct 
Enhanced Service Contract 

Included under workforce  

Health and Wellbeing Coaches 
and Care Coordinators 

Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme as 
part of the Network Direct 
Enhanced Service Contract  

Included under workforce 

Engaging the voluntary 
community and social enterprise 
sector 

Better Care Fund 
 

£100k per annum over 3 years 

 

Priority 2: Improving access to care through technology 
 
Our goal is to continue to improve access to care through the greater 
use of digital technology, enabling people to have more flexibility in how 
they engage with primary care services; and to use technology to 
enhance patient care.  
 
We will improve access to care through innovative technology. 
 
Digital technology is a part of our everyday lives, improving the way we socialise, 
shop and work. It also has the potential to transform the way we deliver health and 
care services. Through our strategy we will deliver consistent digital and online 
services to the population of County Durham. People will be able to choose how they 
access services. Online services will help people to manage their health and 
wellbeing needs, backed up by face-to-face care when needed. We will also use 

Page 184



 

 
15 

digital technology to promote healthy living and self-management. We acknowledge 
that the increased use of digital technology poses a potential risk and we will support 
professionals to practice safely in virtual settings. 
 
Embedding digital technology will require an ongoing culture change for patients and 
the workforce. Ultimately we want to maximise the potential of new technology to 
improve care pathways and wider integration. 
 
We will 
 

 Continue to promote the ‘triage first’ model in primary care - as part of a 
blended approach with face to face appointments/consultations. Face to face 
consultations will remain an important element of service provision. 
 

 Engage Social Prescribing Link Workers and the voluntary, community and 
social enterprise (VCSE) sector to support and encourage patients in the use 
of digital technology enabling them to book appointments; order repeat 
prescriptions; view their own care record, choose how their data is used and 
provide an alternative to face to face appointments/consultations to access 
GP advice and support. 
 

 Enable the remote monitoring of patient symptoms and clinical observations 
including blood pressure and blood oxygen levels, through the provision of 
appropriate equipment and software. 
 

 Through our training offer, support the primary care workforce to embrace and 
utilise new technologies; including the use of video software to support multi-
disciplinary team (MDT) meetings as appropriate.  
 

 Offer support to care providers in the use of digital solutions that interface with 
health and social care; promoting better use of technology in care homes 
through the accelerated roll out of telehealth solutions including Healthcall.  
 

 Facilitate seamless care across primary, community and secondary care, 
enabled by the continued development of a digital shared care record through 
the implementation of a Health Information Exchange and Patient 
Engagement Platform.  
 

In addition to developments around digital technology, the current GP Extended 
Access scheme and Extended Hours Direct Enhanced Service for primary care are 
under review by NHS England.  A new joint specification is due to be published later 
in the year with a new service go live date of 1 April 2021.  There is an indication this 
may now be 1 October 2021 due to COVID-19. We will work with our Primary Care 
Networks and GP Federations to ensure the newly designed service is delivered in 
primary care in accordance with any new specification. 

Planned investment Year 1  

Scheme Funding Source Planned investment 2020/21 

Online consultations 
 

NHS England £138k 

Page 185



 

 
16 

Scheme Funding Source Planned investment 2020/21 

Video consultations software 
 

NHS England To be determined after 
procurement  

Large monitors and cameras to 
support video consultations 

NHS England  £202k 

Two way text messaging NHS England £10k 

Practice/PCN website support 
and redesign 

NHS England £13k 

  
Priority 3: Broadening the team 
 
Our goal is to broaden the range of health and care professionals 
working in primary care to meet the needs of the population; and to 
support the development of new roles.  
 

To maximise the potential of Primary Care Networks we need a sustainable 
workforce and reduce the reliance on locum cover. The primary care workforce will 
become much broader, terms of skills and roles to meet the needs of our population, 
so it is likely that primary care will look different in the future. Appendix 6 offers 
information on the new roles being introduced into primary care under the national 
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS).  
 
As well as broadening our workforce we value the importance of attracting and 
retaining GPs, nurses and other clinical staff to work in County Durham; building on 
the positive work to date.  
  
Training hubs will provide an opportunity, working closely with Health Education 
England (HEE), to meet the educational and training needs of the multidisciplinary 
primary care workforce, as well as aligning with national guidance. 
 

We will 
 

 Develop a Primary Care Workforce Plan by April 2021, which describes in 
detail investment and actions to address workforce challenges and develop a 
workforce that are key to enabling primary care transformation, through 
engagement with Primary Care Networks, wider professions and 
stakeholders. The workforce plan will detail the staff baseline and trajectories 
for the different new roles. Indicative plans submitted by Networks suggest 
that there will be 142 whole time equivalent additional roles by the end of 
March 2021, and this will increase to 289 whole time equivalent additional 
roles by end of March 2024.  
 

 Provide a tailored offer of support to networks to implement their workforce 
plans, for example brokering arrangements with community partners; 
assisting with recruitment and a financial contribution towards non-
reimbursable costs; working with Primary Care Networks to understand their 
workforce requirements linked to the national Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS).  
 

Page 186



 

 
17 

 Promote County Durham as a great place to work, and support the retention 
of doctors and ‘return to practice’ through national programmes. We will 
continue to be part of the international recruitment programme. 
 

 Continue to financially support our GP Career Start scheme, aimed at 
attracting GPs who are looking for the opportunity to take up a post in general 
practice.  Funding is available for 20 places per annum. The programme 
offers GPs the chance of ‘added value’ personal development e.g. medical 
student teaching, minor surgery, etc., as well as benefiting from a mentorship 
programme whilst at the same time trying to expand the role of primary care 
within the local health economy. 
 

 Develop the primary care nursing workforce through a number of ways, 
including the continued roll-out of our Practice Nurse Career Start 
Programme; access to the recently established training hubs; and support for 
continuous professional development (CPD) through our Practice Nurse Link 
Workers.  

 

 Support the development of pharmacists, including training for pre-registration 
pharmacists; we will also help to develop the pharmacy technician role, which 
is one of the new roles that Primary Care Networks can recruit to. Pharmacy 
technicians work under supervision to ensure effective and efficient use of 
medicines; through shared decision-making conversations with patients. 
 

 Source and support education and training and engage with Health Education 
England (HEE) to develop the primary care workforce at the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) level with the training hub. At a County Durham level we also 
have a training fund for supporting professional groups. 
 

 Financially support the Intending Trainers Course which will increase the 
number of GP trainers across the CCG. This initiative has created a 
foundation and culture of clinical training and development across the CCG 
and has maximised the opportunity to retain increasing numbers of GP 
trainees in the GP workforce. 
 

 Promote the new to Partnership Payment Scheme, which is funded by NHS 
England. This scheme aims to increase the number of clinical partners in 
general practice. The scheme gives eligible participants a sum of up to £20k 
plus a contribution towards on-costs of up to £4k (for a full time participant) to 
support establishment as a partner, as well as up to £3k training fund to 
develop non-clinical partnership skills.  
 

 Support the training and development of administrative and clerical staff 
across all general practices.  A training package has been developed for staff 
to develop and increase their skill set, provide background information 
specifically on general practice and primary care settings and how to become 
more effective medical receptionists fulfilling all administrative duties. 
 

Page 187



 

 
18 

 Support the development of Practice Managers through established 
programmes, e.g. those organised by the NHS North East and Yorkshire 
Leadership Academy (NELA). 
 

 Ensure all practice staff meet the safeguarding children and adult and looked 
after children training requirements as identified in national guidance. 

Planned investment Year 1  
Scheme Funding Source Planned investment 2020/21 

Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme  
(ARRS) 

Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme as 
part of Network Direct 
Enhanced Service Contract 

£4,179k (based on workforce 
plans submitted by PCNs) 

CCG contribution to non-
reimbursable costs (ARRS) 
 

CCG baseline allocation £476k  

Career Start GPs 
 
 

CCG baseline allocation £300k 

Career Start Nurses and 
development 
 

CCG baseline allocation £267k 

Intending Trainers Course 
 
 

CCG resilience funding £36k 

Reception and administrative  
training  
 

GP Five Year Forward View* 
(Legacy funding maintained in 
the system to support a rolling 
planned investment strategy) 

£189k 

Practice nurse and nursing 
associate personal development  
 

Health Education England £104k 

 
Priority 4: Joined-up care, closer to home  
 

Our goal is to support the ongoing development of Primary Care 
Networks, as part of our integrated system approach, to deliver more 
joined-up and coordinated care closer to home; with general practice co-
ordinating patient care between all agencies in the pathway. 
 
We want to enable strong Primary Care Networks to be the foundational element of 
service delivery at community and neighbourhood level, where true integration will 
take place. Primary Care Networks are core to our strategy to deliver integrated 
services locally and to support the workforce in primary care. Networks will be 
supported to provide fully integrated community-based health and care working 
seamlessly with community and social care partners. 
 
We will 
 

 Work with Primary Care Networks on the delivery of the service requirements 
specified in the Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service Contract 
Specification 2020/21 (more information is included in appendix 7) 
 

Page 188

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Network-Contract-DES-Specification-PCN-Requirements-and-Entitlements-2020-21-October-FINAL.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Network-Contract-DES-Specification-PCN-Requirements-and-Entitlements-2020-21-October-FINAL.pdf


 

 
19 

– Extended hours access 
– Structured medication reviews – for priority groups 
– Enhanced health in care homes 
– Early cancer diagnosis 
– Social prescribing service 

 

 Work with Primary Care Networks to deliver additional services requirements 
included in the Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service Contract 
Specification 2021/22 which will likely include: 
 

– Anticipatory care 
– Personalised care 
– Cardiovascular disease (CVD) prevention and diagnosis 
– Tackling neighbourhood inequalities 

 

 Continue to support initiatives that enable better integration of primary care 
with urgent care and the ability to reduce potentially avoidable attendances at 
A&E and support people to stay well at home - urgent and emergency care 
will remain a key area of focus. Initiatives include: 
 

– Actively promoting the ‘Talk Before You Walk’  
– Direct booking into GP practices from NHS 111 
– Home visiting services, by qualified advanced nurse practitioners  
– Care navigation pathways 

 

 Continue to work in partnership with Primary Care Networks, the mental 
health trust and other organisations to implement the new integrated model of 
primary and community mental health care (in line with national framework for 
community mental health services), which will support adults and older people 
who have severe mental illness; increasing choice and control over care and 
support them to live well within communities.  
 

 Work hard to improve our learning disability registers to ensure all people with 
a learning disability are identified and receive the right level of support and 
access to services. Through our Local Incentive Scheme (LIS), we will 
increase the number of people with a learning disability and a severe mental 
illness receiving an annual physical health check. We will also promote the 
‘STOMP’ initiative, aimed at stopping over medication of people with a 
learning disability, autism or both. 
 

 In line with government policy that is aligning CCG funding for extended hours 
to PCNs from April 2022, the CCG will review all its ‘out of hospital’ services, 
with a view to transfer the funding to Primary Care Networks, including 
services funded to federation organisations currently. 
 

 Work with providers to review the role of Community Specialist Practitioners 
and Vulnerable Adult Wrap Around Service (VAWAS) nurses, in the context of 
Primary Care Network development and strengthened integration; recognising 
the valuable contribution these nurses have to make in supporting our 
vulnerable care home population.  

Page 189



 

 
20 

 

 Work with system partners to foster relationships and enable the development 
of new models of delivering patient care closer to home. These models may 
be delivered at a practice, Primary Care Network, or locality level – dependent 
on available resources including community hospitals. Examples include, but 
are not limited to, community outpatient phlebotomy services and 
electrocardiogram (ECG) tests. 
 

 Work towards better integration with secondary care; moving away from the 
previous commissioner - provider relationship, which resulted from previous 
NHS reform and driven by payment by results tariffs. We will work together, 
supporting the health needs of local people whilst balancing the books across 
the system.  In support of this, a Joint Chief Officer has been post has been 
appointed in 2020 between the County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust and primary care.  

 
Planned Investment Year 1  
Scheme Funding Source Planned investment 2020/21 

Extended Hours Access 
 

Network Direct Enhanced 
Service Contract 

£800k 

Enhanced Health in Care 
Homes 

Network Direct Enhanced 
Service Contract/Care Home 
Premium 

£315k (part year effect) 

Annual health checks for 
learning disability   

Local Incentive Scheme £254k  

Community outpatient 
phlebotomy services 

Local Incentive Scheme £315k 

Pathology and ECG tests for 
mental health service users 

Local Incentive Scheme £70k 

 

  

Page 190



 

 
21 

Health Inequalities and Prevention 
 
Health inequalities are unfair and avoidable differences in health across the 
population, and between different groups within society. Health inequalities arise 
because of the conditions in which we are born, grow, live, work and age. Health 
inequalities can involve differences in: 

 Health status, for example, life expectancy and prevalence of health 
conditions 

 Access to care, for example, availability of treatments 
 Quality and experience of care, for example, levels of patient satisfaction 
 Behavioural risks to health, for example, smoking rates 
 Wider determinants of health, for example, quality of housing. 

Identifying health inequalities is a key priority for the NHS and its partners. Whilst the 
best way to narrow health inequalities is through actively tackling the social 
determinants of care – such as access to good early years education, better 
employment opportunities and improvements in housing; we recognise that general 
practice is well positioned to have a positive impact on health inequalities through 
clinical care, wider patient advocacy, community engagement and influencing the 
wider political agenda.  
 
Unfortunately, the Primary Care Network service requirement aimed at tackling 
inequalities in health and healthcare was postponed due to COVID-19. It is expected 
this will be re-introduced as a future Network Direct Enhanced Service and will 
feature in the Local Incentive Scheme during the time period of this strategy.  
 
We also recognise that a continued focus on continuous quality improvement and 
achieving equitable access is the foundation for addressing health inequalities. 
 
The County Durham health and care system has had prevention at the heart of its 
priorities for several years. This is further enhanced with the continued development 
of Primary Care Networks which includes a strong focus on prevention.  We will 
continue to work in partnership, in line with the principles of the County Durham 
Placed Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25, building on the principles 
of early intervention and prevention and take a more proactive approach that 
supports people to become healthier, resilient and empowered, and able to achieve 
their full potential. 
 
We recognise that primary care providers play a very important role in prevention 
and early detection. GP practices and community pharmacy already deliver many 
prevention services like flu immunisation and cancer screening programmes. 
Regular eye or dental checks can identify the initial indications of some health 
conditions such as diabetes, high blood pressure and cancer. The advice and 
support of pharmacists can help people at higher risk to self-care or better manage 
medicines to protect themselves. With an increased focus on prevention people will 
be able to take charge of their own health, enabling them to stay well for longer. 
 

Page 191



 

 
22 

GP practices play an important role in prevention and early detection; supporting the 
shift from reactively providing appointments to patients to proactively caring for 
people and communities. This means doing much more to prevent ill health, 
diagnose it early and treat it quickly.  
 
Examples of local schemes supporting the prevention agenda include: 
 

 Making Every Contact Count - an approach to behaviour change that utilises 
day-to-day interactions to encourage changes in behaviour that have a 
positive effect on the health and wellbeing of individuals, communities and 
populations. 

 Improving the uptake of physical health checks for the seriously mentally ill 
and increasing in the number of annual health checks offered to people 
learning disabilities. 

 Supporting type 2 diabetes prevention and management through initiatives 
such as the National Diabetes Prevention Programme and an enhanced 
diabetes model of care. 

 Supporting the delivery of prevention programmes e.g. smoking cessation, flu 
vaccinations and immunisations; and more recently the COVID vaccination 
programme. 

 Roll out of the Primary Care Network cardiovascular disease diagnosis and 
prevention service requirements. 

 Roll out of the Primary Care Network supporting early cancer diagnosis 
service requirements, aimed at increasing the proportion of people who are 
diagnosed at stage 1 and 2; this takes into consideration improving local 
uptake to cancer screening programmes.  

 
Working collaboratively in Primary Care Networks, GP practices together with 
community pharmacy, dentists, community care providers, public health and the 
voluntary sector, will lead a re-invigorated approach to prevention – with innovation 
and shared responsibility at its centre.  Prevention of ill health will be embedded as 
the common thread across all areas of health and social care in County Durham. 

  

Page 192



 

 
23 

Our CCG Offer 
 
In addition to our priorities the CCG will continue to support the development of 
general practice as part of the CCG offer below. 
 

Quality and Safety 
 
Whilst practices are accountable for the quality of the services they provide, CCGs 
and NHS England have a shared responsibility for quality assurance. Our Primary 
Care Quality Assurance Sub-committee provides oversight, monitoring and 
improvement support in relation to quality within general practice services and forms 
part of the CCG’s overall approach to quality. 
 
We will work with practices to support continued improvements in quality and to 
address variation through a range of methods. This will include but is not limited to 
the following: 

 
 benchmarking with peer organisations and promoting best practice to reduce 

variation in health outcomes; 

 ongoing use of the Clinical Support Information (CSI) system, which holds a 
library of evidence based guidelines and information compiled by clinicians 
offering advice on best practice and support with referral management; 

 immunisation and flu preparedness; 

 supporting the development of the learning disabilities register on  practice 
clinical systems, to assist with planning of health and care services for people 
with learning disabilities and support the ability to anticipate an individual’s 
needs before they attend health or care settings; 

 medication safety audits, guidelines/resources and sharing lessons learnt 
from medication related incidents; 

 ongoing monitoring of prescribing data to ensure safe prescribing practice 
including Controlled Drug monitoring; 

 sharing of prescribing information and reducing variation in prescribing 
patterns; linking in Primary Care Networks to the medicines decision making 
process and implementation of prescribing guidelines; 

 supporting practices with a Care Quality Commission (CQC) rating of ‘requires 
improvement’ or ‘inadequate’; 

 ensuring arrangements are in place to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
adults and children in line with national policy and guidance;  

 child and adult protection audits, guidelines/resources and sharing and 
embedding lessons learnt from Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews, DHR’s 
and related incidents; 

 facilitating the sharing of best practice and key learning in response to the 
National GP Patient Survey results, to improve / reduce variation in overall 
patient experience across County Durham; 

 providing advice and guidance on infection prevention and control via the 
Infection Prevention and Control Nurses, including guidance on practice and 
premises in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act, and any specific 
additional guidance during the COVID-19 pandemic;  

Page 193



 

 
24 

 responding to professional performance concerns; and 

 training and education delivered through the protected time for learning (PLT) 
events. 

 
The CCG will continue to meet the requirements stipulated in the NHS Safeguarding 
Accountability and Assurance Framework, provide support and advice to primary 
care professionals to ensure the effective safeguarding of children and adults in the 
local population. The Safeguarding team includes the statutory roles of Designated 
Professionals and Named GPs and recognises the importance of development and 
support of locally based excellence in the form of practice safeguarding leads. The 
CCG will continue to work with the wider partnership to ensure that there is a joined 
up approach to safeguarding across the life course. We will ensure that the voice of 
our vulnerable patients is captured and informs service development. 

We plan to increase the primary care section of the Quality Strategy 2017-2020 
when the document is refreshed. Through our Quality Strategy we will also continue 
to develop appropriate high quality provision of primary care services; secure rapid 
improvements to the quality of care in vulnerable practices and drive up quality and 
foster a culture of safety across primary care. 
 

Local Incentive Scheme  
 
The Local Incentive Scheme (LIS) is a CCG led process to engage GPs in priority 
areas such as working to address specific health objectives for the local population.  

The LIS is a vehicle to bring together all elements of the Primary Care Strategy. It 
seeks to reduce inequality, reduce any opportunity for a post code delivery of 
services and encourages prevention, integration and the future development of 
Primary Care Networks as the building blocks of place based services across County 
Durham.  

Over recent years the LIS has supported care coordination for those who are frail, 
health checks for people with a learning disability, veteran health, effective 
prescribing and consistency in clinical reporting to support future commissioning. 
 
In terms of investment, 8% of the primary care budget annual budget is allocated to 
the Local Incentive Scheme in 2020/21. By investing in primary care through the 
scheme, County Durham CCG is working to strengthen the GP practice position of 
being at the heart of patient care, linking primary care services seamlessly with 
community, local acute and social care – both for planned and urgent care.  
 
The scheme supports strategic and operational elements central to the CCG primary 
care strategy including:  
 

 Improved patient experience  

 Higher proportion of patients feeling supported to self-manage their own 
conditions  

 Ongoing access and responsiveness for planned and unplanned care seven 
days a week  

Page 194



 

 
25 

 Better integration with GP out of hours and community teams, supported by  
improved IT solutions including data sharing agreements 

 Ensuring high quality levels of care  

 Improving the ability to manage patients out of hospital nearer to or within 
their own homes  

 Improving pathways of care between primary, community and secondary care 
services. 
 

The scheme reimburses practices for the extra work they take on, supporting a shift 
of activity from secondary care to primary care. The scheme also is an enabler for 
quality improvement in patient care and the move towards greater integration of 
primary care, community services and acute care. Practices that take on this 
additional work will essentially become coordinators of all the care for their registered 
patients receive both in and out of hospital. 
 
The refreshed scheme will take the form of a three-year contract arrangement (2021-
2024) and practices that choose to sign up to it, will have the option to either deliver 
enhanced services themselves or to deliver services through their Primary Care 
Network or Federation. There will be greater flexibility for sub-contracting 
arrangements to ensure fair access to services delivered across County Durham. 
 
Owing to the length of the contract, the scheme will be dynamic to enable alterations 
to be made by agreement throughout the period of the contract. We appreciate that 
during future waves of COVID-19 or exceptional winter pressures, some elements of 
the scheme will need to be stood down, to divert resource to focus on priority areas. 
 
A summary of the proposed mandatory components within the scheme is provided in 
appendix 8. These have been through the CCG engagement process and are 
subject to formal sign-off in February 2021. 
 

Medicines Optimisation 
 
Medicines play a crucial role in maintaining health, preventing illness, managing 
chronic conditions and curing disease. Medicines optimisation looks at the value 
which medicines deliver, making sure they are clinically-effective and cost-effective. 
It is about ensuring people get the right choice of medicines, at the right time, and 
are engaged in the process by their clinical team.  
 
The Medicines Optimisation Team in County Durham CCG contributes to delivery of 
our Primary Care Commissioning Strategy by: 
 

Page 195



 

 
26 

 

 

Communication and Engagement 
 
To ensure our vision and strategy delivers the maximum benefits for patients, 
practice staff and system partners, we will actively engage with stakeholders to 
inform the ongoing development and delivery of the strategy. 
 
Engagement will include (but will not be limited to): 
 

 public, patients and carer representatives; 

 general practices; 

 Primary Care Networks; 

 GP Federations; and 

 local authority, acute and community services, mental health services, 
Safeguarding partnerships, and voluntary community and social enterprise 
services. 
 

The CCG will continue to engage with the public, patients and patient 
representatives through established mechanisms (subject to the planned review 
aimed to strength and enhance those mechanisms) for example and including 

•Supporting medicines safety initiatives, promoting incident reporting and investigation 
and assisting with local and national medication safety alerts 

•Ongoing monitoring of prescribing data to ensure safe prescribing practice including 
Controlled Drug monitoring 

Safety 

•Providing support to all Primary Care Networks and general practices in employing 
and increasing the number of clinical pharmacists working across County Durham 

•Supporting nine cross-sector pre-registration pharmacist posts across County Durham 
for 2020/21 

Increasing the workforce in primary care 

•Supporting practices and pharmacists in monitoring prescribing budgets  

•Ensuring cost-effective prescribing across County Durham 

•Monitoring financial delivery in line with the CCG plan (to improve patient care whilst 
ensuring the cost effective use of the primary care prescribing budget) 

Helping to provide financial balance 

•Providing education, training and peer support to the GPs, nurses, pharmacists and 
other members of the practice team  

•Hosting regular network meetings for pharmacists working in general practices within 
County Durham 

Education and training 

•Providing communication of medicines-related issues via locality prescribing groups, 
patient reference groups and monthly via the Durham Medicines Bulletin 

Communication 

Page 196



 

 
27 

Practice Participation Groups, Patient Reference Groups and the Patient, Public and 
Carers Engagement Committee.  
 
Due to COVID-19 and the need for social distancing we will need to be creative about 
how we engage with people. We are committed to working with all our stakeholders 
to overcome any barriers. 
 
Communication plans will underpin key areas of work and specific projects within our 
strategy. 
 
We want to strengthen the public and patient voice in service delivery and service 
transformation. We will encourage Primary Care Networks to establish closer links 
with public and patients so that they shape and inform service provision and service 
development. Patient engagement will be included as part of the Local Incentive 
Scheme.  

Where appropriate to do so, we will adopt a ‘co-production’ approach to designing 
services. Co-production involves members of staff, patients, carers and the public 
working together, sharing ownership and responsibility across the entirety of a 
project. 
 

Commissioning and Delivery Team Support – Primary Care 
 
This team support both primary care development and primary care commissioning. 
The CCG will continue to support practices which are considering mergers, branch 
and practice closures. Typical areas of support include communication with relevant 
stakeholders and patients, the production of relevant documents for example 
dispersal plans, communication and engagement plans, ensuring NHS policy is 
followed.  

 

 

Page 197



 

 
28 

Financial Investment 
 

Investment into General Practice  
 
Our plan will ensure that additional investment stabilises and transforms general 
practice, enabling it to play its role as a core system partner and support the delivery 
of the aspirations set out in the NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
In 2020/21 the annual budget for primary care is approximately £100m; which is 10% 
of the CCG’s overall funding allocation. A breakdown of the primary care annual 
budget for 2020/21 is shown in the chart below. Further information can be found in 
appendix 9. Throughout the lifespan of our strategy, this budget will be refreshed on 
an annual basis.  

 
 

Projected Funding into Primary Care Networks 
 
The chart below provides a breakdown of how Primary Care Network funding will be 
spent in 2020/21 (pre-COVID-19 position). As shown in the chart, the greatest 
proportion of funding is going towards expanding the workforce and improving 
access for patients. More detail is provided in appendix 8. This will also be 
refreshed on an annual basis. 

 

Page 198



 

 
29 

The chart below shows the investment relating to Primary Care Networks over the 
next five years. 

 

 
  

Page 199



 

 
30 

GP Practice Resilience 
 
In the previous strategy the CCG introduced many initiatives to support general 
practice resilience. In 2019, NHS England set out national strategies to support GP 
resilience which builds upon our local initiatives. These include: 
 

 A GP Fellowship Scheme for newly qualified GPs. This builds upon our local 
successful GP Career Start Scheme 

 GP international recruitment and County Durham is already the beneficiary of 
two recruits 

 GP retainer and retention scheme to enable GPs more flexible working 
options that accommodate deferring immediate retirement or family / carer 
responsibilities 

 New partnership to payment scheme to provide a bursary for those clinicians 
that are considering partnership and have financial constraints to overcome 

 GP practice crown indemnity so that practice staff and Primary Care Network 
staff can work across practices flexibly without the constraints of the previous 
GP practice individual indemnity schemes which were restrictive 

 Primary Care Networks and additional roles across a network of general 
practices to allow greater skills mixing in general practice and utilising the GP 
resource at the right time for the right conditions 

 

Mergers and Dispersals 
 
General practice can vary in terms of size and the population it serves.  On occasion 
it is necessary for practices to merge and the CCG supports them, through an 
initiative fund, to work together to enable this to happen as smoothly as possible. 
Practice mergers have provided an increased resilience of service for the local 
population.  Merged practices have usually resulted in an increase in workforce.   

In some cases practice dispersals are inevitable. Often this is where a single handed 
GP has been unable to secure a replacement.  In these cases the CCG will engage 
with the population affected by this change, listen to their concerns; and work with 
NHS England and local practices to identify alternative GP provision for patients.  

GP Federations and Confederations 
 
The last primary care strategy focused on the development of GP Federations to 
support general practices at scale to compete for services that benefit their 
population.  
 
As CCGs scale up in size nationally and Integrated Care Systems look at population 
health there will be a need for GP Federations across County Durham to have a 
confederate approach to some services or conversations.  
 
There are a number of ways how a confederate approach would exist - from being a 
Council of Members gaining consensus on key issues to a full merger as we have 
noted in Leeds.  
 

Page 200



 

 
31 

We would support GP Federations to decide for themselves how they should group 
together, with the CCG as an enabler for the following two aims: 

1. One voice for GP Federations representing the six GP Federations at both ‘at 
place’ and Integrated Care System level 

2. To explore at scale viable alternative provision to work with community 
services, local authority and Primary Care Networks to provide workforce for 
the fast expanding general practice 
 

Integration of Primary Care, Secondary Care and Social Care 
 
As we develop ‘place based’ arrangements it is vital that the staff within the various 
organisations work closely so that care and pathways for patients are seamless 
without the need for different organisation approvals getting in the way of patient 
care. We will therefore develop plans that explore how the CCG primary care team 
can integrate with our community and local authority teams, and also secondary 
care, so that every organisation works to a joint work plan for patient benefit. These 
plans fit into the wider policy of developing our ‘place based’ integration plans. 
 

  

Page 201



 

 
32 

Estates 
 
We are currently linked into estates forums across County Durham and Darlington 
and feed into Integrated Care System (ICS) wide estates discussions for Cumbria 
and the North East. This ensures that sufficient priority is given to schemes in 
primary care and community services, particularly when accommodating the 
expansion of the primary care workforce and new model of workings.  
 
An estates strategy will be produced following a baseline review of the current 
estate. Any new strategy has to consider:  
 

 What is the current standard of our primary care estate and does it meet all 
the statutory and regulatory compliance? 

 Does the accommodation have sufficient room to accommodate the 
expanding Primary Care Network workforce? 

 Is there sufficient funding set aside for premises improvements, expansion or 
new build premises? 

 Are opportunities for lease re-negotiations optimised? 

 Are co-location opportunities considered in any re-development? 

 Is the process for general practice simple and devoid of bureaucracy? 

 Will any future national premises directions address the barriers that face GPs 
as property owners or leases and succession planning? 

 
We will further develop/maintain close links with the local authority planning 
department, to maximise investment to improve GP facilities where appropriate. For 
instance, if new housing is built, the subsequent rise in the local population 
necessitates increased capacity and new healthcare facilities within the local area. 

  

Page 202



 

 
33 

Delivering our Strategy 
 
Our strategy will be implemented through the Primary Care Delivery Plan, which 
details initiatives, key tasks and project milestones. The primary care team will 
continue to work with stakeholders to deliver the ambition to transform primary care; 
providing quarterly progress updates against the delivery plan to the CCG Executive 
Committee and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.  

The County Durham Primary Care Commissioning Committee makes decisions 
relating to the commissioning of primary care services, for example applications for 
practice mergers, practice dispersal etc. The Committee reports to the CCG 
Governing Body and NHS England/Improvement.  Members of the public are invited 
to attend the meetings to observe the Committee at work in order to listen to the 
business being discussed and to have the opportunity to ask questions relating to 
the items on the agenda. 

To understand whether our strategy is making a difference, a number of measures 
will be developed and used as indicators of success – including indicators based on 
the NHS ‘Triple Aim’ approach (see appendix 10). As part of the Local Incentive 
Scheme/ and through our existing contracting arrangements, we will also monitor a 
range of other indicators. We will use data for continuous improvement and will 
develop a mechanism for communicating and celebrating success. 

 

Concluding Remarks 
 
Our Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy has been informed by 
the aspirations for primary care set out in the NHS Long Term Plan and insights 
generated through our engagement process. Further engagement will be needed to 
check that our vision and the strategy set out above remains focused on what 
matters most to our local population, workforce and providers. 
 

 

  

Page 203



 

 
34 

Acknowledgements 
 
We would like to thank everyone who has made a contribution to the development of 
our strategy, including all those who have taken the time to respond to surveys and 
feedback comments. 
 
We would like to thank members of the GP Practice Focus Group who have input 
into the strategy and also provided editorial oversight. Members of the group 
included Dr D Robertson, Dr F Whalley, Dr D Samuel, Dr J Levick and Practice 
Managers, Paul Dodds, Martin Bell, Caren Purvis. 
 
During 2019 the local authority Adult Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) formed a primary care task group to look at resilience issues that 
had been a feature of primary care in County Durham. A report was written up by the 
OSC officer Stephen Gwillym. Recommendations within this report have been fed 
into this strategy. 
 
The Primary Care Network Clinical Directors undertook a workshop to input into how 
networks develop as the landscape changes. 
 
The Patient Reference Groups feedback has also influenced both the content and 
style of this strategy; with thanks to Linda Allison and Jill Matthewson for proof 
reading the document. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 204



 

 
35 

Appendices 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



 

 
36 

Appendix 1: National and Local Context 
 
National Context 
 
In January 2019, NHS England published the NHS Long Term Plan setting out the 
overarching long term goals for the NHS and specific changes for primary care 
through dissolving the divide between primary care and community based health 
services.  
 
Building on the ambitions set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View and the 
General Practice Forward View, the plan emphasises a shift of focus away from 
hospitals and towards community and primary care and acknowledges the 
challenges currently being faced in general practice such as:  
 

 increase in an aging population with multiple long term conditions (LTCs) and 
health inequalities;  

 workforce demands including challenges with recruitment and retention of 
GPs, practice nurses and practice managers; 

 increase in the number of financially vulnerable practices; and  

 demands on secondary care with expectations of more specialist care 
delivered closer to home. 

 
The NHS Long Term Plan places primary care at the centre by, developing Primary 
Care Networks (PCNs) as the foundation for Integrated Care Systems (ICSs), 
focusing on preventing ill health and tackling health inequalities, supporting the 
workforce, as well as maximising the opportunities presented by data and technology 
with a continued focus on efficiency and introduces a key role for community 
pharmacy in helping to deliver this ambition.  
 

The five-year GP and community pharmacy contract reforms further support the 
delivery of the plan all of which provides a strong platform to set the ambition of 
going further and faster at a local level across the next five years to integrate care.  
 

County Durham Context 
 
Whilst health and wellbeing has improved significantly in County Durham over recent 
years, it remains worse than the England average. County Durham has an ageing 
population with higher than average numbers of people living with long term 
conditions many with complex health needs. Access to effective, high quality primary 
care to help achieve improved health outcomes and reduced health inequalities, is 
essential.  
 
An increasing population coupled with high deprivation levels in some parts of 
County Durham means that demand for GP services is likely to increase and in order 
to meet this anticipated demand we need to ensure that the County has an adequate 
numbers of GPs and other healthcare professionals and that practices have effective 
appointment systems and a wide ranging skills mix within their practice teams. 
 

Page 206

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/gpfv.pdf


 

 
37 

Appendix 2: Map of Primary Care Networks in County Durham 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



 

 
38 

Appendix 3: What are our stakeholders telling us? 
 
Our Patients   

The key issues raised by patients in regard to primary care through pre-COVID 
engagement activity included:   
 
Access: People are having to call practices many times before getting through; 
difficulty accessing same day appointments and not being able to book appointments 
in advance. 
 
Continuity of care: People want to see the same GP who knows them, as they find 
it exhausting having to repeat their story; they also want to see the use of locum GPs 
minimised. 
 
Use of digital technology:  Older people are worrying about online bookings - they 
just want to be able to phone or call into the practice; concerns were raised about 
ordering repeat prescriptions electronically. 
 
Integration and care closer to home: Teams Around Patients (TAPs) and Primary 
Care Networks (PCNs) are working well, but more social care input needs to be 
strengthened; better access to mental health support is needed; we also need to 
enable shared decision making with patients. 
 
Prevention and self-care: More focus should be given to prevention and helping 
patients to self-care. 
 
Workforce: This is an area of real concern - we need to recruit more GPs and use 
other health professionals to support GPs. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has meant that NHS healthcare staff have needed to use 
different ways of providing clinical consultations to ensure that patients still get the 
healthcare they need. As well as the traditional methods such as face-to-face; GPs, 
nurses and hospital staff have been using other, safer ways to consult such as 
telephone, online or video consultations.  
 
Throughout June and July 2020, County Durham CCG, Sunderland CCG and South 
Tyneside CCG together undertook a collaborative piece of research to understand 
the thoughts of the general public of the different ways people can consult with a 
healthcare professional at their general practice.  
 
Key findings are follows: 
 

 1,157 of the 1,710 respondents were from County Durham.  

 Of those who were offered an appointment since the COVID-19 lockdown, 
67% were offered a telephone consultation, 37% were offered a face to face 
consultation and 7% were offered a video consultation (respondents were 
able to select more than one response, hence percentages do not add up to 
100%).  

Page 208



 

 
39 

 Benefits outlined by patients/carers included the reduced spread of infection, 
quicker access and convenience.  

 Concerns were raised about some cohorts of the population being less able to 
access such technology including older people and those with a learning 
disability; also that a condition may be missed where virtual consultations are 
carried out. 

 
Our Practices 
 
In November 2019, practices completed an online survey to help us develop our 
strategy. Emerging themes from responses included: 
 
Access: Whilst extended seven day access and telephone consultations have had a 
positive impact and helped to manage demand, more awareness and education is 
needed to enable patients make the best choice when accessing services. 
 
Integration: We need to maintain a focus on developing joined-up, out of hospital 
care. The need to integrate health and social care was highlighted along with 
greater emphasis on prevention.  
 
Workforce: Retention and recruitment of GPs and Practice Nurses remains a 
serious issue. Training for all staff, including administrative staff and managers was 
deemed important. 
 
Sustainability and resilience: Resilience in primary care is being tested to the limit 
and help to manage the ever growing workload is needed. Support with practice 
mergers was welcomed.  
 
Digital technology: Greater use of digital technology and a mechanism to enable 
data sharing between practices and community services was needed. 
 
Communication and engagement: More engagement is needed with practices at 
grass roots level and with patients. We need to become better at publicising our 
successes. 
 
Less bureaucracy: Practices want to free up GP time spent on non-clinical work for 
direct patient care and to see a less bureaucratic system.   
 
Funding: Practices highlighted the need for sustainable/recurrent budgets. 
 
In May 2020, 152 practice staff responded to an online survey regarding changes to 
working practices catalysed by COVID-19 and the changes needed in the light of 
recent experiences. Areas for development highlighted by practice staff are as 
shown below.  
 
Consultations and remote working: Improved quality of patient access; 
opportunity for at scale working to manage telephone calls; potential to work 
differently across primary and secondary care; improved working practices for staff. 
 

Page 209



 

 
40 

Relationships with Teams Around Patients (TAPs) and Social Care: Ongoing 
development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs); working together to ensure 
integration with the wider health and care system. 
 
Future changes in Primary Care: Use of digital solutions; upskilling staff; 
collaborative working across practices. 
 
Care Homes: Care home alignment with practices; robust medical management of 
patients, improved working relationships and ownership. 
 
Secondary Care: Joined up approach to care; improved relationships across 
sectors; more effective communication and improved usage and effectiveness of 
technology.  

 
Primary Care Network Clinical Directors 
 
A development session was held on 23 October 2020 with County Durham Primary 
Care Network Clinical Directors. The following questions were posed: 
 

 What is the role of Primary Care Network Clinical Directors in a place based 
organisation? 

 What is the role of Primary Care Network directors in the North East and 
North Cumbria Integrated Care System? 
 

The themes that came out of the discussion included: 
 

 Is there enough PCN representation on the Integrated Care System (ICS) and 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) boards? Time and funding to provide 
representation was an issue.   

 Scope to form a confederation model (a collective or merger of GP 
Federations) across County Durham 

 Concern over losing current level of CCG support in times of change. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 210



 

 
41 

Appendix 4: Impact of COVID-19  
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted disproportionately on certain segments of 
our population, namely our older population; those with existing underlying health 
conditions such as diabetes and obesity; our BAME (black and minority ethnic) 
population and those living/working in more disadvantaged circumstances.  
 

COVID-19 has also had a significant impact on the way that health and care services 
are delivered to people in County Durham and it is likely that the impact will be 
ongoing for some time as long as COVID-19 remains a risk to health.  
 
As part of our response to COVID-19, we were required to mobilise some urgent 
system changes, based on advice from NHS England, to release clinical staff from 
primary care to work in other health settings and to support patients where needed.  
 
One of the first things to happen was a move to a ‘triage first’ model and greater use 
of online and video consultations, so that patients did not have to attend a practice in 
person and enabling clinical staff to work remotely if needed. Primary Care Networks 
(PCNs) were also required to deliver a package of support to care homes ahead of 
the Network Contract Direct Enhanced Service (DES) requirements. 
 
To ensure that the positive transformative changes are not lost, we must take steps 
to lock-in these improvements moving forward. As part of our refreshed primary care 
strategy and COVID-19 recovery planning we will take into consideration the 
following dimensions. 
 
 

Page 211



 

 
42 

 

*Long COVID is a non-medical term given to the longer term effects of COVID-19. 
Some estimates suggest that 10% of COVID patients may experience symptoms 
more than three weeks after infection, with a proportion of people suffering from long 
COVID symptoms for more than three months. Symptoms can include 
breathlessness, chronic fatigue, neurological symptoms, anxiety and stress and 
‘brain fog’.  

 

 

 

•Digital technology to help patients to access primary care 
services in different ways and support new ways of working 

•Full implementation of enhanced health in care homes service 
model as part of the Network Contract DES  

Embedding COVID 
driven transformation  

• Implementation of early cancer diagnosis service requirements 

•Understanding demand and re-establishing GP referrals to acute 
hospitals and mental health services  

•Local Incentive Scheme (LIS) indicators in 2020/21 deemed no  
longer deliverable replaced by those supporting pathways 
between primary and secondary care  

•Restart of service development/redesign which was planned pre 
COVID-19 

Managing the 
backlog of non-
COVID patients, 

whose treatments 
were delayed 

•Embedding the lessons learned into ways of working, business 
continuity plans and future pandemic response 

Building resilience 
for future COVID 

waves 

•Enhancing population health management locally with a focus on 
prevention, recognising the inequality in relation to COVID-19 
and those groups who may have been disproportionally 
disadvantaged 

Reducing health 
inequalities 

•Work in collaboration with other health and care organisations 
including the acute hospital and local authority, to explore how 
people experiencing the longer term effects of COVID-19 can be 
supported in their recovery and establish a new patient pathway 

Long COVID* 

Page 212



 

 
43 

Appendix 5: North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care 
System (ICS)  
 
In June 2019, North East and North Cumbria, was confirmed by NHS England as 
one of a small number of ‘Integrated Care Systems’ across the country. The North 
East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) is a regional partnership 
between the NHS, local authorities, and others, taking collective responsibility for 
resources, setting strategic objectives and care standards, and improving the health 
of the 3.1 million people it serves. The NHS Long Term Plan set out clear 
expectations for all Integrated Care Systems.  
 

Our ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners and providers, and our partners, 
and not a new organisation with statutory powers. The majority of our work is 
focused in ‘places’ and ‘neighbourhoods’; but, alongside this, our ICS provides a 
mechanism to build consensus on those issues that need to be tackled ‘at scale’. 
 
Our ICS builds upon existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of 
Clinical Commissioning Groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. 
This involves local Primary Care Networks (GPs and other health and care 
professionals) and NHS foundation trusts, working with local authority and voluntary 
sector partners, in improving health and wellbeing through extending the reach and 
effectiveness of our services.  
 
The North East and North Cumbria ICS is focussed on ‘at scale’ priorities that 
multiplies our collective impact around overarching clinical strategy and clinical 
networks, strategic commissioning (e.g. for ambulance services) and shared policy 
development. It is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs). In County 
Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS organisations came together, 
working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a 
coordinated way as the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP). 
 
The figure below shows the different scale of working across our ICS. 
 

 

Page 213



 

 
44 

 

Our ICS Five Year Strategic Plan, published in November 2019, outlines how we will:  
 

 bring together local organisations in a pragmatic and practical way;  

 ensure patients get more options, better support, and properly joined-up care 
at the right time and place;  

 relieve pressure on accident and emergency departments (A&Es) through 
more effective population health management and service coordination; 

 strengthen our contribution to prevention and tackling health inequalities to 
help people stay healthy and moderate demand on the NHS; and 

 develop a new ‘system architecture’ that delivers strategic action on workforce 
transformation, digitally-enabled care, and the collaborative approaches to 
innovation and efficiency that will restore our whole ICS to financial balance.  

 
Our ICS strategic plan also sets out its ambitions for primary care. Our primary care 
commissioning and investment strategy, given its focus on Primary Care Network 
development, will help the ICS achieve its ambitions for primary care.  
 

 
* Since deferred until 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•Mobilising primary care neworks e.g. 100% delivering services to 
improve: optimisation of medication across the ICS; Enhanced Health in 
Care Homes; Anticipatory Care*; Supporting Early Cancer Diagnosis; 
Personalised Care*  

•  Support Urgent Care e.g. Community Pharmacy Consultation 
Service delivered by 60% Pharmacies 

By April 2020 

•  Integrated prevention and diagnosis pathways in place across 
primary care in line with ICS priorities (cardiovascular disease)  

By 2021  

•  Local access standards agreed and achieved across primary care  
•  All contract reforms are embedded 

By 2024 

Page 214



 

 
45 

Appendix 6: Additional Roles in Primary Care 
 
Expanding the workforce is top priority for primary care and is fundamental to 
boosting capacity to: 

 
• alleviate workload pressures on existing staff; 
• improve patient experience of access; and 

• improve the quality of care and implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan 
goals, including the integration of care. 

 
The Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme will enable Primary Care Networks to 

recruit additional staff roles to help meet the needs of the population and deliver the 

new service requirements. Primary Care Networks will have flexibility to select from 

the roles tabled below in 2020/21; with the addition of a mental health practitioner 

role from April 2021. 

 

Social Prescribing Link 
Worker 

Promotes and provides connection to community groups and 
statutory services 

Health and Wellbeing Coach Promotes and supports positive behaviour change 

Care Coordinator Holistically brings together all of a person’s identified care and support 
needs, and explores options to meet these within a single personalised 
care and support plan  based on what matters to the person 

Clinical Pharmacist Patient facing member of practice multi-disciplinary team (MDT), 
supports patients with complex polypharmacy/medication regimes 

Pharmacy Technician Patient facing and patient supporting role for medicines optimisation 

First Contact Physiotherapist Provides assessment, diagnosis, triage and management of 
patients, including first line treatment options (e.g. self-
management, referral to rehab etc.) 

Physician Associate First point of contact for patients, provides health/disease 
promotion and prevention advice and supports management 
of patients’ conditions 

Occupational Therapist Provides support and care to patients to manage their physical and 
mental health long term conditions 

Dietitian Provides specialist nutrition and diet advice via a nutrition support 
service 

Podiatrist Educates, assesses, treats and manages patients with lower limb 
conditions and foot pathologies. 

Nursing Associate Supports registered nurses to focus on the more complex clinical 
care, by performing and recording clinical observations, and with 
training - providing flu vaccinations, ECGs and venepuncture. 

Nursing Associate Trainee Works under the direction and supervision of registered nurse with a 
focus on promoting good health and independence, whilst 
completing 2 year nursing associate training programme. 

Page 215



 

 
46 

Appendix 7: Network Directed Enhanced Service Requirements 
2020/21 
 

 

• Emergency, same day or pre-booked 
appointments available outside of the core 
practice opening hours 

• Appointments may be provided face to face, 
by telephone, by video or by online 
consultation 

Extended Hours Access 

• Focus on priority groups including the care 
home residents; frail elderly; those on 10 
medications or more 

• Directly tackling over-use of medication, 
including inappropriate use of antibiotics 

Structured Medication 
Review and Medicines 

Optimisation 

• Named lead GP with responsibility for the 
service 

• Weekly 'home round' for people living in the 
care homes 

• Multidisciplinary team arrangements in 
place 

• Personalised care and support plans 

Enhanced Health in Care 
Homes 

• Ensuring high and prompt uptake of cancer 
screening programmes 

• Review the quality of Practice referrals for 
suspected cancer against NICE guideline 
recommendations 

Early Cancer Diagnosis 

• Social Prescribing Link Workers assessing 
how far a patient’s health and wellbeing 
needs can be met by services and other 
opportunities available in the community 

• Co-production of a simple personalised care 
and support plan for patients and their 
carers 

Social Prescribing Service 

Page 216



 

 
47 

Appendix 8: Local Incentive Scheme 2021/22 (Draft) 
 
Component Brief description Alignment to strategy  

CORE SECTION 

Engagement 
 

Regular practice attendance at relevant CCG 
meetings to allow representatives time to come 
together for collective decision making, allow the 
CCG to engage with practices to promote and 
improve the safety, quality and cost 
effectiveness of prescribing and decisions 
associated with prescribing and support 
practices to work collaboratively with patient 
groups. 

 Supports all priorities 

Care Navigation 
 

Formal signposting role to support general 
practice access and ensure patients receive the 
right care by the right person in a timely manner. 

 Priority 1: Supporting 
self-care 

Improving Access 
 

Building on current systems, ensuring patients 
have better access to care with the use of 
technology and Primary Care Network support 
roles. 

 Priority 2: Improving 
access to care, through 
technology 

Urgent and 
Emergency Care 
 

Supports the national standards, ensuring 
patients get access to same day urgent care 
where needed and seen at the most appropriate 
place.  Allows for health and social care partners 
to work together. 

 Priority 2: Improving 
access to care 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

Data Sharing 
Agreements 
 

Supports safe and effective delivery of patient 
care and share non-clinical data to support 
network analysis. 

 Priority 2: Improving 
access to care, through 
technology 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

Practice Clinical 
Systems (Ardens, 
Qmaster or DCS) 

Supports consistency in management of patients 
and recording of patient information. 

 Priority 2: Improving 
access to care, through 
technology 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

National Workforce 
Reporting System 

Captures practice level data on workforce, 
including absences and vacancies. 

 Priority 3: Broadening 
the team 
 

Supporting 
Integration 
 

Supports the development and sustainability of 
Primary Care Networks and promotes a more 
coordinated approach to patient care.  

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

 

Mental Health 
 

Supports improvement in access to and the 
quality of physical health checks for people with 
severe mental illness.  Practices are required to 
submit an action plan, if they fall below the 
target of 50%. 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 
 

 

Enhanced 
Treatments 
 

Providing more equitable care across the area 
and providing options for patients to access 
services closer to home for example community 
outpatient phlebotomy services. 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

 

COVID-19 
 

Ongoing support to pandemic in line with 
national guidance and work to support patients 
suffering from Long COVID. 

 Impact of COVID 
 

Patient Services 
 

Delivery of ongoing services and access to 
specialist community nurses. 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

Direct Access 
Services 

Services available to practices where the 
hospital provider allows, for example diagnostic 
imaging and scans. 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

Page 217



 

 
48 

Component Brief description Alignment to strategy  

Demand 
Management 
 

Practices to look at data reports to understand 
and identify areas that require work/support. 
Carry out audits on cases to see what can be 
learnt from them and improve pathways using 
individual patients’ scenarios.  

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

 

QUALITY & PRESCRIBING SECTION 

Flu Vaccinations 
 

Practice staff (clinical and non-clinical) to have an 
annual flu vaccination; target 80%. 
Delivering patient flu vaccinations; target minimum 
of 75% of adults 65 and over. 

 Priority 1: Supporting 
self-care (and 
prevention) 

Learning 
Disability 

Practices are required to carry out annual health 
checks on 75% of registered learning disability 
patients by 2023 (aged 14 and over). 
Targets: 2021/22 – 70%; 2022/23 – 73%; 
2023/24 – 75%. 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

 

Stopping over 
medication of 
people with a 
learning 
disability, autism 
or both (STOMP) 

Ongoing management and review of adult patients 
on the learning disability register that are on anti-
psychotic medication with no diagnosis of 
psychosis. 
 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 

 

Cancer Patients referred within the two week wait for 
suspected cancer will receive the appropriate 
patient information leaflet; target 90%. 
Cancer care review to be completed on patients 
within six months of diagnosis. 

 Priority 4: Joined up 
care, closer to home 
 

 
  

Page 218



 

 
49 

Appendix 9: Investment  
 

Investment in Primary Care  
 
The General Practice Forward View indicated that there would be increases in CCG 
funding to general practice at least equal to and ideally more than the increases in 
CCG allocations.  
 
There is commitment from the CCG to support primary care and deliver the 
expectations of the General Practice Forward View. The table below provides a 
breakdown of the 2019/20 annual budget by our predecessor CCGs (this was the 
budget before Primary Care Networks) and the annual budget for County Durham 
CCG in 2020/21, which also excludes Primary Care Network funding. 
 
  
  

2019/20 2020/21 

DDES CCG and 
North Durham 

CCG 
Combined 

£m  

County Durham 
CCG 

 
 

£m 

Primary Care Delegated Budgets 
General Medical Services (GMS) is a national contract and payments 
are in line with the Statement of Financial Entitlement; Primary 
Medical Services (PMS) is a local contract and payments are in line 
with the Statement of Financial Entitlement; Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF) covers clinical and public health, practices can 
chose to provide this service; Enhanced services covers payments 
made to practices which provide extended hours, minor surgery, 
learning disability, dementia, extended patient choice and unplanned 
admissions; Premises costs relate to rent, rates and water and 
are paid in line with the GMS/PMS directions; and Other GP services 
relate to payments for seniority, needles and syringes, interpretation, 
locums and suspended GP’s. 

£80.6 £83.6 

Primary Care Scheme - Local Incentive Scheme 

Relates to the Practice Based Budget schemes within the CCGs - the 
purpose of the schemes is to increase investment in primary 
care/community services and reduce variation in spend between 
practices. 

£6.3 £7.6 

Extended Access 
Relates to home visiting services provided via GP Federations, 
agreed by the Local A&E Delivery Board (LADB), funded from CCG 
resilience monies; plus additional extended access services on 
evenings and weekends, over and above those contracted via the 
Delegated Budget enhanced service above, funded from Improving 
Access to General Practice £6 per head. 

£5.4 £5.5 

Integrated Diabetes Service 
Provided via GP Federations. £1.5 £1.5 

GP IT  
Covers information technology services and support provided to 
general practices. 

£2 £1.9 

Other 
Minor Ailments are payments to Pharmacies for other commissioned 
services including the minor ailment service; Career Start Nurses 
relates to the Practice Nurse Career Start Scheme funded by the 
CCGs; and Protected Learning Time (PLT) supported by the CCG. 

£0.7 £0.6 

 
The table above incorporates all of the investment in respective priorities highlighted 
earlier in the document. 

Page 219



 

 
50 

The 2020/21 budget figures included above represent the budgets set at the start of 
the financial year.  In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, temporary financial 
arrangements have been implemented across the NHS during 2020/21 which has 
significantly impacted the funding allocations of the CCG. There is currently 
uncertainty over financial arrangements and funding envelopes across the NHS for 
2021/22 which will determine CCG budgets and any funding available for investment 
in 2021/22. 

 
Projected Additional Investment into General Practice and Primary Care 
Networks 
 
At a national level, funding for the core practice contract (i.e. excluding the network 
DES) has been agreed and fixed for each of the next five years, and increases by 
£978 million in 2023/241. The Network DES contract will further increase investment 
over the five years to be worth up to £1,799 billion in 2023/242; comprising of four 
components: 

 
1. Additional roles  
2. Network support 
3. Access 
4. Investment and Impact Fund (IIF) 

 
In addition to the above components, a care home premium has been introduced as 
part of the updated GP contract agreement 2020/21-2023/24.  
 
Assuming a raw registered population of 558,283 (as at 1 January 2020, NHS 
Digital) and weighted population of 635,733 across County Durham, it is possible to 
project practice contract funding and network funding over the next five years. The 
notional figures in the tables below are based on the assumption the population 
remains static over the course of this strategy. The table below only shows the 
increase on the General Medical Services (GMS) baseline contract. 
 
Projected Practice Contract Funding 

  
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Cumulative increase £000's 
 

781 1,301 1,621 1,488 1,647 TBC 

Annual increase % 
 

1.4 2.3 2.8 2.5 2.7 TBC 

         Further increase* £000's 
  

199 199 199 199 TBC 

*Share of £20m announced in March 2020 re QOF and Post Natal checks. 
   

Projected Recurrent Network Funding 

   
£ 000's 

 
  

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

1. Additional Roles Scheme (starts Jul-19)* 701 4,504 7,810 10,751 14,782 14,782 

2. Network Support             

£1.50 per head from CCG general allocation 832 832 837 837 846 846 

GP PCN leadership (0.25 wte/PCN, starts Jul-19) 285 400 395 405 414 414 

4. Investment and Impact Fund 0 404 1,379 2,069 2,758 2,758 

5. Care Home Premium 0 315 630 630 630 630 

TOTAL PCN FUNDING 1,818 6,455 11,051 14,692 19,430 19,430 

*Maximum funding available, dependent upon pay grade and numbers of additional staff employed. 
2024/25 figure to be confirmed.       

                                            
1
 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/gp-contract-2019.pdf Page 51 

2
 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/gp-contract-2019.pdf Page 52 & 53 

Page 220

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/gp-contract-2019.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/gp-contract-2019.pdf


 

 
51 

 

   
£ 000's 

   
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

3. Access 
      

Extended Hours Access DES* 609 800 800 800 800 800 

Improving Access to General Practice  
at £6/head** 

3,350 3,350 3,374 3,457 3,540 3,540 

TOTAL PCN ACCESS FUNDING 3,959 4,150 4,174 4,257 4,340 4,340 

* Includes Extended Hours paid to practices until 30 June 2019, excludes GMS contract element. 
** Includes Improving Access to General Practice paid to General Practice until 31 March 2021. 

  
General Practice funding linked to Network 
   £ 000's 

   2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Practice Participation payment** 1,112 1,112 1,112 1,112 1,112 1,112 

TOTAL ADDITIONAL GP & PCN FUNDING 7,670 13,217 18,157 21,748 26,728 26,728 

*Paid directly to General Practice for participation in Primary Care Network scheme. 
  

  Funding direct to GP practices 

  Funding to Primary Care Networks 

 
The chart below shows the projected growth in investment into Primary Care 
Networks and general practice over the span of this strategy. Figures exclude the 
GMS practice contract budget. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£
0
0
0
S

 

TOTAL PCN FUNDING 
 (INCLUDING PRACTICE PARTICIPATION PAYMENT) 

Page 221



 

 
52 

Appendix 10: Measuring Outcomes 
 
We will adopt the NHS ‘Triple Aim’ approach to performance, which focuses on 
better health for everyone, better care for all patients, and sustainability, both for 
their local NHS system and for the wider NHS.  Triple Aim outcome measures put 
patients at the centre of care.  At its core, the focus of the Triple Aim is to improve 
the lives of our patients.  
 
We will continue to use the National GP Survey results as a measure of overall 
experience of general practice as well as the Long Term Plan ‘headline’ metrics 
relevant to primary care. We recognise that primary care is not wholly responsible for 
any area of care, but equally, is intimately involved in everything. Examples of 
outcome measures are shown below. 
 

 
 
Key points to note: 
 

1. Baseline measurements will be undertaken on the agreed ‘Triple Aim’ 
indicators and improvements will be included in the annual primary care 
report. 

2. The workforce plan will set out a baseline and trajectory for workforce 
expansion. 

3. The Primary Care Network Direct Enhanced Service (DES) provides a suite of 
indicators that will allow us to measure improvements for aging well, 
integration and workforce expansion. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Health Outcomes 

•Rates of polypharmacy 

•Rates of late cancer 
diagnosis 

•Rates of cardiovascular 
disease (CVD) 

•Percentage of patients 
dying in preferred place of 
care 

•Rates of diabetes diagnosis 

Patient Experience 
Outcomes 

•National GP Survey – 
overall experience of 
general practice 

•GP contract/PCN patient 
reported access measure 
(TBC)  

•Rates of electronic 
consultations 

Workforce Outcomes 

•Number of GPs employed 
in NHS (CCG level data) 

•Number of full time 
equivalents, above 
baseline, in the PCN 
additional role 
reimbursement scheme 

•Proportion of providers with 
an 'outstanding' or 'good' 
rating from the Care Quality 
Commission for the ‘well 
led’ domain 

Page 222



 

 
53 

Appendix 11: Timeline 
 

 Initiative 

2
0
2
0
/2

1
 

2
0
2
1
/2

2
 

S
e
lf
-C

a
re

 

Ongoing development of Care Navigation – linked to new roles / services    

Embedding the Social Prescribing Link Worker role into PCNs 
 

  

Support PCNs with recruitment of Health and Wellbeing Coached and Care Coordinators    

Voluntary community and social enterprise sector – detail TBC   

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 

c
a
re

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 

Triage First - embedding COVID driven transformation and learning   
 

  

Implementation of digital solutions including booking appointments; online/video consultations; ordering 
repeat prescriptions; enabling patients to view their own care record – in line with the regional strategy 

  

Telehealth in care homes   

B
ro

a
d
e
n
in

g
 t

h
e
 t
e
a
m

 

Development of our Workforce Plan   

Implementation of the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme   

GP Career Start Scheme   

Ongoing Practices Nurses Career Start Scheme and nurse development   

Education and training – engagement with HEE   

Intending Trainers Course   

Reception and administrative  training   

J
o
in

e
d
-u

p
 c

a
re

, 
c
lo

s
e
r 

to
 h

o
m

e
 

 

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Extended Hours Access 
 

  

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Structured Medication Review and Medicines 
Optimisation 

  

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Enhanced Health in Care Homes   

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Early Cancer Diagnosis   

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Social Prescribing Service   

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Anticipatory care   

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Personalised care   

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Cardiovascular disease (CVD) prevention and 
diagnosis 

  

Implementation of Network DES service requirements - Tackling neighbourhood inequalities   

Review of Community Specialist Practitioners and Vulnerable Adult Wrap Around Service (VAWAS) 
nurses role in the context of PCN development and integration  

  

Community outpatient phlebotomy services and ECG tests    

Community Mental Health – practice based mental health workers (interdependency with Mental Health 
Chapter in the County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2019-25)  

  

Promote annual health checks with people living with learning disabilities and health checks for patients 
with autism to be piloted  

  

 
NB: Each initiative will have its own project plan, communication and engagement strategy and 

equality impact assessment. 

Page 223



 

 
54 

Glossary 
 
Acute Trust: NHS body that provides medical and 

surgical services from one or more hospitals. 
 
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme: 

Funding to enable new roles to be introduced into 
Primary Care Networks; to help solve the workforce 
shortage in general practice. 
 
BAME: Stands for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

and is defined as all ethnic groups except White 
ethnic groups. 
 
Cardiovascular disease (CVD): Also known as 

heart disease refers to diseases that affect the heart 
or blood vessels. Hypertension (high blood 
pressure) is the most common form. 
 
Care Home Premium:  A Primary Care Network is 

entitled to a payment to facilitate delivery of 
services to patients in care homes. The payment is 
calculated on the basis of £60 per bed for the period 
1 August 2020 to 31 March 2021. 
 
Care Pathway: the care and treatment a patient 

receives from start to finish for a particular illness or 
condition, irrespective of which part of the health 
services or social care services deliver the care or 
treatment, and include care received at home, in 
community and hospital settings.  

Care Quality Commission (CQC): Independent 

regulator of all health and social care services in 
England. Its role is to make sure health and social 
care services provide people with safe, effective, 
compassionate, high-quality care and encourage 
care services to improve. 
 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG): An 

organisation which plans and organises 
(commissions) health services which replaced 
primary care trusts (PCTs) in April 2013. CCGs are 
led by GPs that are responsible for how NHS 
funding in their community will be spent. 
 
Commissioning: A means of getting best value for 

the local population through translating aspirations 
and need, by documenting service requirements and 
then buying those services. 
 
Co-production: Services are co-designed and co-

produced with the people who need them, as well 
as their carers. 
 
Crown Indemnity: Government-funded scheme 

provides GPs and others providing NHS services 
for general practice with comprehensive, automatic 
cover for clinical negligence claims. 
 
Directly Enhanced Service (DES): Additional 

services that GPs can choose to provide to their 
patients that are financially incentivised by NHS 
England; a contract to provide extra services. 
 
 

 
Electrocardiogram (ECG): A test of the electrical 

activity of the heart. 
 
Engagement: Developing and sustaining a working 

relationship with the local community in order to 
help understand and act on the needs or issues that 
arise.  
 
Enhanced Services: These are elements of 

essential or additional services delivered to a higher 
specification, or medical services outside the normal 
scope of primary medical services, which are 
designed around the needs of the local population. 
 
GP Federation: Group of general practices or 

surgeries forming an organisational entity and 
working together within the local health economy. 
The remit of a GP Federation is generally to share 
responsibility for delivering high quality, patient-
focussed services for its communities. 
 
General Medication Services (GMS): A type of 

GP contract between general practices and NHS 
England for delivering primary care services to local 
communities.  
 
Health and Wellbeing Board: Forum for local 

representatives from the NHS, public health and 
social care, councillors, and HealthWatch to discuss  
how to work together to improve the health and 
wellbeing outcomes of the people in their area. 
 
Health Outcomes: Changes in health that result 

from measures or specific health care investments 
or interventions. 
 
HealthWatch: The independent consumer 

champion for the public - locally and nationally - to 
promote better outcomes in health and social care.  
 
Integrated Care System (ICS): These have evolved 

from Sustainability and Transformation Plans and 
take the lead in planning and commissioning care for 
their populations and providing system leadership. 
They bring together NHS providers and 
commissioners and local authorities to work in 
partnership in improving health and care in their 
area.  
 
Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP): Integrated 

care partnerships (ICPs) are alliances of NHS 
providers that work together to deliver care by 
agreeing to collaborate rather than compete. These 
providers include hospitals, community services, 
mental health services and GPs. Social care and 
independent and third sector providers may also be 
involved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



 

 
55 

Investment and Impact Fund (IIF): This has been 

introduced as part of the amended 2020/21 Network 
Contract Directed Enhanced Service (DES). It is an 
incentive scheme that will support PCNs to deliver 
high quality care to their population, and the 
delivery of the priority objectives outlined in the 
NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
Local Incentive Scheme (LIS): A CCG led process 

to engage GPs in priority areas such as working to 
address specific health objectives for the local 
population. This has included long term conditions, 
health checks for people with a learning disability, 
and effective prescribing. 

 
Medicines Optimisation: This looks at the value 

which medicines deliver, making sure they are 
clinically-effective and cost-effective. It is about 
ensuring people get the right choice of medicines, 
at the right time, and are engaged in the process by 
their clinical team.  
 
Patient: Someone who uses health services. Some 

people use the terms service user or client instead.  

 
Patient Participation Groups (PPG) Group 

organised within a GP practice to ensure that 
patients are involved in decisions about the range 
and quality of services provided by the practice. 
 
Patient Reference Group (PRG): The PRG is 

where a representative of each PPG from a 
geographical area come together to discuss a range 
of common issues raised by their PPGs. 

Practice Participation Payment: A payment made 

to practices for participating in a network; 
supporting GP practice engagement. 
 
Practice Protected Learning Time (PLT): This 

provides an opportunity for practice staff to address 
their own learning and professional development 
needs. Put simply, practices close for an afternoon 
to allow for Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) learning activities. 
 
Primary Care Network (PCN): A primary care 

network consists of groups of general practices 
working together with a range of local providers, 
including across primary care, community services, 
social care and the voluntary sector, to offer more 
personalised, coordinated health and social care to 
their local populations. Networks would normally be 
based around natural local communities typically 
serving populations of at least 30,000 and not 
tending to exceed 50,000. They should be small 
enough to maintain the traditional strengths of 
general practice but at the same time large enough 
to provide resilience and support the development of 
integrated teams. 
 
Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF): A voluntary 

annual reward and incentive programme for all GP 
surgeries in England, detailing practice achievement 
results. It is not about performance management but 
resourcing and then rewarding good practice. 

Safeguarding: This is about protecting a person's 

rights to live in safety and free from abuse and 
neglect. 

Secondary Care: More complicated or specialist 

healthcare, either outpatient or inpatient, that is 
usually provided by hospitals, and is normally 
received following a referral by another health 
professional rather than being universal or open 
access for all patients.  

Service Specification: A document describing the 

requirements of a particular service. 
 
Shared Decision Making: An approach where 

clinicians and patients share the best available 
evidence when faced with the task of making 
decisions, and where patients are supported to 
consider options, to achieve informed preferences. 
 
Social Care: A range of non-medical home-based 

community or residential services arranged by local 
councils to help people who are in need of support 
due to illness, disability, old age or poverty. Social 
care services are available to everyone, regardless 
of background however, rules about eligibility apply.  
 
Stakeholder: A person, group, or organisation who 

affects or can be affected by an organisation's 
actions. 
 
Teams Around Patients (TAPs): Teams of doctors, 

community nurses, specialist nurses, therapists and 
voluntary service representatives, serving 
communities of between 30,000 and 50,000 – 
providing ‘wrap around’ and coordinated  care to 
patients. 
 
Triage First model: In response to the COVID-19 

pandemic, NHS England and NHS Improvement 
have supported all GP practices in England with the 
rapid implementation of a ‘total triage’ model using 
telephone and online consultation tools. It involves 
a clinician contacting the patient and assessing 
whether the patient's medical problem can be 
managed without the patient having to come into 
the practice for a face to face appointment. 
 
Voluntary Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) 
sector: Not-for-profit organisations set up to offer 

services to specific groups in society. These can be 
run by paid professionals as well as volunteers and 
may be eligible to provide commissioned services 
through the CCG. 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy 2020-22 
Engagement Feedback  

 
1. Purpose 

 
The purpose of this report is to summarise feedback received to date from the 

latest round of engagement on the Primary Care Commissioning and 
Investment Strategy 2020-22. 
 
We wanted to talk to and hear from people about their views and thoughts on our 
revised draft of the strategy which takes into account COVID-19 engagement 
findings. 

 
This report covers what we did, what we heard and what we plan to do as a 
result of feedback received from our stakeholders. 
 

2. Why is engagement important? 
 
Hearing, understanding and reflecting on the views of the people who provide 
and use our services, the partners we work with, and the communities we serve 
is vital to ensure we develop an effective commissioning and investment plan for 
primary care. 

 

3. What we did? 
 
We produced a draft strategy document incorporating feedback from previous 
engagement both pre and during COVID-19; with an accompanying video 
presentation.  
 
We also developed a short survey which included the following questions: 
 

 Do you agree with our vision outlined in the strategy?  

 Are our priorities right?  

 Are there any other areas that need to be included in the strategy? 
 

The draft strategy, video presentation and survey were publicised via 
Headlines and the CCG website. The CCG engagement team emailed key 
stakeholders and promoted the strategy survey at all Patient Reference Group 
meetings throughout November 2020. 
 
The link to the survey was closed on 26 November 2020. 
 

4. Survey response rate 
 

In total, there were only 26 responses to the survey; which was disappointing 
given that previous practice survey had 152 responses. 
 

Page 227



2 
 

On reflection, engaging in during the second national lockdown due to 
escalating COVID-19 situation was far from ideal.  

 
 A breakdown of who we heard from is shown in the chart below. 

 

 
  

Additional feedback, received outside of survey via the CCG engagement 
team, was also taken into account. 

 

5. Key findings  
 

5.1 Our vision 
 

77% agreed with our vision outlined in the draft strategy 
 

Of those who did not or where unable to say, provided the flowing comments:  
 

 It isn't really a vision, just a re-statement of the Five Year Forward View.  

 The strategy is described as a primary care strategy but focusses very 
heavily on general practice. There is little mention of community 
pharmacy, dentistry and optometry all of which should form part of an 
integrated primary care. 

 There is little to say what the CCG intends to do to reflect specific local 
circumstances.  

 There is insufficient focus on how the CCG intends to stimulate local 
innovation and quality improvement particularly within GP practices 
(beyond digitalization), 

 We must have only one vision, so all the parties involved in Health in 
County Durham are aspiring to achieve a common vision. The strategy 
currently includes - one for General Practice, and also one from integrated 
care. Surely, a vision for all key players is more likely to lead to a holistic 
approach and outcome.  

Patient 
50% 

GP 
15% 

PM 
4% 

PN 
4% 

Rep of 
organisation 

providing local 
services 

19% 

Other 
8% 

Breakdown of type of respondent to survey 

Page 228



3 
 

5.2 Our priorities 
 

77% of respondents agreed with our priorities. 
 
Supporting self-care: 

 Extensive patient education initiatives are required to advise home 
patients what services are available to them. 

 We need to recognise the significant role the VCSE plays in promoting 
physical and mental wellbeing and in combatting social isolation. 

 We need to be clear how the VCSE will be included. 

 Better joined up working between primary care and voluntary 
organisations is needed. 

 Don’t reinvent the wheel with social prescribing and other new roles; one 
or two workers across a PCN can't hope to meet all the demand with 
underlying social issues - reception/admin and other clinical staff still need 
the ability to access other organisations quickly and directly if you want to 
reduce use of clinical time for social matters.  

 Broadening the team, will need to happen before self-care and be taken 
forward. Timescales for roll-out are needed. 

 In an era of increased self-care, how can patients take this on board, if 
they don't know what the practices will offer going forward? Could the LIS 
be used to encourage the practice teams to promote the new patient 
options? 
 

Improving access, through technology: 

 Technology will not replace human contact. 

 The drive to digital risks widening health inequalities and more needs to be 
done to prevent this.  

 The inability to cap e-consults will break General Practice within 2 years 
unless it is stopped. 

 Concerns that digital access will lead to higher antibiotic prescribing rates. 
People are presently very early with mild UTIs etc. and expect antibiotics. 
This is challenging over the phone and we are already seeing signs of 
antibiotic use rise. 

 
Broadening the Team: 

 Support for strategic planning for the nursing teams including time being 
allocated for training and development including but not limited to 
leadership and effective clinical supervision. 

 For the vision to materialise it would be necessary to complete a skills 
audit of the existing health and care professionals and identify the skill 
shortages and initiate a specific training / recruitment programme using 
scholarships, bursaries etc. to attract professionals to County Durham 
ahead of the rest of the country. 
 

Joined up care, closer to home: 

 The engagement of mental health services is a high priority; mental health 
provision is not satisfactory at present. 

 Equal emphasis on mental health as there is on physical health is needed. 

Page 229



4 
 

 Moving as many services as possible out of secondary care into primary 
care is deemed vital. 

 
 Federations and Confederations: 

 Federations are entities in their own right, working on behalf of their 
membership to support them in ways that have been locally determined, 
as well as supporting the delivery of commissioned services when this is 
locally agreed, and acting as agents for PCNs when requested by core 
members. It is up to each individual federation to determine its priorities 
and how it wishes to work. There was surprised to see a CCG 
commissioning strategy specify that there is a need (which implies 
requirement) for federations to adopt a confederated approach – 
especially when merger is explicitly referenced. 

 Anxious for established relationships with TEWV to be maintained as the 
new framework is rolled out and direct liaison with practices currently 
offered is maintained. 

 
5.3   Other areas that need to be included in our Strategy 
 

Emerging themes from feedback are as follows. 
 
Prevention and education: 

 More investment in services which prevent illnesses and promote health 
required e.g. expansion of stop smoking services. 

 More emphasis, information and initiatives on ‘prevention’; need to 
reference Health Education/Services available in County Durham to help 
reduce the amount of after- care being employed. 

 Coordinated prevention required. 
 
Practice mergers and branch closures:  

 Concerns about mergers/branch closures, which is at odds with supporting 
local communities. 

 Can we evidence the mergers have increased resilience? Goal should be 
to achieve a stable quality general practice than explicitly referring to 
mergers and branch closures as the sole means to achieve this. 

 The strategy would be better to make a most positive and inclusive 
statement about how it intends to support its practices and local 
communities irrespective of size. 

 
Health inequalities: 

 The strategy makes little mention of addressing health inequalities and 
should better describe how it intends to target resources at areas of 
greatest need. Although some of this is covered in self-care it would 
benefit from a greater emphasis on improving wellbeing and fitness though 
preventative interventions to have greater impact.  

 The CCG should commit to agreeing a further strategy and plan that 
details the local health challenges and the interventions it will take to 
address them through the Better Care Fund. Rather than describing the 

Page 230



5 
 

numbers of roles created we should describe the outcomes we intend to 
achieve.  

 It is important we mention in reference to health and wellbeing, that 
primary care in partnership can and will take action to address health 
inequalities. 

 Investing in proactive contact with targeted patient profile groups, e.g. 
‘Frequent Flyer’ and ‘Friday Afternoon’ patients (i.e. those likely to have 
complex needs and/or chaotic lives that drive excessive or inappropriate 
use of primary care), in conjunction with advice provision, would help 
tackle health inequalities or at least slow down increasing demand. 
 

Patient Focus: 

 Current focus is on the service providers and not the people who are using 
the service. The strategy needs to take into account the impact of change 
on patients. 

 Patient specific groups to be included:  elderly (incl. better links with social 
services); Learning Disability; Carers; Children and Young People. 

 Communication and engagement of the CCG patient population is a vital 

component of making this strategy work. 

Terminology: 

 It was suggested we talk about ‘people and communities’ rather than 
patients – as it was felt the strategy is more than patients. 

 The plan is too complicated for some people to understand. 
 

Estates: 

 It was proposed that we need to invest in buildings for General Practice if 
we are to take on more work in General Practice and expand our PCN 
workforce and take on more trainees. 

 
Delivery plan: 

 Can this be made available – it would be helpful to see times scales for 
rollout. 

  

6. How we have used this information? 
 
Where possible, we have made amendments to our strategy in light of the 
feedback received. However, we know some areas will need further 
consideration with partners. We propose that our strategy becomes a ‘living 
document’ so we can make further updates throughout the lifespan of the 
strategy.  
 

 From engagement feedback we recognise the need develop a new single 
shared vision – so all parties involved in health and wellbeing in County 
Durham are aspiring to achieve a common vision. This will be taken 
forward in 2021. 

 

 We acknowledge that the scope of our Primary Care Commissioning and 
Investment predominately focuses on general practice. We will need to 

Page 231



6 
 

address this in the future – further work will be required to capture the 
vision and ambitions for community pharmacy, oral health and eye health.  

 

 We need to emphasise that focus is not solely on financial investment; 
ensuring a balance with quality is vital. Quality underpins everything that 
we do. We will continue to with our approach to quality improvement and 
reducing unwarranted variation, monitoring and assurance. We will 
continue to provide a detailed quality report to the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 

 We need to consider how innovation is broader that the introduction of 
digital technology. Innovation will also play a part in how new roles in the 
primary care team will work in practice - we have already seen how Social 
Prescribing Link Workers adapted to support people during the COVID-19 
lockdown. Innovation will be key to the development of new delivery 
models, bring services closer to people; although we recognise the detail 
stills need to be worked through. 

 

 In regard to comments received around specific local circumstances – we 
will support Primary Care Networks to take forward their priorities for the 
communities they serve.  

 

 Whilst elements of prevention have been covered in our draft strategy e.g. 
cardiovascular disease (CVD) early diagnosis and prevention via the 
Network Direct Enhanced Service contact service requirement; we will 
consider how our strategy helps to embed public health prevention 
strategies and early intervention. As a future development, we will work 
Public Health colleagues to consider how we can upscale prevention using 
data to target evidence based interventions, especially those linked to the 
key risk factors of health referred to in the Long Term Plan. We will also 
consider how our local incentive scheme can contribute to the prevention 
agenda, e.g. supporting uptake to the diabetes prevention programme.  

 

 We recognise the importance on patient education to support self-
management. We will consider how we can support patient education to 
self-manage their health, living healthier lives for longer. This has always 
been an aspiration of GP practice to develop patient expert groups for long 
term conditions (LTCs) and mental wellbeing – which may be more 
achievable with the use of remote technology. 
 

 We recognise the contribution the Voluntary Community and Social 
Enterprise (VCSE) organisation can make and have already agreed £100k 
investment from the Better Care Funding, over a three year period. We 
plan to hold a development session early in 2021, to understand how 
Primary Care Networks can work more closely with social services and 
VCSE organisations; also the contribution VCSE organisations can make 
to support the wider determinants of health and help us decide where best 
to target investment.  
 
 

Page 232



7 
 

 We have taken on board the feedback call for improved access to mental 
health services. We will continue to work in partnership with Primary Care 
Networks, the mental health trust and other organisations to implement the 
new integrated model of primary and community mental health care (in line 
with national framework for community mental health services), which will 
support adults and older people who have severe mental illness; 
increasing choice and control over care and support them to live well 
within communities. We recognise parity of esteem i.e. 'valuing mental 
health equally with physical health', which would result in those with 
mental health problems benefitting from equal access to the most effective 
and safest care and treatment and equal efforts to improve the quality of 
care. 

 

 Regarding the comments about specific groups – frailty, acutely unwell 
children and learning disability are included with the Local Incentive 
Scheme. 

 

 We will work towards better integration with secondary care; moving away 
from the previous commissioner - provider relationship, which resulted 
from previous NHS reform and driven by payment by results tariffs. We will 
work together, supporting the health needs of local people whilst balancing 
the books across the system.  In support of this, a Joint Chief Officer has 
been post has been appointed in 2020 between the County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and primary care.  

 

 We will strengthen the public/patient voice in service delivery and service 
transformation; to help us maintain a person-centred focus. We will 
encourage Primary Care Networks to establish closer links with public and 
patients so that they shape and inform service provision and service 
development. We will build engagement into the local incentive scheme.  

 

 We have included a section in the strategy around health inequalities and 
prevention.  

 

 The CCG Director of Strategy and Delivery for Primary Care has provided  
individual feedback to concerns expressed around Federations and 
Confederations – reinforcing that the CCG will support GP Federations to 
decide for themselves how they have a provider voice at the County 
Durham 'place' and the Integrated Care System level. 

 

 We recognise more work is needed to firm-up outcomes and measures of 
success - this work will link with the development of the County Durham 
Outcomes Framework. 

 

 We need to share the detail of how our strategy will be implemented. We 
intend to produce a delivery plan, with key milestones and timescales 
alongside our strategy.  

 

Page 233



8 
 

 We recognise the format of document may meet everyone’s needs. Once 
our strategy is finalised, we will produce a summary plan on a page.  

 

7. Concluding remarks 
 
Despite a low return rate to our latest survey, we feel that feedback has been 
very insightful; and would like to thank everyone who contributed.  
 
We recognise the need for ongoing engagement, as we move forward in 
implementing our strategy. 
 
 

Page 234



Primary Care 
Commissioning & Investment Strategy 
2020-2022

Joseph Chandy
Director of Strategy and  Delivery – Primary Care 
January 2021

P
age 235



Our Vision

Our ambitions are to:
• Support the continued sustainability of primary care
• Deliver more personalised, proactive and co-ordinated care to improve 

health outcomes for our patients
• Increase the scale and integration of out of hospital services, based 

around communities through the ongoing development of Primary Care 
Networks (PCNs)

For General Practice
Investing in our General Practice

For Integrated Care
To bring together health, social care and voluntary sector organisations to improve the 

health and wellbeing for the people of County Durham

P
age 236



Key Achievements  
from the last Primary Care Strategy

• People can access general practice any day of the week - extended access 
services offered 64,674 appointments above core practice hours in 2019/20

• All practices offered online consultations - ahead of the national target
• Over 600 practice staff  have been trained in care navigation

Improving 
Access

• Establishment of Teams around Patients (TAPs) which brings together nurses, 
therapists, social workers and other specialist services – there are 13 teams 
covering the whole of County Durham

• This approach puts people and patients at the centre of care services with multi-
disciplinary teams being ‘wrapped around’ groups of general practices

Integrated 
Community 
Care Model

• Over 40 GPs have accessed the GP Career Start scheme
• 49 registered nurses have completed the Career Start Practice Nurse 

programme - 86% of these nurses remain employed in the area
• A Clinical Pharmacist Network has been developed across County Durham

Workforce

• Through the local incentive scheme (LIS) the CCG has investment an additional 
£6.3m into primary care in 2019/20

• The budgeted investment for the LIS is £7.6m in 2020/21
Investment

P
age 237



Strategic Themes

• Building on integrated partnership arrangements in County Durham; with 
the CCG primary care team working with acute hospital, community and 
local authority partners through a joint work plan, so that primary care is 
more involved in the ‘placed based’ business 

Working together 
better

• Continuing sustainability of primary care by building on the current 
investment to support the out of hospital agenda and encourage closer 
working with secondary care 

Making  primary care 
sustainable to 

manage current and 
future demand

• Supporting at scale working with Primary Care Networks and Federations 
and ensuring they have a provider voice at 'place' and the Integrated Care 
Partnership/System level 

Right scale working

• Developing Primary Care Networks as the collaborative model for local 
integration of health and care and greater use of additional roles to broaden 
the workforce

New model of 
primary care

P
age 238



Our Priorities

• Self-care - We will support people to self-manage their health through a 
range of approaches including access to non-clinical support to help build 
knowledge, skills and confidence

Improving 
Access

• Digital - Through greater use of technology, we will  enable people to 
have more flexibility in how they access primary care services and 
support patient care

Integrated 
Communit

y Care 
Model

• Broadening the team - We will widen the range of health and care 
professionals working in primary care to meet the health and care needs 
of the population

Workforce

• Care, closer to home - We will support the ongoing development of 
Primary Care Networks, to deliver more joined-up care closer to home; 
with General Practice co-ordinating patient care between all agencies in 
the pathway

Investmen
tP

age 239



How do we intent to deliver our priorities

Supporting self-care

Ongoing development 
of care navigation 

(active sign-posting)

Increase referrals to 
Social Prescribing 

Services

Introduce new roles 
such as health and 

wellbeing coaches & 
care coordinators

Strengthen  
relationships with 

VCSE to  support  our 
communities

Improving access 
through technology

Promote a Triage 
First model

Embed online & video 
consultations

Use technology to 
enable remote 

monitoring 

Training offer to 
primary care staff, 

care homes & support 
for patients

Broadening 
the team

Develop a primary 
care workforce plan

Induce new roles  
through the additional 
roles reimbursement 

scheme

More doctors in 
general practice, 

through recruitment & 
retention

Develop the extended 
primary care team 

through education & 
training

Joined up care, 
closer to home

Deliver new service 
requirements incl. 

enhanced health in 
care homes and early 

cancer diagnosis

Implement a new  
integrated model of 
mental health care 

Work with partners to 
develop alternative 
pathways to deliver 
care closer to home 

P
age 240



Local Incentive Scheme (LIS)

• Local Incentive Scheme (LIS) will be used as a vehicle to 
bring together all elements of the Primary Care Strategy 

• The scheme seeks to reduce inequality, reduce any 
opportunity for a post code delivery of services and 
encourage prevention, integration and the future 
development of Primary Care Networks as the building 
blocks of ‘place based’ services across County Durham 

• From April 2021, it is intended the LIS will become a three 
year scheme

P
age 241



Investment

In 2020/21 the annual budget for primary care in County Durham is 
approximately £100M. Funding into PCNs is projected to increase.

P
age 242



Measuring Success

• Baseline measurements will be undertaken on the agreed 
‘Triple Aim’ indicators and improvements will be included in 
the annual primary care report

• The workforce plan will set out a baseline and trajectory for 
workforce expansion

• The Primary Care Network Direct Enhanced Service (DES) 
provides a suite of indicators that will allow us to measure 
improvements for aging well, integration and workforce 
expansion

P
age 243



Engagement Timeline
Engagement Activity Date

PCPE /PRGs – Early input sought Nov 2019

Practice Survey Nov 2019

PCN Clinical Directors/member practices Nov 2019 – ongoing

ON HOLD DUE TO GP CONTRACT CHANGE THEN COVID

Practice survey during COVID May 2020

Patient/public survey re access to online consultations in General Practice Jun/Jul 2020

GP Practice Focus Group Sept 2020/Nov 2020

PRGs Oct /Nov 2020

AHWOSC Task & Finish Group - Review of GP Services in County Durham Oct 2020

PCPE - Update Oct 2020

Quality Committee Nov 2020 & Jan 2021

Safeguarding Leads Nov 2020

Wider stakeholder survey re draft strategy; online video presentation; information
published on CCG website

Nov 2020

GB Development session Nov 2020

HealthWatch Feb 2021

AWHOSC/HWB Feb/Mar 2021

P
age 244



Adults, Well-being and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

5 February 2021 

Quarter Two, 2020/21  
Performance Management Report  

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Paul Darby, Interim Corporate Director of Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework. 

The impact of COVID-19 

2 A highly infectious coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 which can cause the 
respiratory disease COVID-19 has spread rapidly across the world 
during 2020. This resulted in a global pandemic being declared by the 
World Health Organisation on 11 March 2020. 

3 Significant restrictions to normal ways of life, travel and business have 
been put in place by the government to try to contain the spread of the 
virus, minimise deaths and prevent COVID-19 cases overwhelming our 
health and social care systems.  

4 Durham County Council has a public health role and is at the forefront of 
responding to the pandemic within the county. Restrictions that have 
been introduced to contain the spread of the virus have also affected a 
number of council services. Some buildings had to be closed and a 
number of services have moved online. It was necessary for the council 
to adapt and we have significantly changed our service provision and 
ways of working. Communities and businesses within the county have 
been impacted by the pandemic and much of our work since March has 
been to respond to these needs and develop plans for future recovery. 
Gold command arrangements were activated nationwide to respond to 
the emergency. Locally, this involved the council working in partnership 
with other agencies on the local resilience forum which covers both 
County Durham and Darlington to protect our communities and support 
those affected by the pandemic. 

Page 245

Agenda Item 10



5 The COVID-19 surveillance dashboard can be accessed here.  

Performance Reporting  

6 This performance report is structured around the three externally 
focused results-based ambitions of the County Durham Vision 2035 
alongside a fourth ‘excellent council’ theme contained within the Council 
Plan that was recently approved. It also includes an overview of the 
impact of COVID-19 on council services, our staff and residents. 

Long and Independent Lives  

7 COVID-19 is continuing to impact on all our daily lives, and it remains a 
challenging time for people of all ages in relation to their physical and 
mental health – particularly with increasing isolation and consequences 
of the worsening economic situation. 

8 However, the pandemic’s detrimental impact on mental well-being is 
causing concern, with more people (across all age groups) seeking 
support through primary and secondary mental health services and 
young people with a history of mental health issues reporting increased 
anxiety, isolation, a loss of coping mechanisms and a loss of motivation. 

9 Our focused activity across mental and physical well-being, smoking 
quitters (particularly pregnant women and new mothers) and 
breastfeeding is continuing to make a difference to the lives of our 
residents. A lower proportion of mothers are smoking at time of delivery 
and a greater percentage breastfeeding compared to the same period 
last year.  

10 Although referrals across adult social care have returned to their pre-
pandemic levels, and most of our older people care homes reported no 
or few issues with COVID-19 infection, PPE or staffing (as at end of 
September), there is a GP referral backlog of more than 47,000 urgent 
and non-urgent secondary care. In addition, we are now facing the 
significant challenge of a second wave. To help mitigate its impact, we 
are continuing to provide co-ordinated and targeted support to residents, 
staff and care providers operating in the county. 

Risk Management 

11 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects.  

12 There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this ambition.  

 

Page 246



Recommendation 

13 That Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considers the overall position and direction of travel in relation to quarter 
two performance, the impact of COVID-19 on performance, and the 
actions being taken to address areas of underperformance including the 
significant economic and well-being challenges because of the 
pandemic. 

Author 

Jenny Haworth      Tel:  03000 268071 

 

 

 

  

Page 247



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 
financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 
process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications 
of climate change in our reports and decision-making. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 
been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 
integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 248



 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Performance Management 
Report 

 

Quarter Two, 2020/21 
 

Appendix 2 

Page 249



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES 

(a) Are our services improving the health of our residents and (b) Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 
and independent lives? 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

15.7

14.7

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

19/20 20/21

County Durham Target
*Q1 data 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth 
 

Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery (SATOD) 
 

180.5
adults aged 65+ per 100k population admitted to 

residential or nursing care (Apr-Sep 2020)

82.5%
of patients discharged into reablement/ 

rehabilitation services still at home after 91 days 
(Jan-Jun 2020)

92.4%
of service users receiving an assessment or review 

within the last 12 months (Apr-Sep 2020)

94.4%
of individuals achieved their desired outcomes 

from the adult safeguarding process (Apr-Sep 2020)

A
d

u
lt 

S
o

ci
a

l C
a

re
 com

p
are

d
 to

 la
st ye

ar 

 
(384.5) 

 
(86.9%) 

 
(87.9%) 

 

 
(95.2%) 

29.2 29.6 28.4 28.6 28.3 28.5 28.4 25.9
31.4

Q1, 
20/21

Q1, 
19/20 

Q1, 
18/19 

North East – 36.0% National – 48.2% 

North East - 13.4%* National - 9.8%* 

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent) per 100,000 population 

 

12.6

15.0 14.8
15.7

12.6
12.0

12.8
13.4

20
10

-1
2

20
11

-1
3

20
12

-1
4

20
13

-1
5

20
14

-1
6

20
15

-1
7

20
16

-1
8

20
17

-1
9

North East – 11.6* England – 10.0* 

*2017-19 data 

P
age 250



Long and Independent Lives  

1 The ambition of Long and Independent Lives is linked to the following key 
questions: 

(a) Are our services improving the health of our residents? 
(b) Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives? 

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

2 Our specialist Stop Smoking Service has continued to successfully deliver 
remotely throughout the pandemic to support people to quit smoking. To 
improve support to those attempting to quit during this period, the service has 
recently launched a new ‘QuitGenius’ app. This provides personalised 
behavioural therapy, with rewarding interactive steps to help people quit, and 
is available as additional support for those accessing the service, as well as to 
people who chose not to engage.  

3 During quarter two, the service received more referrals with regard to pregnant 
smokers compared to quarter one. When compared to the same period last 
year, there has been a significant increase in those setting a quit date, as well 
as a substantial reduction in those dropping out of the service. To enhance the 
support to pregnant smokers, the service is currently recruiting another 
specialist practitioner who will have a dedicated focus around smoking in 
pregnancy.  

4 In response to the pandemic, the Infant Feeding Team now provides video 
support to increase accessibility for women and improve ongoing support. This 
is in addition to the increased use of social media and has resulted in 
improved continuation rates for breastfeeding. Whilst breastfeeding cafes 
remain temporarily closed, the service has worked to establish peer support 
groups to encourage and assist those breastfeeding. Significant learning has 
been gained from changes to the support activities and a multi-agency review 
is to be undertaken with the Local Maternity System, the 0-25 Service, and the 
One Point Service, to ensure that this feeds into future service provision. 

5 County Durham is now part of a Regional Real Time Data Surveillance 
system, which monitors the rates of suicide and trends across the North East. 
This also feeds into a national pilot to keep track of trends and rates during 
COVID-19. Rates of suspected suicide in County Durham have not escalated 
during the pandemic and there have been no Multi-Agency Assurance 
Reviews (MAAR) conducted since the start of lockdown in March 2020.   

Page 251



6 The Suicide Prevention Alliance has worked in partnership with Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and the national Samaritans’ media team 
to develop a suite of bespoke guidance on the safe use of social media and 
online communication. Collaborative work between the Suicide Prevention 
Alliance and the Time to Change Hub also aims to reduce the stigma and 
discrimination felt by people living with mental illness and to reduce suicide in 
high risk groups. This has resulted in a community fund, which has awarded 
21 small grants to grassroots projects during the summer.  

7 In September 2020, Public Health England published “Local Suicide 
Prevention Planning: A Practice Resource”. This document builds on previous 
guidance for developing a local suicide prevention action plan and provides 
updated evidence and ideas for action, including a suite of further information, 
case studies and information sheets. This is a useful resource for the local 
Suicide Prevention Alliance and partner organisations.   

8 Our Public Health Team has developed a booklet with the aim of promoting 
physical activity and healthy eating to families without internet access whilst 
remaining at home during the pandemic. The electronic version of the booklet 
was also sent to all AAP Co-ordinators and Holiday Activities with Food 
Groups, to support provision over the summer holiday. Included in the email 
was the option to request paper versions of the booklets and over 2,000 paper 
copies have been distributed to groups and organisations which requested 
them. 

9 A key area of work resulting from the Best Start in Life action plan is to 
improve the uptake of Healthy Start Vouchers by pregnant women, mothers 
and families. A partnership task and finish group was set up during the 
summer and an action plan developed, which has resulted in a 
communications plan and social media campaign. Alongside this, 20 Early 
Years managers attended bitesize training, with five more sessions planned. 

10 Public Health also utilised a number of national campaigns during the summer 
to support the mental and physical well-being of council staff. The ‘Better 
Health – Let’s Do This’ scheme provided a new 12-week NHS plan to help 
staff get active, eat better and lose weight through a range of tools including 
peer to peer support. National Fitness Day was also promoted in September to 
encourage staff to use the leisure centres across the county. Mental health 
and resilience courses have been developed to support staff specifically 
during the pandemic, whilst work was also undertaken to publicise World 
Mental Health Day on 10 October. 

Page 252



11 The council, its partners and communities have continued to work hard to 
respond to the COVID-19 pandemic locally and County Durham has played a 
key role in the regional response. 

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 
and independent lives? 

12 In quarter two, the number of referrals received for adult social care returned 
to their pre-pandemic levels, after dropping by 18.5% through quarter one 
when the national lockdown was in place. 

13 Whilst the demand in some areas of adult social care has reduced, frontline 
social care teams have continued to improve the timeliness of their response 
to clients, with the proportion of service users who have been assessed or 
reviewed in the previous 12 months improving to 92.4% at the end of quarter 
two, compared to 87.9% at the same point last year. 

14 Permanent admissions to residential and nursing care continue to be lower 
than in previous years. Admission rates for the period April to September 2020 
are less than half that for the same period last year. However, the number of 
people in receipt of home care has increased over the same period. The 
reduction in residential care admissions is similar to the increase in those 
receiving home care. 

15 94.4% of individuals achieved their desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process. Although this is a slight deterioration from 95.2% over 
the same period last year, it is very similar to the performance for quarter one 
(94.5%). 

16 With regard to the ‘proportion of older people who were still at home 91 days 
after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services’, 
performance for quarter one was 82.6% and for quarter two it is 82.5%. 
Although this is lower than the quarter two period last year (86.9%), it would 
only require a further 42 clients to match the performance for the same period 
last year. 

17 By the end of September 2020, our Operational Pressures Escalation Levels 
(OPEL) tracker showed an improved position from quarter one in that most of 
our older people care homes had no significant issues with either COVID-19 
infection, PPE or staffing, although we are now facing the significant challenge 
of a second wave of COVID-19.  

18 The second wave has led to a small number of providers starting to 
experience pressures during September. We continue to provide co-ordinated 

Page 253



and targeted support to care providers operating in the county. This remains a 
key priority of our integrated health and social care system, in conjunction with 
local Care Quality Commission (CQC) leads. 

 

 

Page 254



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland.  
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 255



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

34 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

15.7* 
Jul-Sep 

2020 

14.7 17.3 9.8 13.4 13.1 Apr-Jun 
2020 

Yes 
RED GREEN RED RED RED 

35 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  
[number of quitters] 

2,356 
[1,540] 

Apr-Dec 
2019 

Tracker  
2,656 

[1,642] 
1,220 1,696  

 Yes 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

36 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.2 2016-18 
Tracker 78.3 79.6 77.9 78.2 

 No 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN GREEN 

37 
Female life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

81.5 2016-18 
Tracker 81.4 83.2 81.7 81.9  

 
No 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER AMBER 

38 
Female healthy life expectancy at 
birth (years) 

58.4 2016-18 
Tracker 58.7 63.9 59.7 61.0 

 No 
N/a AMBER RED RED RED 

39 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59.3 2016-18 
Tracker 58.9 63.4 59.4 60.5 

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER AMBER 

40 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion 
of adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

63.3 2018/19 
Tracker 66.7 62.3 64.9 67.3 

 No 
N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN AMBER 

41 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide 
and injury of undetermined intent) 
per 100,000 population 

13.4 2017-19 
Tracker 12.8 10.0 11.6 12.3 

 Yes 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

42 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth (%) 

31.4 
Apr-Jun 

2020 

Tracker 28.3 48.2 36.0 34 Q3 
2019/20 

Yes 
N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

43 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

17.0 2019 
Tracker 15.0 13.9 15.3 15.2 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

P
age 256



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

44 
Self-reported well-being - people 
with a low happiness score 

9.5 2018/19 
Tracker 8.9 7.8 9.7 9.5 

 No 
N/a RED RED GREEN GREEN 

45 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

59.9 
Nov 2018- 
Nov 2019 

Tracker 58.5 62.6 59.3  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

46 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

28.0 
Nov 2018- 
Nov 2019 

Tracker 29.9 25.1 29  
 No 

N/a AMBER RED AMBER  
 *provisional data 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

47 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

180.5 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

TBD 384.5    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

48 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

82.5 
Jan-Jun 

2020 

TBD 86.9 82.4 83.0 80.7* 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a RED Not 
comparable 

Not 
comparable 

Not 
comparable 

49 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

94.4 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 95.2 92.4 93.9 93.5* 
2018/19 Yes 

N/a AMBER Not 
comparable 

Not 
comparable 

Not 
comparable 

P
age 257



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

50 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

92.4 
Apr-Sep 

2020 

Tracker 87.9    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

51 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

67.8 2018/19 
Tracker 66.6 64.3 66.2 66.0* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

52 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

51.2 2018/19 
Tracker 43.3** 38.6 47.2 41.8* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

53 
Daily delayed transfers of care beds, 
all, per 100,000 population age 18+ 

2.9 Feb 2020 
Tracker 1.5 11.0 7.0 11.0* 

 No 
N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

54 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

75.1 2018/19 
Tracker 74.9 67.5 71.8 69.3* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*unitary authorities 
** results from 2016/17 survey  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 258



Other additional Relevant Indicators 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

24 
% of free school meals (FSM) eligible 
pupils taking FSM 

75.8 Jan 2020 
Tracker 79.4 78.7 78.7  

 No 
N/a RED RED RED  

25 
Under-18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17  

26.4 2018 
Tracker 23.7 16.7 24.9 25.0 

 No 
N/a RED RED RED RED 

26 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

73.2 2019 
Tracker 74.2 76.6 76.7 71.7 

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED GREEN 

27 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000)^^ 

54.7 
2016/17-
2018/19 

Tracker 53.1 31.6 60.0 46.8 
 No 

N/a RED RED GREEN RED 

28 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted 
to hospital as a result of self-harm 
(rate per 100,000)^^ 

354.3 2018/19 
Tracker 350.1 444.0 536.5 589.9 

 No 
N/a AMBER GREEN GREEN GREEN 

^^next update due quarter four 
 

 

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

29 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

24.0 2018/19 
Tracker 25.0 22.6 24.3 25.0 

 No 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN GREEN 

P
age 259



LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

30 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese** 

37.7 2018/19 
Tracker 37.1 34.3 37.5 37.2  

No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER AMBER 

**not reporting for 2019/20 
 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

85 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment 

30.6 
Jan 2019-
Dec 2019* 

Tracker 30.1 37.8 31.2  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

86 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.6 
Jan 2019-
Dec 2019* 

Tracker 5.5 5.8 4.3  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

87 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

30.8 
Jan 2019-
Dec 2019* 

Tracker 27.9 34.8 25.8  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  
*with rep to June 2020  
**under review 

 

P
age 260



1 

 

Adult Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

5 February 2021 

Adult and Health Services – Quarter 2: 
Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2020/21 

 

Report of Corporate Directors  
 
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 
 
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director Adult and Health Services 
 
Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Committee with details of the quarter 2 forecast outturn 
budget position for the Adult and Health Services (AHS) service grouping, 
highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget for the year, 
based on the position to the end of September 2020. 

Executive Summary 

2 This report provides an overview of the quarter 2 forecast of outturn, 
based on the position to 30 September 2020. It provides an analysis of the 
budgets and forecast outturn for the service areas falling under the remit 
of this Overview and Scrutiny Committee and complements the reports 
considered and agreed by Cabinet on a quarterly basis. 

3 The forecasts indicate that AHS will have a cash limit underspend of 
£3.198 million at the year-end against a revised revenue budget of 
£128.188 million, which represents a 2.5% underspend. 

4 In arriving at the cash limit position, Covid-19 related expenditure of 
£21.960 million, offset by Covid-19 related savings of £5.123 million within 
AHS have been excluded from the forecasts. Covid-19 related costs are 
being treated corporately and offset by Government funding so far as is 
possible, though forecast net costs currently exceed the grant that has 
been made available. 

Page 261

Agenda Item 11



2 

5 Based on the forecasts, the Cash Limit balance for AHS as at 31 March 
2021 will be £9.592 million. 

6 Details of the reasons for under and overspending against relevant budget 
heads is disclosed in the report. 

7 The AHS capital budget for 2020/21 is nil and no capital expenditure is 
forecast to be incurred in the current year. 

Recommendation 

8 It is recommended that the Adults Wellbeing and Health Committee note 
the financial forecast included in this report. 

 

Page 262



3 

Background 

9 County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21 at 
its meeting on 22 February 2020. These budgets have subsequently been 
revised to take account of transfers to and from reserves, grant 
additions/reductions, budget transfers between service groupings and 
budget reprofiling between years.  This report covers the financial position 
for: 

 
(a) AHS Revenue Budget - £128.188 million (original £129.627 million) 
(b) AHS Capital Programme – £Nil 

 
10 The original AHS revenue budget has been revised to incorporate a 

number of budget adjustments as summarised in the table below: 
 

Reason for Adjustment £’000 

Original Budget 129,627 

Transfer to Contingencies – NI adjustment (20) 
Transfer from Contingencies – Transforming Care 366 

Transfer from Contingencies – Pay Inflation 786 
Use of Corporate MTFP reserve 364 

Use of (+)/contribution to cash limit reserve (-) 93 

Use of (+)/contribution to AHS reserves (-) (3,028) 

Revised Budget 128,188 
 

11 The use of / (contribution) to AHS reserves consists of: 
 

Reserve £’000 

Contribution to AHS - Social Care Reserve (2,584) 
Contribution to Public Health Reserve (444) 

Total (3,028) 
 
12 The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 

financial year 2020/21 and show: - 

 The approved annual budget; 

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s 
financial management system; 

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn; 

 For the AHS revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the 
cash limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from 
the strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and 
use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

 
 
 

Page 263



4 

Revenue Outturn 
 

13 The updated forecasts show that the AHS service is now reporting a cash 
limit underspend of £3.198 million against a revised budget of £128.188 
million which represents a 2.5% underspend. This compares with the 
previous forecast at quarter one of a £1.785 million cash limit 
underspend. 
 

14 The tables below show the revised annual budget, actual expenditure to 
30 September 2020 and the updated forecast of outturn to the year end, 
including the variance forecast at year end. The first table is analysed by 
Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense) and the second is by Head of 
Service. 
 

Subjective Analysis (Type of Expenditure) 
 

  
 Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

 YTD 
Actual  

 Forecast 
Outturn  

COVID 
19 Costs  

COVID 
Under 

spends 

 Cash 
Limit 

Variance 
QTR2  

Memo- 
Forecast 
Position 
at QTR1 

 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Employees 37,129  17,403 37,066 (230) 0 (293) 37 

Premises 1,201  1,247 3,279 (2,025) 0 53 53 

Transport 2,293  473  1,909 0 383 (1) 8 

Supplies & Services 4,508  2,010 4,675 0 30 197 26 

Third Party Payments 289,903  124,920 305,439 (19,705) 4,460 291 1,601 

Transfer Payments 11,278  4,852 10,547 0 0 (731) (47) 

Central Support & Capital 29,713  19,885 30,293 0 0 580 (65) 

Income (247,837) (89,945) (251,381) 0 250 (3,294)  (3,398)  

Total 128,188  80,845  141,827  (21,960) 5,123 (3,198) (1,785) 

 
Analysis by Head of Service Area 

  
 Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

 YTD 
Actual  

 Forecast 
Outturn  

COVID 19 
Costs  

COVID 
Under 

spends  

 Cash 
Limit 

Variance 
QTR2  

Memo- 
Forecast 
Position 
at QTR1 

 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Central/Other  11,057  (28,517) 10,117 0 6 (934) (1,255) 

Commissioning 5,030  9,033 5,141 (300) 43 (146) (17) 

Head of Adults 111,019  96,145  125,347 (21,520) 5,074 (2,118) (513) 

Public Health  1,082  4,184 1,222 (140) 0 0  0  

Total 128,188  80,845 141,827 (21,960) 5,123 (3,198) (1,785) 

 

Page 264



5 

15 The table below provides a brief commentary of the forecast cash limit 
variances against the revised budget, analysed by Head of Service. The 
table identifies variances in the core budget only and excludes items 
outside of the cash limit (e.g. central repairs and maintenance) and 
technical accounting adjustments (e.g. central admin recharges and 
capital charges). This year the cash limit outturn also takes into account 
adjustments for Covid-19 related overspends and underspending, which 
are being treated corporately:  

 

 Service Area Description 

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000 

Head of Adults 

Ops Manager LD 
/MH / Substance 
Misuse 

£114,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 
£57,000 over budget in respect of premises/transport/supplies and 
services. 
£142,000 net over budget on direct care related activity. 

85 

Safeguarding 
Adults and Practice 
Development 

No material variances  0 

Ops Manager 
OP/PDSI Services 

£1.976 million net under budget on direct care-related activity. (1,976) 

Ops Manager 
Provider Services 

£217,000 under budget mainly on employees due to effective 
management of vacancies. 

(217) 

Operational 
Support 

£10,000 under budget on employees due to effective management of 
vacancies. 

(10) 

    (2,118) 

Central/Other 

Central/ Other  

 
£0.934 million under budget to support future operational activity. 
 
 

(934) 

    (934) 

Commissioning  

Commissioning  
£146,000 under budget in respect of effective management of 
vacancies and contract management. 

(146) 

    (146) 

Public Health    

General Prevention 
Activities 

Under-budget on activity-based spend relating to Health Protection 
Emergency Response (-£10,000). 

(10) 

Page 265



6 

 Service Area Description 

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000 

Healthy 
Communities 
Strategy and 
Assurance 

Anticipated under-budget on the annual fluoridation recharge from NWL 
(-£20,000) and Better Health at Work award contribution (-£3,000). 

(23) 

Living and Ageing 
Well 

Under-budget on Social Marketing (-£10,000), Cancer Awareness 
Project (-£65,000), Stop Smoking Service (-£33,000), Relax Kids 
contracts (-£5,000), Supervised Consumption    (-£5,000), Residential 
Detox (-£5,000), activity-based Health Checks contract (-£100,000) and 
various Drug & Alcohol service budgets (-£7,000). 

(230) 

Public Health Grant 
and Reserves 

Amount to balance the cash limit variance (+£353,000) made up 
principally of reductions in contracted activity. 

353 

Public Health 
Team  

Under budget on employee costs (-£19,000), staff training (-£10,000) 
and various supplies and services (-£18,000) and over recovery of 
income (-£5,000) 

(52) 

Starting Well and 
Social 
Determinants 

Under budget on next generation broadband (-£21,000), and 
commissioned services (-£17,000). 

(38) 

    - 

AHS Total   (3,198) 
  

16 The council has faced significant additional costs in relation to the Covid-
19 outbreak and significant loss of income. In many areas the costs and 
loss of income for the first quarter are known. The likely impact over the 
remainder of the year however is much more uncertain. All additional 
costs and loss of income, net of Covid-19 related underspending, is being 
treated corporately and is therefore excluded from the cash limit.  
 

17 The major areas of forecast additional cost and loss of income in respect 
of AHS are as follows:  
 
(a) Adult Social Care Provider Support – it is forecast that during 

2020/21 additional financial support of circa £19.255 million will 
have been paid to providers. This support includes a temporary 10% 
uplift in fees and targeted support being given to residential care 
homes where occupancy levels have dropped significantly (in 
excess of 10%); 

 
(b) Provision of Personal Protective Equipment of £2.025 million; and 
 
(c) Additional operational costs relating to Adult Services and Public 

Health of £0.680 million in responding to the pandemic. 
 

18 The major areas of forecast Covid-19 related savings in respect of AHS 
are as follows: 

Page 266



7 

 
(a) £0.413 million in respect of short-term spot hire of vehicles and car 

allowances etc; 
 

(b) Agency and contracted services are forecast to be £4.460 million 
below budget as a result of a reduction in contracted placements 
with adult care providers; 

 
(c) CCG contributions towards adult social care provider support is 

£0.250 million. 
 

19 In terms of the cash limit position, the service grouping is on track to 
maintain spending within its cash limit.  It should be noted that the forecast 
outturn position incorporates the MTFP savings built into the 2020/21 
budgets, which for AHS in total amounted to £5.044. 
 

20 Based on quarter 2 forecasts, the cash limit reserve for Adult and Health 
Services at 31 March 2021 is forecast to be circa £9.592 million 

 
 
Capital Programme 
 
21 There is no capital programme in 2020/21 for AHS at present and no 

expenditure forecast. 
 
Background Papers 
 
22 Cabinet Report 18 November 2020 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital 

Outturn Period 30 September 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact:   Andrew Gilmore – Finance Manager                                 Tel:  03000 263 497 

Page 267



8 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 
 
Legal Implications 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows 
the forecast spend against budgets agreed by the Council in February 2020 in 
relation to the 2020/21 financial year. 

Finance 

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 
analysis of the revenue and capital outturn position alongside details of balance 
sheet items such as earmarked reserves held by the service grouping to support 
its priorities. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. 

Procurement 

The outcome of procurement activity is factored into the financial projections 
included in the report. 

 

Page 268



Overview and Scrutiny Committee -

Adults Wellbeing & Health – 5 February 2021

AHS Revenue and Capital - Forecast Outturn 2020/21 
Quarter 2

Andrew Gilmore – Finance Manager

P
age 269



OVERVIEW

 2020/21 Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast Outturn and 
Variance Explanations

 2020/21 Quarter 2 Capital Position

 COVID19 Support to Care Providers

P
age 270



AHS 2020/21 Quarter 2 
Forecast Outturn

P
age 271



AHS Q2 2020/21 Forecast Outturn 

By Expenditure Type

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

YTD 
Actual 

Forecast 
Outturn 

COVID 19 
Costs 

COVID 
Under 

spends

Cash 
Limit 

Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employees 37,129 17,403 37,066 (230) 0 (293)

Premises 1,201 1,247 3,279 (2,025) 0 53

Transport 2,293 473 1,909 0 383 (1)

Supplies & Services 4,508 2,010 4,675 0 30 197

Third Party Payments 289,903 124,920 305,439 (19,705) 4,460 291

Transfer Payments 11,278 4,852 10,547 0 0 (731)

Central Support & Capital 29,713 19,885 30,293 0 0 580

Income (247,837) (89,945) (251,381) 0 250 (3,294) 

Total 128,188 80,845 141,827 (21,960) 5,123 (3,198)

P
age 272



AHS Q2 2020/21 Forecast Outturn 

By Service Area

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

YTD 
Actual 

Forecast 
Outturn 

COVID 19 
Costs 

COVID 
Under 

spends 

Cash 
Limit 

Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Central/Other 11,057 (28,517) 10,117 0 6 (934)

Commissioning 5,030 9,033 5,141 (300) 43 (146)

Head of Adults 111,019 96,145 125,347 (21,520) 5,074 (2,118)

Public Health 1,082 4,184 1,222 (140) 0 0 

Total 128,188 80,845 141,827 (21,960) 5,123 (3,198)

P
age 273



AHS Revenue Budget 2020/21

AHS budget position for 2020/21 is a projected under budget 
of £3.198 million, which equates to 2.5% of net budget

Key reasons for budget variances:

Adult Care (projected under budget of £2.118 million)

• Net under budget on employee-related costs of circa £341,000 
mainly through the careful management and control of 
vacancies.

• Net over budget on supplies and services, transport and other 
costs of circa £57,000.

• Net overall under budget on care activity of circa £1.834 million.

• Due to the impact of COVID there is considerable uncertainty 
around the current year’s financial position.

P
age 274



AHS Revenue Budget 2020/21

Key reasons for budget variances:

Central Costs /Other (projected under budget of £0.934 million)

• Mainly due to budgets still to be committed to support future 
operational activity.

Commissioning (projected under budget of £146,000)

• Under budget in respect of effective management of vacancies 
and contract management.

P
age 275



AHS Revenue Budget 2020/21

Public Health (projected to be on target)

• This budget is funded in the main by Public Health Grant for 
2020/21, and therefore shows nil net expenditure on the report.

• However £353,000 is forecast to be made available for future 
investment in Public Health projects from uncommitted budgets, 
savings from vacant posts and underspends against some 
contracts.

P
age 276



Support to Care Providers

Includes

• Advance Payment (recoverable)

• Sustainability Payments

• Stability Payments

• Additional Uplift

• Infection Control Fund

P
age 277



AHS – Q2 2020/21
CAPITAL

• No capital programme at present

P
age 278



ANY QUESTIONS?

P
age 279



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2020
	6 Integrated Care Systems Update - Report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 6 - Appendix 2 -integrating-care-next-steps-for-integrated-care-systems
	Agenda Item 6 - Appendix 3 - Cllr RobinsonAWHOSC Ltr - ICS Consultation
	Agenda Item 6 - Appendix 4 - NENC Response re development of ICS

	7 Local Outbreak Management Plan Update - Report of and presentation by the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 7 - Appendix 2 - Local OCP November 2020
	Agenda Item 7 - Appendix 3 - AWHOSC COVID 19 HPAB HWB Feb 21

	8 Overview and Scrutiny Review of Suicide Rates and Mental Health and Wellbeing in County Durham - Update report on progress against recommendations - Report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 2 - 50479 AHS_MHES_children_web_addresses_print_only_A4_PROOF1
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 3 - 50478 AHS_MHES_flyer_Adults_web_addresses_print_only_A5_PROOF3

	9 NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group - Development of a Primary Care Strategy for County Durham- Report and presentation by Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning and Delivery(Primary Care), NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 1 20210127 PC Comm  Investment Strategy v18
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 2 PC Comm Investment Strategy Engagement Report
	Agenda Item 9 - 202101 Primary Care Comm  Investment Strategy (2)

	10 Quarter 2 2020/21 Performance Management Report - Report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources
	11 Adult and Health Services - Quarter Two Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21   - Report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources
	Agenda Item 11 - Presentation to OSC  05-02-21 Q2 Forecast


